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HANES
OUR VISION

KREFEtANEEPINEESEREERE
To be an Asian originated world-class outdoor
communication enterprise

K MaveEwn

OUR MISSION

REPRGRENPINES TR + LARBUE B K
WA Bl
To provide optimal Out-Of-Home (OOH) communication

solutions with highest Return-On-Investment (ROI) and
effectiveness

BEHESITEER  RSTEEXERA

To promote professional excellence in outdoor advertising
media

BEMNGE - 23 BESHEK
To nurture our workforce into a harmonious, efficient and
effective team

BiTHgEE  BEELSEE

To be a community conscious enterprise

|
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OUR CORE VALUES

HE - HARHE - BEE

Integrity: Being honest and truthful towards people

B . BEERSHRE - TEHBK
Excellence: Continuous improvement and the pursuit of
excellence

CE . HHERNUCEZL - BRSSP HE
Benevolence: Taking social responsibilities and caring for the
community




LEEH

H i

CONTENTS

CORPORATE INFORMATION

EEEN Corporate Overview

NTIEEE Asiaray at A Glance

RS Aas Media Network

P $ e Our Philosophy

RELE Events of The Year

1RIE R ERE Awards and Recognition

HEEE Financial Highlights

EE5EN Director's Profile

=€ 31

CORPORATE REVIEW

FERE Chairman’s Statement

SRE RO Management Discussion and Analysis
TRER

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

TEEREE Corporate Governance Report
EEMEEFRE Corporate Social Responsibility Report

MIEER

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

EEERE
ERVE 2 IS
aHEERERR
aftRalER
aftEZmERR
aBfRERER
BRI R M 5T
hFMBRE
REEH

Report of the Directors

Independent Auditor’s Report

Consolidated Balance Sheet

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Five-year Financial Summary

Corporate Information

Asiaray Media Group Limited

0 o &~ N

14
16
17

21
2]

39
49

55
69
n
73
75
76
71
194
195

2015 Annual Report 1



o 30 M)
CORPORATE OVERVIEW oo

AbAiimaaian
‘ -}t. —
SN L--mm J@LH

4h \ ﬁ’

—e = £ = S “3e S =
= = — B == =L - 3
T, = p— —— - -



E’ﬁi%&@ﬁ%lﬁﬁﬁ’&ﬁ (BRI MAAIE : 1993)
R—HEALMNPIMER QR REEOENEES I EE
SRELE HMEATEERSESHHHEEN i
HEESMENHERE L - ?zﬁﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁ,ﬁfiﬁﬂﬁﬁa
REMEREREENFINEERRZ— - ERBEEADE
1 BB 35 R T R K SR IS B IR 45 ﬁﬁ?ﬁ%@ﬁéﬁﬁﬁéﬁﬁi
ANZ=[MEEL L AZANNEEEEFREFS
;;J,U\E’J)Eﬁl‘tﬁ BHE  BRFXCET=E @*i%ﬁ?

“IRIE IS EE D RISGRE R RS &R

ek 23R 1) REELEERANR; 2) EEETERRE RIS EEEN
HiS  MESRHERWAME ; 3) N2015F12831BHEE2015F 12831 1LF
Jg o

Asiaray Media Group Limited (HKSE Stock Code: 1993) is a
leading out-of-home media company with a strategic focus
on airport and metro line advertising. We were ranked first in
Greater China’s airport advertising market and second in metro
advertising market*. With an extensive nationwide network
of media resources covering 35 cities in Greater China, we
leverage the well-developed space management approach to
deliver integrated, creative out-of-home media solutions to
renowned and diverse advertiser customers and also enhance
ambience and enrich passengers’ journeys.

*Source: Frost & Sullivan Report and the latest market information

Note: This ranking: 1) Includes only privately-owned media companies; 2) In terms of revenue
and number of airports and metro lines with exclusive concession rights to mainstream media
resources; 3) As at 31 December 2015 or for the year ended 31 December 2015.
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ASIARAY AT A GLANCE

B EERSERBNED

The year we started our advertising business

1993

HPERPEMBESESHSNHEE

In Greater China’s Airport Advertising Market

HMERPELRIBEESTISNHES w

In Greater China’s Metro Advertising Market r—

NEXBRBERTHHE

Cities where we have operations

MAEHEREEERDE  2015FH 4
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Airports with exclusive concession rights

Metro Lines with exclusive concession rights
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Billboards and Building Solutions
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MEDIA NETWORK
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OUR PHILOSOPHY
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SPACE MANAGEMENT

We view ourselves as the managers of the space, which distinguishes us from the traditional
“Buy Wholesale, Sell Retail” approach.

Our well-developed space management approach enables us to create value for our
advertiser customers, media resources owners and passengers.

Media resource owner —enhance the overall ambience and optimize the commercial value

Advertiser customer — enhance the overall impact of the advertisement

Passenger — extend beyond the visual to stimulate sense of smell, touch, hearing and taste,
making up an exuberant journey

MAEHEREEERDE  2015FH 8
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EVENTS OF THE YEAR

252 S e 0 8 R e 85 — iR
AR E RIS TR 2
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Signed concession rights
agreement of the media
in Terminal 2
of Zhengzhou Xinzheng
International Airport.

HTHEHEE AR QA

(B& 15 L %8 : 1993) IF Tt 1E resources
EEBMAERSFBRARE
RET

Asiaray Media Group Limited
(Stock Code: 1993) was
successfully listed on the
Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

- : RS IL I HAS R R
T BRI T B A A B AL -

BRE HE — oE R FStE g
poN
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Obtained exclusive rights to
operate mainstream media HENVEARERE EERERKRK
resources in Beijing Metro Line PR35 122 T B ZE RSO A
No. 4 and Daxing Line. BAERSE SIE_TEX
fR—AR R

Underthe exclusive advertising
concession right agreement,
Asiaray’s operation in Wuxi
Metro Line No.2 commenced
operation.

Cooperated  with  Lagardere
Shanghai to establish the
retail business at the Kunming
Changshui International Airport,
bringing in 20 renowned
international luxury brands.

MAEREREEERDE  2015FH 12
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Renewed the advertising
agency service contract with
MTR Corporation for 4 existing
metro lines and newly secured
13 exhibition and display sites
of the East Rail Line.

Obtained exclusive concession
rights to operate mainstream
media resources in Terminal 4
of Xiamen Gaogi International
Airport.

BB I % B5E B
B ROBR T -

Obtained exclusive concession
rights to operate mainstream
media resources in Wenshan
Puzhehei Airport.

IR

RSEREAARIS TR
REERNBRIEFEE
1 o

Obtained exclusive concession
rights to operate mainstream
media resources in Ninglang
Luguhu Airport.

HIVMHEERHEE2EA
- BREZFRERE
EEEH -

Further cooperated with
LVMH Group and obtained
exclusive rights to operate

B (TEKB®/R) REEHES Wheelock House Billboard in
EAEZR Wiz © Central.

Signed a strategic cooperation
framework agreement with Asia
Pacific Daily.

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2015 Annual Report 13



BRIARRE
AWARDS & RECOGNITION

@ 52 QUALIFICATIONS

mE-RESRE (KEREBER) (LEHELEE)

First-class Advertising Agency of China (Media Service) (Shanghai Asiaray)
PETEEHEEREEENT (LRI E)

Standing Member of the Outdoor Advertising Committee of Shanghai Advertising Association
(Shanghai Asiaray)

btaemEREER (LeETe)

Famous trademark in Shanghai (Shanghai Asiaray)

GB/T9001-2008/1S09001:2008 R & E = ( /&I #E)
GB/T9001-2008/1S09001:2008 International Certificate of Registration (Shanghai Asiaray)

@ w45 GROUP RECOGNITIONS

2015F 5 \[EROIC IR B FE K IEHE

2015 The 8th ROI Festival - Best Media of the Year

0155 F LTRSS FEAERY - ERMBECER (LBHELH)

2015 Shanghai Advertising Association Advanced Recognition - Corporate Category - Contribution Award
(Shanghai Asiaray)

20155 EETEEHEFELRERY - EFAHHR

2015 Shanghai Advertising Association Advanced Recognition - Outstanding Campaign Award

20155 F H AR
2015 Shanghai Renowned Brand

014FFREETHEBEL M FEANE

2014 China Advertising Media Innovative Operation Annual Awards

2014 F B MR ES AR T8
2014 Top 10 China Urban Media Advertising Corporation

B KR dn g

Top Five Brands in China

PEMESEATWRERE

Shanghai Advertising Association Contribution Award

MEEEEEEBERAT 201568 14



1%

@ %5218 CAMPAIGN AWARDS

iz | EB8PERELEDEEBEES
NIKE | LED Animated Building Wrap, Hong Kong

SN E T B R WA - R EB B AR - R

The 6th China Classical Communication Tigers Roar Award - Clothing, Sports and Leisure Product Category - Silver

The Spark Awards for Media Excellent 2015 - Sx{EIEEEHEE - A2ER4E - £ 18

The Spark Awards for Media Excellent 2015 - Best Media Campaign - Experimental Category - Gold
FNESRE - KEQREFINAG - 42

The 8th ROI Festival - Out Of Home Category - Gold Award

FNETHEEEERREARE - AAmE - R

The 8th Jinding Creative Communication International Awards - Daily Commodity Category - Silver Award
BiE | ERPRERABELEDREES

Audi | LED Animated Building Wrap, Hong Kong

The Spark Awards for Media Excellence 2015 - S 8IFT R 48 - i 2%
The Spark Awards for Media Excellence 2015 - Most Innovative Technology Category - Bronze Award

BT EPEERESEHRBESEWE - PIME - i

The 22nd China Advertising Great-wall Awards - Out Of Home Category - Bronze Award
B4 DA BEERB AL - TARME- Rz

The 8th Jinding Creative Communication International Awards - Durable Commodity Category - Silver Award
BIEY | KEREBES

Fashion Walk | Building Wrap, Hong Kong

FPEME_T_EEASESERRITE - -BEEPINES - 5%

The 22nd Shanghai Excellent Advertising Festival - Commercial - Out Of Home Category - Second Prize
20153 R BB 22 - g EE P INE - BF

2015 Beijing International Innovation Award - Outdoor Commercial Category - Merit Prize

BERE | RYtEBaTRE

MTReTiara | Line 4, Shenzhen Metro

EETE T —_EEFESERRTE - AEXEPIINES - =558

The 22nd Shanghai Excellent Advertising Festival - Commercial Out Of Home Category - Third Prize
FE- T EPEBERESEHPEES R E - PIME - R

The 22nd China Advertising Great-wall Awards - Out Of Home Category - Bronze Award

B8 7N JE R B A SRR R TR K - R RS B AR A - R R

The 6th China Classical Communication Tigers Roar Award - Tourism Service and Real Estate - Bronze Award
REHE | ERRKERKES

Chrysler | Kunming Changshui International Airport

FNERRE - HEBARMAPINER - RE

The 8th ROI Festival - Out Of Home Category - Silver Award

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2015 Annual Report
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

REBA
COMBINED REVENUE

1,872.9 2,033.4

552.2 627.1

B A T A
0 Assoc

Associate companies’ revenue 1,320.7

SEE KA

Group’s consolidated revenue

1,406.3

BEET
2014 2015 HKD millions

AABEEABERE/ (BiE)
PROFIT/(LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE
T0 OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
142.6

2 oE——

(Had the Group not operate
the media resource at Ningbo metro line)
(REBEREER G SEERIHFLER)
(Included Ningbo
metro line operating loss)
(IR R i S ER18)

(39.6) EEBT
HKD millions
BREED TSI HIWA
REVENUE BREAKDOWN BY OPERATING SEGMENT

1,320.7 1,406.3
109.0 191.6
174.1 160.9
‘ #8433 Metro Lines 693.5 629.0
EEBRRRBRIZEES
Billboards and Building Solutions BEAT
.’ H b Others 2014 2015 HKD millions

HHEEREBERAR  20156H% 16
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DIRECTOR'S PROFILE

HITESE
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Lam Tak Hing, Vincent Lam, aged 55

Executive Director, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent (“"Mr. Lam") was appointed as the
Director on 20 May 2014 and designated as the executive
Director and Chairman on 12 June 2014 and serves as the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Mr. Lam is the founder
of the Group and is responsible for the overall strategic
planning and development of the Group. He is also a director
of certain members of the Group.

Mr. Lam graduated from the University of Sydney with a
Bachelor of Science Honours degree in March 1984 and
subsequently obtained a Master's degree in Commerce from
the University of New South Wales (“UNSW") in Australia in
April 1987. Mr. Lam is also member of Director of the UNSW
Hong Kong Foundation Board. He has been a fellow of the
CPA Australia since July 2014.

Yung Chung Man, aged 44

Executive Director and Chief Operations Officer

Mr. Yung Chung Man (“Mr. Yung"”) was appointed as the
Director on 20 May 2014 and designated as the executive
Director of the Company on 12 June 2014. Mr. Yung is the
Chief Operations Officer of the Company. He joined the
Company in July 2008 and is responsible for the Group's
overall sales management and operations in the PRC.

Mr. Yung worked for SILA Media Group (HK), a media
company, as the manager and media director in the eastern
region in China from 1995 to 1998. He then worked as the
manager, business director and general manager of MPI Group
(HK), an advertising and media company in its Chengdu,
Shanghai and Wuhan offices, from 1998 to 2003. He was the
chief executive officer of Key Media Group (HK), an associated
media company in the PRC from 2003 to 2007. Prior to joining
the Company, he acted as the chief operations officer of NCN
Media Services Ltd., an advertising media company in the PRC
in 2008.

Mr. Yung graduated from the York University in Canada with a
Bachelor of Arts degree in June 1994.

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2015 Annual Report 17
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So Chi Man, aged 46

Executive Director, Chief Financial Officer and

Company Secretary

Mr. So Chi Man ("Mr. So”) was appointed as the Director on 20
May 2014 and designated as the executive Director on 12 June
2014. Mr. So is the Chief Financial Officer and the Company
Secretary of the Company. He joined the Company in March
2011 and is responsible for financial management, treasury,
company secretarial and internal control matters of the Group.
He is also a director of certain members of the Group.

Mr. So worked for PricewaterhouseCoopers, an international
accounting firm, as a manager in the audit and business
advisory service in its Hong Kong office from 1992 to 2000. He
then worked for Hong Kong Economic Times, a local financial
newspaper in Hong Kong, as a financial controller from 2000 to
2004. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. So acted as the senior
vice president of BOE Optoelectronics Company Limited, a
state-owned company specialising in high-tech electronics
display products in the PRC, from 2004 to 2011.

Mr. So has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since January 1996 and was a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants from February 2002 to December 2005. Mr. So
has over 19 years of accounting and finance experience. Mr. So
graduated from Hong Kong Polytechnic (later retitled as the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University) with a Bachelor of Arts
degree in Accountancy in October 1992. He subsequently
obtained a Master of Business Administration degree from the
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in November
2003.

Lam Ka Po, aged 42

Executive Director and Chief Marketing Officer

Mr. Lam Ka Po (“Mr. K. P. Lam”) was appointed as the Director
on 20 May 2014 and designated as the executive Director of
the Company on 12 June 2014. Mr. K. P. Lam is also the Chief
Marketing Officer of the Company. He joined the Company in
December 2007 and is responsible for the overall operations in
Hong Kong and marketing management of the Group. He is
also a director of certain members of the Group.

Mr. K. P. Lam worked for Euro RSCG Partnership Ltd, an
advertising agency under the Association of Accredited
Advertising Agencies of Hong Kong (“HK4As"), as the senior
media planner from 1996 to 1998. He then worked as the
media supervisor and media manager of Motivator, a HK4As
advertising agency, from 1999 to 2002. He was the media
manager of Zenith, a HK4As advertising agency from 2003 to
2004. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. K. P. Lam acted as the
associate business director of OMD, a HK4As advertising
agency from 2004 to 2007.

Mr. K. P. Lam graduated from the Chinese University of Hong
Kong with a Bachelor of Business Administration degree in
Integrated BBA (Marketing concentration) in April 1996.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung, aged 74

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung (“Mr. A. Ma") was appointed as
the Director on 20 May 2014 and designated as the
independent non-executive Director of the Company on 12
June 2014.

Mr. A. Ma is a founder and former director of AMA CPA Limited
(formerly known as Andrew Ma DFK (CPA) Limited) in Hong
Kong. He is presently a director of Mayee Management
Limited. He has more than 30 years of experience in the fields
of accounting, auditing and finance.

Mr. A. Ma received his Bachelor's degree in Economics from
the London School of Economics and Political Science
(University of London) in England in 1966. He is a fellow
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, The Hong Kong Institute of Directors and The
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.

Mr. A. Ma is currently also an independent non-executive
director of Asia Financial Holdings Limited (stock code: 662), C.
P. Pokphand Co. Ltd. (stock code: 43), China Resources Power
Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 836) and Chong Hing
Bank Ltd. (stock code: 1111). He was an independent non-
executive director of Asian Citrus Holdings Limited (stock code:
73; London Stock Exchange AIM: ACHL) from August 2004 to
November 2013; Beijing Properties (Holdings) Limited (stock
code: 925) from September 2004 to December 2014; and
Tanrich Financial Holdings Limited (stock code: 812) from
January 2002 to September 2004 and reappointed from April
2005 to January 2015.

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2015 Annual Report 19



EEE%  DIRECTOR'S PROFILE

%aﬁisssw 64 5%

%%ﬁ%iU%%ﬁ%ibwmmisﬂm
HEZAAARARIES  WHKR2014F6[12
BETGAARRBBYIENITES -

EREEEATBRWEMITHBETEEM
THREHRAEBA  N1984 FHEFB LN 1987
FHEERE REBITER R AER - 741988
1RO B D 3 12 JE TR AT A 2R A R K2 AP &
1990 45 78 5 ANk HL AN B2 7] A 2 A0 KoK
7260 o 1 R 2000 F R EBFBETPRHELR
B KR 2006 FHREIE RS ETIERELE A -
o AEE+T—RT_EERARKRAK
ERENEN + R+ EEEERHES -
ABRBEAIOAEREERE  S5EL
ER2005 FEEEREBNZEAE SR
TFAFHERN 2007 FEBREFES - F
SIBE LR 2015 ST AB T IRBEE
E%Z#ﬁﬁ%%Dﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁE@Thﬁ

NEI (AR REE - 172) B IEMITES -

ﬁif@sss JP: 625%

B IFHTTES

PR EIBHIR ([FREIE ) A 201455 A20H &
BEANARIESE  WHR2014F6 5128
ERARNRBBLIEATES -

REFEENERIMNASERZTELK B
1979F 12 A BRI EERE 24 B
1977 F 11 AR 1993F 12 AR RIEREH X
RE([RFRDEERIBEEELBN LTS
BB - [REUR R 1986 F 7 B EHAF
AHHBE RN 2003 FHREETITHRAB LR
BIRRE LT HRE A o REIFH B 2001 F &
2009 FEH KBERREREHBE - RER
H2010F 12 AR EEELSLREERIEF
BHRZEETHFENLA201ME9 ARETEEE
FEHETIEZE TR - M 2007 FiEE
ARBEERERBHEEREZEQREM -
BRI B E R AN 20F KR - ARIGE
BEHE R E RS IR - FREIR R 2005 F 5
EBFRBFREAKF L M 2007 F#
BIREFEE -RUBRRABEERERA
7 (BRI H5R W@Wﬁi#ﬁﬁ§$°ﬁ“
R2014F 6 AE 201692 AR B AN EE &R
BRA TM%&Wism@ﬁEﬁjﬁﬂﬁ
o=

HEEEREEERAR  20155#% 20

Ma Ho Fai sBs JP, aged 64

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Ma Ho Fai (“Mr. Ma") was appointed as the Director on 20
May 2014 and designated as the independent non-executive
Director of the Company on 12 June 2014.

Mr. Ma is a senior partner of Woo, Kwan, Lee & Lo, a local law
firm in Hong Kong, and was admitted as a solicitor in Hong
Kong in 1984, and in England and Wales in 1987, as a solicitor
and barrister in Australian Capital Territory in 1988 and as a
solicitor and advocate in the Republic of Singapore in 1990. He
has also been a China-Appointed Attesting Officer in Hong
Kong since 2000 and a civil celebrant of marriages in Hong
Kong since 2006. In addition, he is a Deputy to the 11th and
12th National People’s Congress of China and a member of the
9th, 10th and 11th Yunnan Provincial Committee of the Chinese
People Political Consultative Conference. In recognition of his
distinguished public and community service, Mr. Ma was
appointed as a Non-Official Justice of the Peace in 2005 by the
Hong Kong SAR Government and was awarded the Silver
Bauhinia Star in 2007. Mr. Ma was also appointed as a Non-
Executive Director of the Independent Insurance Authority in
2015. He is currently an independent non-executive director of
Goldbond Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 172).

Chan Chi Fai Andrew, sBS JP, aged 62

Independent non-executive Director

Professor Chan Chi Fai Andrew (“Professor Andrew Chan”) was
appointed as the Director on 20 May 2014 and designated as
the independent non-executive Director of the Company on 12
June 2014.

Professor Andrew Chan graduated with a Master’s degree of
Business Administration from the University of California,
Berkeley, the U.S. in December 1979, a Bachelor degree of
Business Administration and a Doctorate degree of Philosophy
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong (“CUHK") in
November 1977 and December 1993 respectively. Professor
Andrew Chan has been teaching in the Department of
Marketing of the CUHK and has been the director of the EMBA
Program of the CUHK since July 1986 and 2003 respectively.
He was awarded the Vice-Chancellor's Exemplary Teaching
Award in the CUHK in 2001 and 2009. Professor Andrew Chan
has been the Chairman of the Process Review Committee of
the Hong Kong Monetary Authority since December 2010 and
the Chinese Medicine Council since September 2011. He has
also been an advisor to the Governing Council of the Quality
Tourism Services Association of Hong Kong from 2007.
Professor Andrew Chan has approximately 29 years of
experience in the education industry. In recognition of his
distinguished public and community service, he was appointed
as a Justice of Peace in 2005 by the Hong Kong SAR
Government and was awarded the Silver Bauhinia Star in 2007.
He is currently an independent non-executive director of Tao
Heung Holdings Limited (stock code: 573). He was an
independent non-executive director of Bamboos Health Care
Holdings Limited (stock code: 8216) from June 2014 to
February 2016.
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It is my pleasure to present to you the annual results of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 December 2015.

MARKET POSITIONING OF OOH MEDIA

Recent news may have drawn people’s attentions to the facts
that traditional mainstream media like TV and newspaper are
experiencing a notable downward trend, while mobile-net
media is growing fast. Being engaged in out-of-home media
("OOH") business for more than 20 years, | consider some of
my thoughts on the market positioning of OOH in the future
would be a good start of this year's statement.

Firstly, any reasonable sized advertising campaign will choose a
mix of different media making use of their individual
characteristics. So even in the “new normal” of internet
supremacy, we will not see a dominance of internet media. For
decades, such campaigns were conducted hand-in-hand
between TV and OOH or newspaper and OOH. Until recently,
we see more and more go between mobile-net platforms and
OOH. One could see that OOH is always a perfect partner to
other broad-reaching media as such mix provides audiences
with general awareness coupled with personal experience and
engagement where impressions could further be.

We also see the thriving of mobile-net platforms is a sure
benefit to the development of OOH due to the unique and
complementary nature of OOH. Our well-developed Space
Management capabilities would further differentiate us from
our peers in offering OOH solutions with top-class creativity
and versatility. Proud to present numerous pioneering
examples, including our first O&O advertising project in Hong
Kong for a worldwide fast food chain, which allows the
audiences to use their mobile phone to play and interact with a
mega LED billboard and the “Shake & Shake” advertisements
that applied iBeacon technology and made the advertisements
fully interactive. This further distinguishes our sophisticated
Space Management model to the traditional “buy wholesale,
sell retail” model.
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Secondly, to assess advertising effectiveness, we will look at
“Reach and Frequency”. By analysing reach and frequency
data, you can estimate how many people saw your ads and
how many times they saw them over a certain period of time.
The assumption is the higher the frequency, the better
impression you generate on the audience. As evidenced by the
numerous awards Asiaray has earned in recent years, in
particular winning the most sought after “Best Media of the
Year” ROl Award for 3 consecutive years, our Space
Management capabilities have demonstrated to be most useful
in impressing our target audience and hence generating higher
frequency. From this perspective, we can explain why TV and
newspaper media are on downward trend as people are
spending more time out of home and travelling; and also
getting use to read real-time information from mobile-net
platforms during their commuting. These changes of people’s
habits caused decrease in the “Reach and Frequency” of TV
and newspaper media. However, such phenomenon in fact
posed no threats to, or quite on the contrary augmenting the
development of OOH, as the same set of reasons caused an
increase in the "Reach and Frequency” of outdoor media in
particular those at airports, metro lines and premium business
and shopping areas. Therefore we see our advertising
opportunities will definitely increase.

A YEAR OF CHALLENGE

Asiaray experienced challenges in 2015 deeper than ever
before. During the year, to maintain the Group's strategy of
balancing growth and profitability, we have made necessary
adjustments on our media resources, including the early
termination of the concession rights contract for Ningbo Metro
Line No. 1. This is a tough decision as it was the first case ever
made by the Group after an in-depth review of its lower-than-
expected passenger flow as well as recently developed
unpromising competition landscape. Following the review, the
Company believed that the compensation payable by the
Group would be substantially lower than the loss to be incurred
by the Group in the operation of the media resources for the
remaining 9 years, though it partially led the Group to register
a loss attributable to the owners of the Company of HKD39.6
million in this year. Had this project not been in operation in
2015, we would have recognised a profit. Driven by this
strategy, the Group was able to nurture faster and healthier
growth in the future amidst the current unfavourable market
environment.
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Given all the known effects of economic slowdown which
affected our revenue from a few airports, incurred higher cost
to ramp up renewed Hangzhou airport project, and led new
metro line projects making us a loss, | would like to draw our
shareholders’ attention that our business in Shenzhen airport
has actually recorded an encouraging growth even it is still
operating in ramp-up period. We also managed to deliver a
sound performance in our metro lines business, especially from
the existing metro lines in Hong Kong and Shenzhen. Our new
metro line projects, including Wuxi and Beijing, also show a
faster ramp up pace.

Meanwhile, thanks to the diversified media resources portfolio,
the loss was mitigated by improved profits of our metro lines
advertising business in Hong Kong and Shenzhen, which
supported the Group’s overall performance in a downward
business cycle.

FORTHCOMING OPPORTUNITIES

Having noted there is a general budget cut in advertising
spending in banking and property development sectors, we are
pleased to see a decent increase in advertising spending in our
outdoor media from mobile-net platform operators, whilst most
of them are willing to spend heavily on advertising. As more
fully explained in my opening paragraphs, the increasing
“Reach” caused by the passenger flow of transport hub, and
the higher “frequency” created by our Space Management
model add tremendous value to the OOH media, its
complementary nature to mobile-net platforms will unveil vast
business opportunities to us in the future.
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Regarding our newly engaged or renewed advertising business,
we envisage good opportunities and prospects. Our new metro
lines in Beijing, which covers a number of strategic areas of the
city, including Zhongguancun — the “China’s Silicon Valley”,
has been making encouraging performance too. As a result, we
expect that its ramp-up period will be shorter and it will make
positive contributions to the Group soon. Our advertising
business at Hangzhou airport is expected to benefit from the
upcoming G20 Summit 2016, which will be held in Hangzhou in
September 2016. In view of the supremacy of the Summit, it
will enhance the image of Hangzhou and boost the passenger
flow of its airport. The commencement of full operation of the
Terminal 2 of Zhengzhou airport in the second quarter of 2016
will also be beneficial. With a total area of approximately
486,000 square meters, which is approximately 4 times larger
than the existing Terminal 1, the annual passenger flow of new
terminal building will surge to 30 million passengers by 2020,
nearly a double when compared with 2014. Furthermore, the
addition of the advertising business at Terminal 4 of Xiamen
Gaoqi International Airport to our business portfolio in January
2016 is also expected to contribute to our consolidated
revenue.

Thanks to the increasing needs of building owners, we also see
a thriving growth of mega LED lighting demand in Hong Kong.
In this regard the Company has built up with foresight strong
reserves in talents and technical know-how. We are ready to
further anchor our market leadership in this high-end segment.

OUTLOOK

The Board anticipates that the market will be challenging in
2016. While the market is tough, it is actually a golden
opportunity for the very fragmented China market to
consolidate. Nevertheless, with our experienced management
team, we will expand our media portfolio in a cautious manner,
and seek other business opportunities that provide synergy to
our media and client portfolios, with an aim of building a solid
foundation for the Group’s long-term development.
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To diversify our income source, the Group has adopted a new
business model through a cooperation with the travel retail and
distribution arm of Lagardére S.C.A., a global media group
listed on Euronext Paris. With this new model, the Group is
able to fully utilise the idle advertising resources. Riding on our
success with Lagardére, we are focusing on the info-advertising
mobile application ("APP”), which combined the merits of both
“online connectivity” and “offline touch”. The APP will be on
stream in 2016 in selected airports of Mainland China.

Through the smart use of our advertising resources and APP,
the Company is able to connect, by push or by touch, a large
number of valuable, high consumption power business and
leisure travelers going in and out from the airports. The use of
APP enables all-time communications of unlimited kinds of
products and services information. As one of the best venues,
airports provide excellent people streams with high buying
potential and our media will work to “push” our APP or direct
advertiser message to a busy traveler, and he or she could
“touch” on the details of the messages while waiting for a flight
or a taxi going home, which will become the future form of
value-advertising.

We have also started to put an increased emphasis on attracting
new customers from the high-tech, telecommunication and
mobile APP industries. The Group strongly believes that the
out-of-home advertising segment will play, hand-in-hand with
those major mobile-net players combining the virtual and real
flow of people. We believe the integration of internet will play
an important role in Mainland China’s OOH advertising market
in the future, and that we are able to capitalize on this trend
calling for the best mix and match of creativity and versatility.
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As to the building solutions business segment, we continue to
invest in mega LED lighting projects, which are characterized
by their overall project value and complexity as compared to
those small-scale installations of LED screen on the building
facade. In view of this, we have entered into partnership with a
company specializing in properties development projects all
over the globe with more weight in Mainland China and Hong
Kong. Through this partnership, the Company has been
working with certain large scale developers which have shown
their interests in adopting our innovative building solutions,
including creative applications of mega LED lighting at their
properties for both ambience enhancement and advertising
purposes. We are going to make better use of this partnership
for more business opportunities.

The Group is devoted to the business innovation that creates a
better return to our portfolio and provides innovative media
solutions for customers, so as to convey their messages in a
novel and inspiring way and create better impression to their
audience.

By the on-going efforts of our experienced management team,
coupled with our well-developed Space Management
capabilities, we are confident that we will be able to thrive in
the business through the ongoing consolidation of premium
media resources in airports and metros. More importantly, we
will embrace changes and light-up the power of innovation to
gear up our key competences, from people to technology, and
from products to business models that would transform
ourselves to an even stronger leader in the industry.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s consolidated revenue was HKD1,406.3 million,
representing an increase of 6.5% as compared with that of the
previous year. To give a better view of the total business scale
of the Group, we would also like to report on the Group's
combined revenue, which included the consolidated revenue
of the Group and the total revenue of all associated companies
of the Group engaged in media advertising business. For the
year ended 31 December 2015, the combined revenue of the
Group increased by 8.6% to HKD2,033.4 million.

Despite the reported growth in revenues, 2015 was a year full
of both challenges and opportunities for the Group. On one
hand, we experienced a significant set-back in financial
performance amidst the economic downturn in Mainland China
and Hong Kong where the Group's businesses are operating in.
On the other hand, we continued to explore new media
projects with good prospect for the long-term development of
the Group.

Begins from the top line, the increase in revenue was the net
effect of (i) the increase in revenue from the metro lines
segment by approximately 23.5%, primarily contributed by
improved sales performance of businesses in Hong Kong and
Shenzhen as well as additional revenue from new businesses in
Wuxi and Beijing; and (ii) the decrease in revenue contributed
from the airports segment by approximately 9.3%, mainly due
to the worsened economic slowdown particularly in retail and
properties markets and contracted advertising spending from
top-tier brands and state-owned enterprises sectors in both
Mainland China and Hong Kong, and the situation is further
affected by the market sentiment caused by the sizable
downward adjustment of the Chinese stock markets and the
accelerated depreciation of Renminbi against U.S. dollars in the
fourth quarter of 2015.

Reviewing of profitability, the Group’s gross profit margin
declined from 33.7% to 20.6% while the profit attributable to
the owners of the Company turned from a profit of HKD142.6
million to a loss of HKD39.6 million. Such decrease was a
composite effect of the aforesaid decrease in revenue from the
airports segment and an increase of 27.5% in the cost of
revenue of the Group, which was mainly due to the full year
cost effect of five metro lines incepted since mid-2014 that
were still at their ramp-up stage, and also the renewal of media
concession rights contract with the Hangzhou Xiaoshan
International Airport (“Hangzhou Airport”), where growth in
concession fee was at a rate faster than the growth of the
corresponding revenue due to the aforesaid market factor.
However, we believe the narrow down of gross profit margin
was cyclical in nature.
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On the other hand, the net loss of the Company included a
one-off compensation provision of HKD48.3 million for the
early termination of the 10-year concession rights contract for
the media resources at Ningbo Metro Line No. 1 in October
2015 due to a passenger flow far below the expected volume.
Such decision was made after an in-depth review of the project.
Following the review, the Company believed that the
compensation payable by the Group would be substantially
lower than the loss to be incurred by the Group in the
operation of the media resources for the remaining
approximately 9 years, even though it partially led the Group to
register a loss attributable to the owners of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2015. Had the Group not
operated the media resources at Ningbo Metro Line No. 1 in
2015, the Group would have reported a profit attributable to
the owners of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2015.

To mitigate the operating loss of certain business segments of
the Group, we took other immediate measures too. For
instance, we proactively negotiated with and obtained further
support from other media resource owners, including the
media resource owner of Wuxi Metro Line, which offered
enhanced advertising resources and reduced certain costs.

Meanwhile, as the Group endeavored to strike a balance
between market share, portfolio quality and long-term
profitability, we continued our efforts in business development
in 2015. This led to the commencement of certain concession
rights contracts with the media resource owners of Wuxi Metro
Line No. 2 (January 2015), Beijing Metro Line No. 4 and Daxing
Line (June 2015) and Terminal 4 of the Xiamen Gaoqi
International Airport (January 2016). We also renewed certain
existing concession rights contracts with the media resource
owners of Zhengzhou Xinzheng International Airport
("Zhengzhou Airport”) and Hangzhou Airport. Besides, we won
the tender of the four Hong Kong metro lines for a period of 3
years expiring in 2018 with an optional extension of 3 years. As
a result, the Group exclusively operated an extensive media
resource network of 27 airports and 11 metro lines covering 35
major cities in Mainland China and Hong Kong as at 31
December 2015.

It is worth noting that it normally takes 1-2 years (the ramp-up
stage) for a new media project to be profitable. As the
aforementioned projects remained in the ramp-up stage, they
incurred a higher cost of revenue during the year. Nevertheless,
we expect that they will contribute steadily increasing revenues
when they move up along the project life cycle to reach the
stable growth and even scale-up stages. At these stages, these
projects are expected to deliver better profitability as we have
seen in the other project of the Company.
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Indeed, given the noticeable slowdown in the economic growth
of both Mainland China and Hong Kong, the business
environment in 2015 was extra-ordinarily challenging.
Nevertheless, our “Space Management” approach
differentiated us from other market players and kept us moving
forward with unparalleled edges. In addition, we started to
adopt the new "Digital-Out-Of-Home" (DOOH) concept in our
clients’ campaigns, including the one we carried out for a
world-renowned fast food chain, requiring participants to
redeem gifts in a nearby shop after completing a mobile game
at the campaign site, it not only enhanced brand awareness but
also achieved the “"Offline and Online” (O&Q) effect. We see
this as one of the major development directions of the Group
in the future and we continue to provide innovative advertising
solutions to media resource owners and advertisers so as to
capture the business opportunities arising from the out-of-
home advertising market where expertise of this field remains
scarce.

In addition, the Company has gone beyond from merely
providing standard in-house media resources at airports and
metro lines through joint-ventures or direct business models, to
working closely with brand owners in negotiating desirable
third party media resources. For instance, during the year under
review, a member of the Group entered into a license
agreement with the landlord of Wheelock House in Central, to
exclusively operate the billboard of the commercial office
building for one year commencing from 11 January 2016. At
the same time, the Company secured a one year media
booking of the billboard from one of the premium brands
owned by the French luxury goods group, LVMH, to enhance
its brand presence. Thanks to our closer business collaboration
with L Capital Asia, the private equity arm of LVMH and a
shareholder of the Company, we have won ample opportunities
to provide various media solutions to a number of famous
brands owned by LVMH. Apart from LVMH, we also had
business cooperation with Lagardere Services China (Shanghai)
Co., Ltd, a travel retail and distribution arm of Lagardére S.C.A.,
a global media group listed on Euronext Paris, and successfully
brought a variety of famous brand retail shops into the
Kunming Changshui International Airport on one hand, and
contribute advertising revenue to the Company through
making use of idle media resources for Lagardeére at the airport
under the new variable-rent model on the other.

On the supply side, media resources owners or landlords
represent a major group of suppliers of the company. Our
relationship with landlords, primarily be secured through long-
term concession contracts, is on the other hand very much
hinged on our performances in meeting payment schedules
and achieving sales growth through the bringing in of well-
known brands and creative advertising formats which our
Company has done well over years and this has also become
one of our key strategic focuses for long term.
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On the demand side, we serve our customers including
advertising agencies and direct clients, with professionalism,
enthusiasm and value for money, and this makes up our solid
relationship with our customers in a long-term and recurring
business manner. Looking forward we are ready to offer our
customers brand new experiences in media formats that would
greatly enhance the investment returns to advertisers as well as
their bonding with us as a truly value-added business partner.

OUTLOOK

The Board anticipates that the market will be more challenging
in 2016, as there remains no clear sign of bottom out for
Mainland China’s economy and also soft outlook for that of
Hong Kong, and this is going to reshape our advertiser profile
visibly. Nevertheless, particular opportunities are envisaged in
our business in different airports and metro lines, including
Beijing metro lines, which covers strategic locations of Beijing
city such as Zhongguancun, a traditional technology hub as
well as a newly emerged incubator for technology startups in
Mainland China; and Xidan, a well-known commercial and
shopping area in Beijing where famous tourist spot Wangfujing
and financial street are located nearby; Hangzhou Airport,
which is expected to enjoy an increase in passenger flow
following the hosting of G20 Summit in the last quarter of 2016;
Zhengzhou Airport, whose expansion is expected to result in an
increase in the airport’s annual passenger throughput; and last
but not least, the thriving growth of mega LED lighting demand
in Hong Kong for which the Company has built up with
foresight strong reserves in talents and technical know-how that
further anchors our market leadership in this high-end segment.
In this regard, during the year the Company has entered into a
partnership with a company specializing in properties
development projects all over the globe with more weigh in
Mainland China and Hong Kong. Through this partnership the
Company has been working out with certain large scale
developers in both Mainland China and Hong Kong which have
shown their interest in adopting our innovative Building
Solutions (e.g. the “WrapLED" solution) which include creative
applications of mega LED lighting at their properties for both
ambience enhancement and advertising purposes. We believe
this partnership shall bring to the Company benefits on an
ongoing manner.
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The Group is also committed to building a strong sales and
market team to implement, amidst an unfavaourable
environment, better sales strategies backed by our “Space
Management” philosophy. This innovative approach has made
the Group unique in the industry and enabled it to develop
creative and innovative media solutions for customers, convey
their messages in novel and inspiring ways and thus connect
with their audience. At the same time, we will be cautious in
seeking new media resources and opportunities in airports and
metro lines with the aim of building a solid foundation for the
Group's long-term development.

Looking forward the Group strongly believes that the out-of-
home advertising segment will play, hand-in-hand with those
major mobile-net players, an equally important role in Mainland
China’s advertising market in the future, for we are able to
capitalize on this trend calling for the best mix and match of
creativity and versatility. Riding on our success in our initiative
with Lagardere mentioned in the above, one other key initiative
that the Company is focusing on is the O&O info-advertising
mobile application ("APP”) in selected airports of Mainland
China. Through the smart use of traditional advertising
resources and APP, the Company is able to connect, by push or
by touch, a large number of valuable, high consumption power
business and leisure travelers going in and out from the
airports. As an irreversible trend, the use of APP enables all-
time communications of unlimited kinds of products and
services information. As one of the best venues, airports
provide excellent people streams with high buying potential
and our traditional media will work to “push” our APP or direct
advertiser message to a busy traveler, and he or she could
“touch” on the details of the messages while waiting for a flight
or a taxi going home...... a clear picture of the future form of
value-advertising and the Company is one of the very few that
is advantageously ready to get the best from both worlds that
distinguishes us from the others.

By the on-going efforts of our experienced management team,
coupled with our well-developed “Space Management”
capabilities and creative media solutions, we are confident that
we will be able to thrive in the business through the ongoing
consolidation of premium media resources in airports and
metros, and more we will embrace changes and light-up the
power of innovation to gear up our key competences, from
people to technology, and from products to business models
that would transform ourselves to a even stronger leader in the
industry.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2015 increased from approximately HKD1,320.7 million to
approximately HKD1,406.3 million, representing an increase of
6.5%. The increase was mainly attributable to the increase in
revenue in the metro lines and others segments and partially
offset by the decrease in revenue in airports segment. For the
year ended 31 December 2015, the combined revenue of the
Group, which includes the consolidated revenue of the Group
and the total revenue of the Group’s associated companies
engaged in the media business, reached HKD2,033.4 million,
representing an increase of 8.6%.

The airports segment dropped by 9.3% from approximately
HKD693.5 million in 2014 to approximately HKD629.0 million
in 2015, mainly due to the worsened economic slowdown
particularly in retail and properties markets in Mainland China
and contracted advertising spending from top-tier brands and
state-owned enterprises sectors in both Hong Kong and
Mainland China. The Haikou Meilan International Airport and
Hangzhou Airport contributed half of the decrease in airport
business revenue during the year. However, the combined
revenue in airports segment slightly increased by 0.8% due to
the satisfactory results delivered by Shenzhen airport in 2015.

Our revenue from metro lines segment for the year ended 31
December 2015 increased by approximately HKD80.7 million
or 23.5%, from approximately HKD344.1 million in 2014 to
approximately HKD424.8 million in 2015, which was primarily
attributable to the increase in revenue from our new metro
lines media businesses in Wuxi and Beijing which incepted
since January 2015 and June 2015 respectively, reinforced by
the existing metro lines media businesses in Hong Kong and
Shenzhen which also delivered strong performance in 2015.

Our revenue from billboards and building solutions segment
decreased by approximately HKD13.2 million or 7.6%, from
approximately HKD174.1 million in 2014 to approximately
HKD160.9 million in 2015, which was primarily driven by
decreased advertising income in Hong Kong and Shanghai.

Other revenue increased by HKD82.7 million or 75.9%, from
approximately HKD108.9 million in 2014 to approximately
HKD191.6 million in 2015 which was primarily attributable to
the increase in our agency business in respect of sales of
advertising spaces in media resources operated by certain
associated companies and other companies.
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Cost of Revenue

Our cost of revenue increased by approximately HKD240.6
million, or 27.5%, from HKD875.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2014 to HKD1,115.9 million for the year ended 31
December 2015. The increase was primarily due to the full year
cost effect of five metro lines incepted since mid-2014 that
were still at their ramp-up stage, and also the renewal of media
concession rights contract with the Hangzhou Airport.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The gross profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2015 decreased by 34.8% from approximately HKD445.4
million to approximately HKD290.4 million due to: (1) the new
media projects of five metro lines incepted since the middle of
2014 that were still in their ramp-up stage; (2) revenue
contributed by airports business dropped by 9.3%; and (3) one
airport media resource for which the concession right contract
was renewed in this year. The Group’s gross profit margin
dropped from 33.7% for 2014 to 20.6% for 2015.

Selling and Marketing Expenses

Our selling and marketing expenses increased by
approximately HKD18.3 million, or 22.3%, from HKD82.2
million for the year ended 31 December 2014 to HKD100.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2015. This increase
was primarily attributable to increased employee benefit
expenses as a result of the growth of our business operations.

Administrative Expenses

Our administrative expenses increased by approximately
HKD21.2 million, or 14.6%, from HKD145.5 million for the year
ended 31 December 2014 to HKD166.7 million for the year
ended 31 December 2015. The increase was primarily
attributable to increase in employee benefit expenses due to
the growth of our business operations whilst the additional
share-based payment compensation expenses due to issuance
of share options during the year.

Finance Income/(Costs), net

Net finance income was HKD2.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2015, compared with net finance costs of HKD8.9
million for the year ended 31 December 2014. This was
primarily attributable to the decrease in average bank
borrowings during the year.
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Share of Results of Investments in Associates

Our share of results of investments in associates recorded a
profit of HKD8.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2015,
compared with a loss of HKDO0.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2014. This was primarily attributable to the increase
in share of profit from one of the associates, Shenzhen Airport
Asiaray Media Company Limited, during the year.

Income Tax Credit/(Expense)
Income tax credit was HKD3.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2015, compared with income tax expense of
HKD27.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2014. This
was primarily attributable to the decrease in the (loss)/profit
before income tax by 102.7%.

(Loss)/Profit Attributable to Owners of the Company

Loss attributable to owners of the Company was approximately
HKD39.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2015,
decreased by 127.8% from a profit of approximately HKD142.6
million for 2014. This steep decline was a composite effect of
aforesaid decrease in revenue contributed from airports
segment, and an increase of approximately 27.5% in the cost of
revenue of the Group as fully explained in the above. Had the
Group not operated the media resources at Ningbo Metro Line
No. 1 during the year, the Group would have reported a profit
attributable to owners of the Company amounted to HKD16.6
million.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND TREASURY POLICY
The Group adopts a conservative approach for cash
management and investment on funds. The net proceeds from
Listing have mainly been placed on short-term deposits with
reputable banks in Hong Kong.

As the Group carries out business in the Mainland China and
Hong Kong, most of our receipts and payments were
denominated in Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars. The
directors of the Company consider the Group’s exposure to
foreign exchange risk is insignificant. The Group will closely
monitor foreign exchange exposure and consider hedging
significant exposure should the need arise.
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Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents, short-term deposits
and restricted cash was approximately HKD438.5 million as at
31 December 2015, an increase of approximately HKD27.8
million compared with that as at 31 December 2014. As at 31
December 2015, the financial ratios of the Group were as
follows:

B X Current ratio™
Gearing ratio®
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FHRE FIRE
Net cash Net cash

Notes:

M Current ratio is calculated by dividing current assets by current
liabilities.

@ Gearing ratio is calculated by dividing total debt by total equity.

Borrowings

The Group had bank borrowings as at 31 December 2015 in
the sum of approximately HKD 23.6 million and all borrowings
were at floating interest rate. Out of the total borrowings,
HKD16.7 million was repayable within one year, while
approximately HKD6.9 million was repayable after one year.
The carrying amounts of bank borrowings are denominated in
Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. No financial instruments
were used for hedging purposes, nor were there any foreign
currency net investments hedged by current borrowings and/or
other hedging instruments. The weighted average interest rate
(per annum) was 7.38% for non-current borrowings and 2.74%
for current borrowings as at 31 December 2015.
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Exposure to Interest Rate Risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises from interest-bearing short-
term deposits and bank borrowings. Short-term deposits and
bank borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group to
cash flow interest rate risk.

Other than interest-bearing short-term deposits, the Group has
no other significant interest-bearing assets. The directors of the
Company do not anticipate there is any significant impact to
interest-bearing assets resulted from the changes in interest
rates, because the interest rates of short-term deposits are not
expected to change significantly.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2015, the Group pledged its buildings, land
use rights, bank deposits and available-for-sale financial assets
with carrying amount of HKD33.7 million (31 December 2014:
HKD32.0 million), respectively to secure borrowings of the
Group. The total secured borrowings as at 31 December 2015
amounted to HKD23.6 million (31 December 2014: HKD120.2
million).

Use of Proceeds

The Company was listed on the Stock Exchange on 15 January
2015 and raised net proceeds from the Listing of approximately
HKD586.6 million. These proceeds are intended to be applied
in accordance with the business plan set out in the prospectus
of the Company dated 31 December 2014 (the “Prospectus”).
The business plan and schedule of use of proceeds disclosed in
the Prospectus were based on the best estimation of future
market conditions made by the Group at the time of preparing
the Prospectus, while the proceeds were applied in accordance
with the actual development of the market. During the period
between the listing date and 31 December 2015, the net
proceeds from the Listing were applied as follows:

(i) HKD165.5 million on expanding our media resources at
airports, including Hangzhou Xiaoshan International
Airport and Zhengzhou Xinzheng International Airport;

(i)  HKD132.6 million on expanding our media resources for
metro lines in Wuxi, Ningbo, Beijing and Shenzhen;

(i)  HKD23.6 million on expanding our media resources for
our billboard and building solutions; and

(iv)  HKD28.3 million on our working capital and other general
corporate purposes.
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The Directors had evaluated the business plan and considered
that no modification of the business plan and future plans
regarding the use of proceeds as described in the Prospectus
was required. The unused proceeds were deposited in
reputable banks in Hong Kong.

Capital Expenditures

Our capital expenditures primarily comprise cash expenditures
for property, plant and equipment, such as advertising facilities
and furniture and office equipment. Our capital expenditures
for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 were
HKD24.7 million and HKD29.6 million, respectively.

Commitments
(1) As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, the Group did not
have any material capital commitments.

(2) Operating leases commitments

The Group leases certain office buildings and certain
media resources under non-cancellable operating lease
agreements. The lease terms for office buildings are
negotiated for terms ranging from 1 to 10 years, and
those for media resources are negotiated for terms
ranging from 1 to 10 years, and majority of lease
agreements are renewable at the end of the lease period
at market rate.

The Group's future aggregate minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

MW12A831H
As at 31 December
2015 20144

2015 2014
TR TAT
HKD’000 HKD’000

Not later than 1 year 805,066 513,823
Later than 1 year and not later than

1,727,255 1,072,788
BRARTF Later than 5 years 817,451 416,881
3,349,772 2,003,492
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Contingent liabilities
As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, the Group did not have
any material contingent liabilities.

Subsequent events
Subsequent to 31 December 2015, no material events have
occurred.

HUMAN RESOURCES

The Group offers competitive remuneration packages,
including trainings, medical, insurance coverage and retirement
benefits, to all employees in Hong Kong and in Mainland
China. As at 31 December 2015, the Group has 788 permanent
and temporary employees. The total salaries and related costs
for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 amounted to
approximately HKD156.1 million and HKD120.9 million,
respectively.
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The board of directors of the Company (“Board”) is committed
to uphold a high standard of corporate governance practices
appropriate to the conduct and growth in its business in
accordance with all applicable rules and regulations. The Board
believes that good corporate governance is important in
balancing the interests of shareholders, customers and
employees and the success of business.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions
set out in the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”)
contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Listing Rules”). Throughout the year, the Company has
complied with the CG Code except for deviations from code
provision A.2.1 is explained in the paragraph headed
“Chairman and chief executive” of this annual report.

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is mainly responsible for formulating of the Group's
long term strategy and development plan, deciding major
financial and capital project and reviewing internal control and
risks.

The Board delegates aspects of its management and
administration functions to the management for implementing
day-to-day operation. It has given clear directions to the
management as to its powers, in particular, with respect to
different circumstances. While allowing management to enjoy
substantial autonomy to run and develop the Company’s
business, the Board also plays a key role in structuring and
monitoring the reporting systems and internal controls. The
final decision still rests with the Board unless otherwise provide
for in the terms of reference of the relevant committees.
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Composition
The Board currently comprises seven directors (”Directors”),
the composition is set out as follow:

Executive Directors:

Lam Tak Hing, Vincent (Chairman)
Yung Chung Man

So Chi Man

Lam Ka Po

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung

Ma Ho Fai SBS JP

Chan Chi Fai Andrew SBS JP

The biographical details of Directors are set out on pages 17 to
20 of this annual report. There is no relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship(s)) among the Directors.

During the year under review, the Company has appointed
three independent non-executive Directors, representing more
than one-third of the Board, with one independent non-
executive Director possessing appropriate professional
qualifications, or accounting or related financial management
expertise. The Company has received annual confirmation in
writing of independence from each of the independent non-
executive Directors and considers them to be independent
according to Listing Rules.

Appointment and re-election of directors

Under the Company's articles of association, the Board may
from time to time appoint a Director either to fill a casual
vacancy or as an addition to the Board. Any such new Director
shall hold office until the next following general meeting of the
Company after his/her appointment and shall then be eligible
for re-election at the same meeting.

At every annual general meeting of the Company one-third of
the Directors for the time being, or if their number is not a
multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than
one-third shall retire from office by rotation at every annual
general meeting provided that every Director shall be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. A
retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.

All independent non-executive Directors were appointed for a
term of three years.
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Chairman and chief executive

Under the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the role of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive
officer should be clearly established.

Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent currently assumes the role of both
Chairman and chief executive officer (the “CEQ") of the
Company. The Board considers that this structure could
enhance efficiency in formulation and implementation of the
Company'’s strategies. The Board will review the need of
appointing suitable candidate to assume the role of CEO when
necessary.

Board diversity

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (“Board
Diversity Policy”) which set out its approach to achieve diversity
on the Board with a view to achieving a sustainable and
balanced development of the Company.

The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills knowledge and length of service.
The Company will also take into account factors based on its
own business model and specific needs from time to time. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that
the selected candidates will bring to the Board. The Company
has considered Board Diversity Policy in designing composition
of the Board.

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2015 Annual Report 41



{2EELER<E  CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Exggm Board meetings

EFeREBEFERTIRASEIETEF During the year under review, the Board held four meetings to
F¥E IREARFICEREFEREE & approve interim/final results, to discuss significant issues and
EERBZE2015F12A3MBILEFEHEE operation of the Company. The attendance (either in person or
FE HiTLER REZETR- HFWEE through other electronic means of communication) record of
BERIRREAG (THEFHFEIEREM each director at the meetings of the Board, the Audit
BFERAN) MRS Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration

Committee and general meetings during the year ended 31
December 2015 is set out below:

i/ BTERZAE
Number of meetings attended/held
Eze EifZEe REZEE FHZEe RRBEAE RREIAS

Annual Extraordinary

Audit  Nomination Remuneration General General
Name of Directors Board  Committee = Committee = Committee Meeting Meeting
HITES Executive Directors
iR Lam Tak Hing, Vincent 4/4 TER 11 2/2 1/1 1”n
N/A
FAX Yung Chung Man 474 TR Gl TER 1/1 1
N/A N/A N/A
HEX So Chi Man 4/4 @ TEm T 17 11
N/A N/A N/A
HKE Lam Ka Po 3/4 TR TR &R 1/1 171
N/A N/A N/A
BUFHTES Independent Non-
Executive Directors
SR Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung 4/4 22 TR 22 1/1 1”n
N/A
H5I8 ssup Ma Ho Fai $BS JP 4/4 2/2 il 2/2 ”n n
IREIE sBsJp Chan Chi Fai Andrew SBS J 4/4 22 11 TR 0/1 0

N/A
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Name of Directors

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

A comprehensive, formal and tailored induction training will be
given to every newly appointed Director, if any. Directors will
be provided with materials relevant to the Company’s business
and director’s duties and responsibilities. In addition, in order
to allow the Directors to understand the latest development of
regulatory and compliance issues, they are also provided with
market news and regulatory updates. A summary of their
records of continuous development training is as follows:

BHEEXRRZ2ER
Type of Continuous Professional Development
BIEEREEEAN
ESEEERAZ
SRR B
Reading regulatory
updates relevant to
corporate governance
matters or
directors' duties

HESE,
e R EE

Attending trainings/
briefings/seminars/
conference

HITESE Executive Directors

iR Lam Tak Hing, Vincent N N
HEX Yung Chung Man N N
BB X So Chi Man N, N
MRE Lam Ka Po N \
BYFHTES Independent Non-Executive

Directors

5 AR Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung V N
558 sBS P Ma Ho Fai $85 JP v N
PBRAEHE sBS uP Chan Chi Fai Andrew SBS JP v N

EE2ZET

EEFORY T=HEEE  DEHEEE
RAEESRFMERE - TRENERE
EHEEEBERERBHER -

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee. The table below provides membership information
of these committees on which each Director serves.

EEgZEE
Board Committees
ETZEE REZES FMEES
Audit Nomination Remuneration
Name of Directors Committee Committee Committee
iEg Lam Tak Hing, Vincent C M
fepickes Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung C M
BB sBs P Ma Ho Fai SBS JP M M C
[ = HE sBS JP Chan Chi Fai Andrew SBS JP M M
Fiat - Notes:
C HREESZESER C Chairman of the relevant Board Committees
M HHESEeZEEeNE M Member of the relevant Board Committees
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 6 December 2014
and currently comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung, Ma Ho Fai SBS JP,
and Chan Chi Fai Andrew SBS JP.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee included (1) to
review the Company’s financial statements and reports, the
changes in accounting policies and practices, and the
compliance with applicable accounting standards, the Listing
Rules and legal requirements; (2) to oversee the Group's
financial reporting system, risk management and internal
control systems; and (3) to review the services and appointment
of the Company’s external auditor, the nature and scope of
auditing, and the related audit fees. The terms of reference of
Audit Committee are available on the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee met twice during the year under review.
During the meetings, the Audit Committee (i) reviewed the
interim and annual financial statements and reports; (ii)
discussed and reviewed the risk management and internal
control systems; (iii) reviewed the corporate governance issues;
and (iv) made recommendation to the Board on the re-
appointment of the external auditor.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 6 December
2014 and currently comprises two independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Ma Ho Fai $8S JP and Chan Chi Fai Andrew
SBS JP and one executive Director, namely, Lam Tak Hing,
Vincent.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include (1)
to review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
Board at least annually and make recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company'’s
corporate strategy; (2) to report to the Board the composition
of the Board members and monitor the implementation of the
policy on board diversity; (3) to identify individuals suitably
qualified to become Board members and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships; (4) to assess the independence of
independent non-executive Director; and (5) to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors,
in particular the chairman and the chief executive of the
Company. The terms of reference of Nomination Committee
are available on the Company’s website.

Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year
under review. During the meeting, Nomination Committee (i)
reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board; (ii)
reviewed the independence of independent non-executive
directors; and (iii) made recommendations to the Board on the
proposed re-election of the retiring Directors at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 6 December
2014 and currently comprises two independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung and Ma Ho Fai S8S
JP and one executive Director, namely, Lam Tak Hing, Vincent.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include (1)
to make recommendations to the Board on the Company'’s
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior management'’s
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy; (2)
to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board's corporate goals and
objectives; (3) to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
senior management; and (4) to make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration of non-executive Directors. The
terms of reference of Remuneration Committee are available
on the Company’s website.

Remuneration Committee met twice during the year under
review. During the meetings, Remuneration Committee (1)
reviewed and made recommendations on the remuneration
packages of the Directors and senior management; and (2)
reviewed and recommended to the Board the grant of share
options under Share Option Scheme to eligible persons.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards.
The Directors confirm that suitable accounting policies have
been used and applied consistently, and reasonable and
prudent judgment and estimates have been made in the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements. The Board
is not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may affect the business of the Company or cast
doubts on its ability to continue as a going concern.

The external auditor of the Company, PricewaterhouseCoopers,

acknowledge their reporting responsibilities in the independent
auditors’ report on pages 69 and 70.
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Internal Control

The Board acknowledges its responsibility in maintaining a
sound and effective system of internal control for the Group to
safeguard interests of the shareholders and assets of the
Company.

The management has conducted an annual review during the
year and is satisfied with the effectiveness of the internal
control system covering all material factors related to financial,
operational and compliance controls. No material issues on the
system of internal control have been identified during the year
ended 31 December 2015.

During the year, the Board has reviewed the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience of the Group's
accounting and financial reporting function, and their training
programmes and budget.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the fee payable to the
external auditor of the Company, PricewaterhouseCoopers, in
respect of audit and non-audit services is set out below:

ZERTE Audit Service: 2,876
IERZERBRTS - Non-Audit Services: 1,524
BEEETESFRS DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

ARRERA LTRSS+ FE T RA
BEEETEFRFNFEESTA([FRETR )
EREFETIERRZINITRTA - AR E
ERMEESFLAEEH YEMBES
ERNFEETHRETRIFAMAE 2R -

DNAWE
RANENESEEREEALAKEEFE
B UTEERREFEHRMIEFEMAE
FOED) - RAIRERSNER - 28EES
REHRESEER KR - FR - RAEW
EEBEZTORIS/NEREEEEIFIIAR
THERBE R I
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The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors. The
Company has made specific enquiry of all Directors and that all
the Directors confirmed their compliance with the required
standard set out in the Model Code.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman on Board
governance matters and is responsible for ensuring that Board
procedures and all applicable law, rules and regulations are
followed. All Board members have access to his advice and
services. During the year, the Company Secretary has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training to update
his skills and knowledge.



2SS L8%74  CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

HERRRREERE

RAREGEDHERREREEETERLZ
BB ARFEEBEBARNRREEBAE
RZMBRARBUHTIEMEEEER - B
HAEBE PHRFERS -

EEenBEREFERRREMEMKERE
AMNFEREEGAERERERER - AQ
BITMERIRRBBEBR  FRARRMUD
XER Mo

B SR A9 R A
HRRBARREAAR

BREARB 2 EBERRMBE 1236 AL
AR AR AHEI AL S A FIRRIBH A E
HERKARKRERRE  ERBAEROARE
RRBNREBN T EWER (KRR ETH
REFMFERFR - AXETMRER)
EFIAASTIEHANFER  WRFRE
BE OERREEBRZA  ZFEFREBA
FEMBARRABRRAGRERTLIR TS
Z IR R BB o

MEFEREEXERRZBEF21AALE
ARBBRAE  FREFHAEPRRE
B FREMTFTRARREN A LRI IRIR
B EHESEARCRKEHRN TR
TARMBCREMNARE - BT AR E
MAETNEEXREFBERZAN=EAN
BRBIT MAEREREFTERECHAKRNEM
EENMBREERAYERARRAREE
e

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company actively promotes effective communications with
shareholders and investors through the publication of notices,
announcements, circulars, interim and annual reports on a
timely manner via the websites of the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The Board encourages shareholders to attend general meetings
to communicate any concerns they might have with the Board
or management directly. The Company has also maintained a
shareholders’ communication policy, details of which are
available on the Company’s website under Corporate
Governance section.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT

Convene an Extraordinary General Meeting by
Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the Company’s articles of
association, general meetings shall be convened on the written
requisition of any two or more members of the Company
deposited at the principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong or, in the event that the Company ceases to have
such a principal place of business, the registered office
specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the
requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists held as at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit
of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting, the
requisitionists themselves or any of them representing more
than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may
convene the extraordinary general meeting in the same
manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may
be convened by the Board provided that any meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months
from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.
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Put Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions in the Company’s articles of association
or the Cayman Islands Companies Law for shareholders to
move new resolutions at general meetings. Shareholders who
wish to move a resolution may request the Company to
convene a general meeting in accordance with the procedures
set out in the preceding paragraph.

As regards proposing a person for election as a director of the
Company, please refer to the procedures posted on the
Company'’s website.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For put forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,
shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company,
details are as follow:

Address: Unit 01-03, 17/F, Kornhill Plaza — Office Tower,
1 Kornhill Road, Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

Email: ir@asiaray.com
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A CARING CORPORATE CITIZEN

Corporate social responsibility is one of the core values of
Asiaray Group. We believe that our being socially and
environmentally responsible is beneficial to both the well-being
of the society and the long-term sustainability of our business.
Driven by this belief, the Company is committed to creating a
supportive workplace for our employees, caring about the
community and protecting the environment. Our efforts over
the years have enabled us to make significant and measurable
progress in corporate social responsibility and earned us the
“Caring Company” logo, issued by the Hong Kong Council of
Social Service, since 2008. In 2015, while our regular activities
were maintained, we also moved ahead with new steps to take
our corporate social responsibility efforts to new heights.

Giving Back to Society

Asiaray Group encourages good citizenship by giving back to
the local community. In 2015, we continued to collaborate with
non-profit organizations to reach out to those in need and
support the community through different initiatives and
volunteer activities including elderly home visits and charity
sports events.

Inspiration Everywhere
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' TOTAL DONATION OF HK$ 26,950
CI.IC!S T0 HELPING HAND
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Particularly for the Mid-Autumn Festival of 2015, Asiaray Group
launched an innovative campaign, “Moon-Click Donation for
Charity”, which turned a click on a mobile device into a hope
for people in need while we celebrated the traditional Chinese
festival. With our first solely developed mobile donation
platform, our team visited 12 4As advertising companies and
different branded customers in 3 weeks to promote the charity
activity. Their generous support allowed us to collect a total of
539 clicks. With each of the clicks made, one moon cake was
saved and at the same time, Asiaray Group donated HKD50 to
the campaign’s beneficiary, Helping Hand. And more than the
cash donation, we also celebrated the festival in person with
the elderly residents of Helping Hand’s Lai Yiu Bradbury Care
Home. With the help of social media platforms, the news of this
campaign spread further and wider and we look forward to
making this campaign another success in 2016.

In addition, we took part in the Go Fun Fearless Dragon Charity
Run 2015. It was the first time we participated in the event and
while the Company was its Gold Sponsor. 40 members of our
staff and their relatives and friends joined and completed a
10km or 3km race despite that it was only the first marathon for
most of them. A specially designed and produced jogging suit
with the theme of RUNSPIRATION was provided to increase
the team spirit of our runners.
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We also supported the Amsterdam 2015 Homeless World Cup
Hong Kong Fundraising Tournament. With the success of the
Asiaray Soccer Team that won the 2nd runners-up award in last
year's Hong Kong Fundraising Tournament for Chile 2014
Homeless World Cup, we sent two teams for the first time to
compete in the tournament in 2015. Our players delivered
spectacular performances to win both “The Justice Shield” and
“The Peace Cup” in the tournament, which once again
demonstrated Asiaray Group's unbreakable team spirit on the
football field.

Apart from different volunteer opportunities, our commitment
to the community was also evidenced by means of sponsorship
and donations. In particular, we continued to offer certain
advertising panels, in both Hong Kong and Mainland China, to
charities for free or at a relatively lower cost, thereby enabling
them to more effectively promote their charity events and
cause related marketing activities.

Environmental Commitment

Asiaray Group also places an emphasis on protecting the
environment and a highlight of our efforts in this aspect in 2015
was our continued support to the World Wildlife Fund (WWF)
by participating in the annual Earth Hour Campaign. With the
great support of our clients, we switched off the spotlights of
our outdoor advertising billboard signage for 1 hour on 28
March 2015. To educate the public about the importance of
energy conservation, we continued to utilize EDMs and online
social networks to spread the message among employees and
members of the public.
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With an aim to reduce our carbon footprint in every aspect of
our business, we continued to make significant efforts in
identifying new printing materials, LED lightings and other
environmentally friendly applications and in the research and
development of innovative products in 2015. We also recycled
certain kinds of advertising materials such as card boards at the
end of advertising campaigns to minimize wastage. One
endeavor that we are proud to report is our “WrapLED"
crossover solutions at One Peking, Tsimshatsui. Through the
use of dismountable LED, we are able to offer our advertiser an
energy-saving advertising solution that peoples are viewing an
energy-free static picture of company sign during the day time,
while the same company sign will be switched to LED
lumination when the sky turns dark. Such design enables the
maximum use of sunlight and helps further reducing energy
consumption from the already low energy-driven LED.

Furthermore, through the continuous implementation of a
paper recycling policy, internal communications by switching to
the use of emails and the function of Employee-Self-Service
(ESS) of intranet in our offices in Hong Kong and Mainland
China, we successfully reduced paper consumption. Meanwhile,
we also encouraged our staff members to adopt energy saving
practices, such as setting their computers to the sleep mode
when not in use, reducing the energy usage in air conditioners
and so on.
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After a year of vigorous practice, the Group successfully
reduced a considerable amount of energy, water and paper.
We will carry on our green initiatives and incorporate
environmental protection considerations into every business
decision we make.

People-oriented Culture

In addition, as Asiaray Group is also a company that highly
values talents, we have been promoting a people-oriented
culture in the Company and dedicating significant resources,
including offering competitive remuneration packages to our
staff and providing ongoing mandatory training to new and
existing employees, to attract and retain our talented
employees and to ensure that they will be able to grow with
the Company. Besides, interdepartmental and multi-regional
workshops and conferences are organized to provide
opportunities for our employees in different offices to exchange
their experience and knowledge.

Technologies are ever changing and Asisray Group always
keeps abreast of the modern world by developing a variety of
technological platforms to cope with the need for active
business development after its listing in Hong Kong. With an
appreciation for open communication among employees, we
have launched the “Asiaray Intranet”, an internal
communication system that was developed not only to simplify
our workflow and enhance employees’ communication, but also
to facilitate effective communication of company policies with
our employees and ensure their precious opinions and
complaints are heard and acted upon. It is hoped that they can
capitalized on this new platform to “Work Together as One”.
Also, the senior management of the Company conducts regular
meetings with staff members to listen to their feedbacks and
discuss issues of their concern especially in the fields of career
development and employee benefits. In addition, an internal
e-magazine titled “The Rhythm of Asiaray (}£#8)” is published
regularly to promote sharing among colleagues and provide
updates of offices in different locations.

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2015 Annual Report 53



TEFEMAZE (TR  CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY REPORT

BM—E+OoBIEINZE - (ERENE
i BPREEEENREERHAZ2EI
TERERZHINRE2TEEEELTE
REZERTAELEMRTE - I TF
EREEXE=FEE ARAEEREER
EZRBEORE o

MAEETROHN - BRAEFERMRE -
METHEBR2ERRERNEY LA
R4 BEBRENEEERDE - WAMRE
HMREEZHOHE T REIRE  BURE
SR R ERRER A TAEEEK -

HEEEREBEERAR 20155 54

Staff safety is an utmost concern of the Company. As preventive
measures, we provide safety training to operation staff and
have appointed trained safety officers to monitor operational
works and to ensure that all safety requirements are properly
implemented. Furthermore, all the Group's operations are
insured with coverage on third party liability, public liability and
employee compensation, among others.

Thanks to all these efforts, plus staff engagement activities such
as birthday parties, annual dinners and sports activities, we
have created a strong bond with our employees and cultivated
a loyal and dedicated workforce.
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PORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The board of directors of the Company (“Board”) have pleasure
in presenting their annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are
set out in the financial statements on page 77.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015
are set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income on page 73.

The Board has recommended a final dividend of HK9.09 cents
per share for the year ended 31 December 2015 payable on or
around Friday, 24 June 2016 to the shareholders of the
Company (“Shareholders”) whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on Friday, 10 June 2016.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2015 is set out in the “Chairman’s Statement”, and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 21 to 26 and
pages 27 to 38 respectively of this annual report.

The Group has complied with the relevant laws and regulations
that have significant impact of the Group, which are provided
in the “Corporate Governance Report” on pages 39 to 48 of
this annual report. A discussion on the Company’s
environmental policies and performance is set out in the
“Corporate Social Responsibility Report” on pages 49 to 54 of
this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements of the share capital of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2015 are set out in note
19 to the consolidated financial statements.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 194 of this
annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2015, the Company'’s reserves available for
distribution amounted to approximately HKD798.2 million
(2014: HKD250.2 million).
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group's top
five largest customers accounted for 11.8% (2014: 9.6%) of our
revenues and the single largest customer accounted for 5.1%
(2014: 3.2%) of our revenues. The Group's top five suppliers,
who were the media resources owners, accounted for 53.3%
(2014: 52.8%) of our cost of revenue and the single largest
supplier accounted for 17.2% (2014: 20.3%) of our cost of
revenue.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, their close
associates or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital)
has any interest in the Group's five largest customers and
suppliers.

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors
Lam Tak Hing, Vincent
Yung Chung Man

So Chi Man

Lam Ka Po

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung

Ma Ho Fai SBS JP

Chan Chi Fai Andrew SBS JP

Pursuant to Article 16 of the Company’s articles of association,
Lam Tak Hing, Vincent (“Mr. Lam”), So Chi Man and Lam Ka Po
will retire by rotation and who are being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

As at 31 December 2015, none of the Directors proposed for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a
service contract with the Company which is not determinable
by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the Group is set on the basis of the
employees' merit, qualifications and competence. The
emoluments of the Directors and senior management are
reviewed by the remuneration committee, with consideration
to the Group's operation results and individual performance.
The Company has adopted a share option scheme to the
eligible persons as an incentives or rewards for their
contribution to the Group, details of which are set out in the
paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” of this annual
report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company's articles of association, every
Director shall be entitled to be indemnified out of assets of the
Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by
him about the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise
in relation thereto. The Company has arranged appropriate
Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance coverage for the
Directors and officers of the Group.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme described on pages 59 to 63,
the Group has not entered into any equity-linked agreements
during the year or there was not any subsisting equity-linked

agreements entered into by the Group as at 31 December
2015.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES OF THE
COMPANY, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2015, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company and their
associate in the shares of the Company (“Shares”), underlying
Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO")), as recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
("Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on Stock Exchange (“Listing
Rules”), were as follows:
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number of the Company
Equity Shares and as at
Capacity/ Number of derivative underlying 31 December
Name of Directors Nature of interest Shares  (share options) Shares 2015@
ML 2REEFENAINR AR 330,000,000 (L) # 330,000,000 (L)" 75.00%
WEEHZENES
Mr. Lam Founder of a discretionary 330,000,000 (L) NIL
trust and interest in
a controlled corporation
ExBAA i3 4,400,000 (L) 4,400,000 (L) 1.00%
Beneficial owner NIL
HABX EREEA i 2,000,000 (L) 2,000,000 (L) 0.45%
Yung Chung Man Beneflaal owner NIL
BHEX ERBEAA i 1,300,000 (L) 1,300,000 (L) 0.30%
So Chi Man Beneficial owner NIL
HRE ExEAA - 1,278,000 (L) 1,278,000 (1) 0.29%
Lam Ka Po Beneficial owner NIL
R ExBAA i 100,000 (L) 100,000 (L) 0.02%
Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung Beneficial owner NIL
BRIE sesup 6 7N i 100,000 (L) 100,000 (L) 0.02%
Ma Ho Fai s8S P Beneflaal owner NIL
BREIB sBsp ERBEAA i 100,000 (L) 100,000 (L) 0.02%
Chan Chi Fai Andrew $Bs Jp Beneficial owner NIL

Hiat - Notes:

1. Mot 4 B # 4588,000,0008 B 5 & 1. Mr. Lam is the sole shareholder of Space Management Limited
Space Management Limited ([Space ("Space Management”) which holds 88,000,000 Shares. In addition,
Management ) #0f — B 52 o b b+ #RSE 4 B Mr. Lam is the founder of the Shalom Trust (a discretionary trust
Shalom Trust (B—BEMKEEUTER T AL established by Mr. Lam as settlor of which UBS Trustee (BVI) Limited
I B EIE ST - 25 A A UBS Trustee (BVI) acts as the trustee and beneficiaries of which are Mr. Lam, certain of
Limited * 225 ABIAMEERA - EETFRK his family members and other persons who may be added from time
KERATEMASEMALT)BEIHA to time) which indirectly holds the entire issued share capital of
Shalom Trustfd £ # & Media Comerstone Media Cornerstone Limited (“Media Cornerstone”) which holds
Limited ([Media Cornerstone ) & 25 & 3% 17 & 242,000,000 Shares. By virtue of the SFO, he is deemed to be
7% - il Media Cornerstone 3 4 242,000,000 fi% interested in the Shares in which Space Management and Media
BRD o AR B AR EIEN - ML mB AR Cornerstone are interested.

Space Management & Media Cornerstone #
RO EEER -

2. 2015412 A31H + B %4707 A 440,000,000 2. As at 31 December 2015, the issued share capital was 440,000,000
AERRTR o Shares.

Fra=i Abbreviation:

L] BiFA “L" stands for long position
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, none of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company had any
interest or short position in the Shares, underlying Shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporation
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or
which are required to be notified to the Company and Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company's share option scheme was adopted pursuant to
a Shareholders’ resolution in writing passed on 6 December
2014 (the “Scheme”) for the primary purpose of providing
incentives or rewards to eligible persons as defined in the
Scheme for their contribution or potential contribution to the
Group. The Scheme took effect on 15 January 2015 and will
expire on 14 January 2025.

Under the Scheme, the Board may, at its discretion, offer to any
employee of the Group, options to subscribe for shares of the
Company subject to the terms and conditions stipulated in the
Scheme.

(a) Purpose of the Scheme
The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Board to
provide incentives or rewards to the eligible persons for
their contribution or potential contribution to the Group.

(b) Participants of the Scheme

Pursuant to the Scheme, the board of the Company may
at its absolute discretion grant options to any eligible
employee, a supplier of goods or services to any member
of the Group or any director or employee of such
supplier, customer, any advisory, consultancy or
professional services to any member of the Group or any
director or employee of such entity (including any
director, whether executive or non-executive and whether
independent or not, of the Company or its subsidiaries)
who is in full-time or part-time employment with the
Company or its subsidiaries at the time when an option is
granted to such employee, or any person who, in the sole
discretion of the Board, have contributed or may
contribute to the Group.
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(c)

(d)

(e)

Total number of shares available for issue under the
Scheme

As at 31 December 2015, a total of 15,934,875 share
options were granted, of which 15,755,625 share options
have not been exercised and 179,250 share options were
lapsed. Accordingly, the Company may grant 28,244,375
share options under the Scheme, representing
approximately 6.4% of the issued share capital as at the
date of this annual report.

The maximum number of shares of the Company which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and
any other schemes of the Company shall not exceed 30%
of the total number of shares of the Company in issue
from time to time.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each participant
(including those exercised, outstanding and cancelled
options) in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of
the total number of shares of the Company in issue,
unless approved by the shareholders of the Company in
the manner as stipulated in the Scheme.

Time of exercise of options

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the Scheme at any time during a period to be
determined and notified by the Directors to each grantee,
which period may commence on the date on which the
offer for the grant of options is made but shall end in any
event not later than 10 years from the date of grant of the
option subject to the provisions for early termination
thereof. No minimum period for which the option must
be held before it can be exercised as specified in the
Scheme.
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(9)

(h)

The subscription price per share

The subscription price per share in respect of an option
granted under the Scheme is such price as determined by
the Board of the Company at the time of the grant of the
options, but in any case the subscription price shall not
be lower than the higher of:

®  the closing price of the shares of the Company as
stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the
Stock Exchange on the date of grant;

° the price being the average closing price of the
shares of the Company as stated in the daily
quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for
the five business days immediately preceding the
date of grant; and

®  the nominal value of a share of the Company.

Payment on acceptance of option

A non-refundable sum of HKD10 or other amount as
determined by the board of the Company by way of
consideration for the grant of an option is required to be
paid by each of the grantee upon acceptance of the
option.

Remaining life of the Scheme

The Scheme will expire on 14 January 2025 and no further
options may be granted but the provisions of the Scheme
shall in all other respects remain in force and effect and
options which are granted during the life of the Scheme
may continue to exercise in accordance with their
respective terms of grant.

On 21 May 2015, the Board approved to grant 11,534,875
share options to its employees and Directors that excluding Mr.
Lam (“Employee and Contributor Share Option Plan”) and
4,400,000 share options to Mr. Lam (“Executive Share Option
Plan”) that was approved and confirmed by the independent
shareholders at the Company’s extraordinary general meeting
held on 10 June 2015.
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TREBEFABREZE The following table disclose movements in the share options
during the year:

THABAR ARG 2 BRE

Option to subscribe for shares of the Company

R2015F R2015F
181H £ 12H31H i@
ERARRIRSEE g5 FARY XM/HEE  BRTE & BRET
Balance Lapsed/ Balance Exercise
asat Granted  cancelled  Exercised asat price per
Category or Name 1January duringthe during the during the 31 December share
of Grantees Date of grant 2015 year year period 2015  Exercise period HKD
THABBRE &
Executive Share Option Plan
i3 201545821 F - 4,400,000 - - 4400000 2016%1A18% 6.95
202066 A98"
Mr. Lam 21 May 2015 1 Jan 2016~
9 Jun 2020"
EEREMEBRES Y
Employee and Contributor
Share Option Plan
HHX 201565A21H - 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 201651 A18Z 6.95
20206981
Yung Chung Man 21 May 2015 1 Jan 2016~
9 Jun 2020
HEX 201545821 F - 1,300,000 - - 1,300000 2016%1818% 6.95
202066 498"
So Chi Man 21 May 2015 1 Jan 2016-
9 Jun 2020"
HEE 2015458217 - 1,278,000 - - 1278000 2016F151BE 6.95
2020F6A9B0
Lam Ka Po 21 May 2015 1 Jan 2016~
9 Jun 2020"
B 201555A21H - 100,000 - - 100,000 201651 /18% 6.95
20206 9B
Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung 21 May 2015 1 Jan 2016~
9 Jun 2020
H5 B spsup 201565A21H - 100,000 - - 100,000 201651 /18Z 6.95
202066 498"
Ma Ho Fai sBs s 21 May 2015 1 Jan 2016~
9 Jun 2020"
R#52 s8sp 2015458210 - 100,000 - - 100,000 2016%1A1HE 6.95
2020F6A9B1
Chan Chi Fai Andrew sgsJp 21 May 2015 1 Jan 2016~
9 Jun 2020"
EERARE 201545821 F - 6656875 179,250° - bATIE5 2016F1A1RE 6.95
20206 9B
Employees and contributors 21 May 2015 1 Jan 2016~
9 Jun 2020

- 15,934,875 179,250 - 15755625
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Notes:

1. All the above share options granted are exercisable during the
following periods:

(a) 30% of the share options shall be exercisable from 1 January
2016 to 9 June 2020 (both days inclusive); and

(b)  the remaining 70% of the share options shall be exercisable
from 1 January 2017 to 9 June 2020 (both days inclusive).

The closing price per share immediately before the date of grant was
HKD6.93. Details of the value of options granted as above is set out
in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statement.

2. The share options were held by certain grantees who ceased to be
the employees of the Group during the year.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2015, the following persons had an interest
or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares of the
Company recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO:
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RROREERG 2HFE Long positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares

P NN
ERITRAZ
B RntE BABE DS

Approximate

percentage of
issued share

Number of capital in
Name of Shareholders Capacity/Nature of interest Shares the Company®
MR 2REEFEMRINA K 330,000,000(L) 75%
REIZERDER RS
Mr. Lam Founder of a discretionary trust

and interest in a controlled

corporation
Em#EA A 4,400,000(L) ! 1%
Beneficial owner

Media Cornerstone Limited A A 242,000,000(L) 2 55%
Media Cornerstone Limited Beneficial owner

Shalom Family Holding Limited RSB EE AR 242,000,000(L) 2 55%
Shalom Family Holding Limited Interest in a controlled corporation

UBS Trustee (BVI) Limited Shalom Trust Z3EA 242,000,000(L) 55%
UBS Trustee (BVI) Limited Trustee of Shalom Trust

Space Management Limited A A 88,000,000(L) 3 20%
Space Management Limited Beneficial owner

Great World HK Media Pte. Ltd. A A 25,843,000(L) # 5.87%

Great World HK Media Pte. Ltd. Beneficial owner

L Capital Asia 2 Pte. Ltd. SER L IPZRET: 0L £ 25,843,000(L) ¢ 5.87%
L Capital Asia 2 Pte. Ltd. Interest in a controlled corporation
L Capital Asia 2 LP REEHEE RS 25,843,000(L) * 5.87%
L Capital Asia 2 LP Interest in a controlled corporation
L Capital Asia 2 GP REEHEE R S 25,843,000(L) * 5.87%
L Capital Asia 2 GP Interest in a controlled corporation
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1. RS A F 20154 5 A 21 H % # T 4,400,000 1%
BRE - FEFHE  FARATRIBERESE

—fie

2. Media Cornerstone #5 5 242,000,000 A% & 17 <
Media Cornerstone | Shalom Family Holding
Limited ([ Shalom Familyl) & & # A- m
Shalom Family I /i Shalom Trust® & # A -
Shalom Trust i1 # 55 A4 1 /5 B % T A 2 UBS
Trustees (BVI) Limited {fF &S 5L AL © Family
Trust 2 EZ A AMEE - BETREKE
RATRETREIMABEMA L - BREBEFHFRPE
&5+ 25 AR B Media Cornerstone #E A
AR P A o

3. M5 4 R FF 588,000,000 8% A% 15 # Space
Managementf) M — & B o L0 - FRE £ B
Shalom Trust B &I## A + Shalom Trust A
Media Cornerstone & &b 2 # 17 & 7~ * Media
Cornerstone 3 7 242,000,000 f% f% 15 © 18 #& &
H R EE KO L& B R B R Space
Management & Media Cornerstone # A 1 2 )
MR o

4. Great World HK Media Pte Ltd. ([ Great
World ) # L Capital Asia 2 Pte. Ltd. ([LC Pte])
% & % A - LC PteH L Capital Asia 2 LP([L
Capl) 2 & %% ° L CapHL Capital Asia 2 GP
(TLCap Asia ) 2 &R - REFFRHE K
i * Great World * LC Pte * L Cap &L Cap Asia
BRI B A o

5. MR20154F12/8318 B # 17 K X A
440,000,000 B& %15 ©

EERE
Ll REFA

M XA T ES - KR2015F12A31H -
b 4 H A A £ 7 RB% {9 sk AR B AR 10 R R B IR I
BAELBEGOEIBIEBETRARTLZ
Bz EmAE -

EERERBRRREN 2 ER

RAMBFE AN BFREERGREDE
BrREAEEEBERAMARASEMER
FIREPITHNG  BRARRESFHHBEE
BRETERIFARBEEARGE 2EAR
5 RHFREK -

Notes:

1. Mr. Lam was granted 4,400,000 share options on 21 May 2015. For
further details, please refer to the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” of this annual report.

2. The 242,000,000 Shares held by Media Cornerstone. Media
Cornerstone is wholly owned by Shalom Family Holding Limited
(“Shalom Family”), which is in turn wholly owned by the Shalom Trust,
discretionary trust. The Shalom Trust established by Mr. Lam as
settlor and UBS Trustees (BVI) Limited as trustee. The discretionary
beneficiaries of the Family Trust are Mr. Lam, certain of his family
members and other persons who may be added from time to time.
By virtue of the SFO, the Trustee is deemed to be interested in the
Shares in which Media Cornerstone is interested in.

3. Mr. Lam is the sole shareholder of Space Management which holds
88,000,000 Shares. In addition, Mr. Lam is the founder of the Shalom
Trust, which indirectly holds the entire issued share capital of Media
Cornerstone which holds 242,000,000 Shares. By virtue of the SFO,
he is deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Space
Management and Media Cornerstone are interested in.

4. Great World HK Media Pte Ltd. (“Great World") is wholly owned by L
Capital Asia 2 Pte. Ltd. (“"LC Pte"”). LC Pte is wholly owned by L
Capital 2 LP ("L Cap"). L Cap is wholly owned by L Capital Asia 2 GP
("L Cap Asia”). By virtue of the SFO, Great World, LC Pte, L Cap, and
L Cap Asia are deemed to be interested in the shares.

5. As at 31 December 2015, the issued share capital was 440,000,000
Shares.

Abbreviations:
“L" stands for long position

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, there were
no other persons who had an interest or short position in the
Shares, or underlying Shares which recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of SFO.

DIRECTORS'’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in
relation to the Group's business to which the Company or its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the Company
or his or her connected entities had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of the
financial year.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

None of the Company or any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS
During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group did not
have any significant investments.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS

During the year ended 31 December 2015, there was no
material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures by the Group.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into certain transactions with parties
regarded as “Related Parties” under applicable accounting
principles. These mainly relate to contracts entered into by the
Group in the ordinary course of business, which contracts were
negotiated on normal commercial terms and on an arm’s length
basis. Further details are set out in note 35 to the financial
statements.

Some of these transactions also constituted “Continuing
Connected Transactions” under the Listing Rules, as identified
below.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed herein, during the year ended 31 December
2015, the Group entered into a number of transactions with
entities which will be regarded as connected parties of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

As disclosed in the Prospectus dated 31 December 2014, the
annual cap of the concession fee for the year ended 31
December 2015 include:

i. the framework agreement with Yunnan Airport Group
Limited Liability Company and its associates is RMB107.8
million. The concession fee payable for the year ended 31
December 2015 was RMB89.8 million; and

i.  the agreement with Henan Zhengzhou Xinzheng Airport
Management Company Limited and its associates is
RMB47.2 million and the concession fee payable for the
year ended 31 December 2015 was RMB29.5 million.
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The transaction under Shenzhen Airport Asiaray Media
Company Limited (“Shenzhen Airport Asiaray”) framework
agreement as disclosed in the Prospectus no longer constitute
a continuing connected transaction for the year ended 31
December 2015.

Shenzhen Airport Asiaray directly holds 55% equity interest in
the Company’s indirectly owned subsidiary, Shenzhen Yashi
Metro Advertising Company Limited (“Yashi Metro”). For the
purposes of the Listing Rules, Shenzhen Airport Asiaray is a
substantial shareholder of Yashi Metro, and is thus a connected
person of the Company.

However, Yashi Metro was regarded as an insignificant
subsidiary of the Company in 2015 as Yashi Metro’s total
assets, profits and revenue compared to the Group are less
than 10% for each of the latest three financial years.
Accordingly, Shenzhen Airport Asiaray is not a connected
person of the Company pursuant to Listing Rule 14A.09 and
the aforesaid transaction is therefore not a connected
transaction.

The Board, including the independent non-executive Directors,
has reviewed and confirmed that the fees were:

i. in the ordinary course of business of the Group;

ii. either on normal commercial terms or on terms no less
favourable to the Group than terms available to or from
independent third party; and

iii. in accordance with the terms of the Contract that are fair
and reasonable and in the interest of the shareholders of
the Company as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board
engaged the auditor of the Company to perform certain agreed
upon procedures in respect of the continuing connected
transactions and the auditor has reported the factual findings
on these procedures to the Board committee.

The auditor of the Company has confirmed to the Board in
writing that the fees:

(@) was approved by the Board;
(b)  was in accordance with the pricing policy of the Group;

(c) was entered into in accordance with the terms of the
Lease Contract, governing the transactions; and

(d) did not exceed the relevant cap amount for the year
ended 31 December 2015 as set out on the Prospectus
dated 31 December 2014.
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CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Mr. Ma Ho Fai has been appointed as a non-executive directors
of the Independent Insurance Authority with effect from 28
December 2015.

Professor Chan Chi Fai Andrew has resigned as an independent
non-executive director of Bamboos Health Care Holdings
Limited (stock code: 8216) with effect from 1 March 2016.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other change in the
Directors’ information required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company'’s articles of association or the laws of Cayman
Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares
on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that was publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of its Directors, as at the
date of this annual report, there was sufficient public float of
not less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required
under the Listing Rules.

DONATIONS
Charitable donations made by the Group during the year
amounted to HKD107,000 (2014: HKD1,035,000).

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2015 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers
who will retire and being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company. A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company for the re-
appointment of PricewaterhouseCooper as auditor of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board
Lam Tak Hing, Vincent
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2016
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ASIARAY MEDIA GROUP
LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Asiaray Media Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries set out on pages 71 to 193, which comprise the
consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2015, and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit and to
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

| EEnEATAEN —f2

BEh: +85222809 8888 {HHE: +852 2810 9888

22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
Tel: +852 2289 8888 Fax: +852 2810 9888
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AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITY (Continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to
the entity’s preparation of consolidated financial statements
that give a true and fair view in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the financial position of the Company and its
subsidiaries as at 31 December 2015, and of their financial
performance and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 30 March 2016
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ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Construction-in-progress
Land use rights
Investment properties
Intangible assets
Investments in associates
Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss

Available-for-sale financial assets

Deferred income tax assets
Non-current portion of other
receivables

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Short-term deposits
Restricted cash
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity attributable to owners
of the Company
Share capital
Share premium
Reserves
Retained earnings

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

O 00 N O

—_
w O

11
15

16

16
17
18
18

19

20

Asiaray Media Group Limited

M®12H831H
As at 31 December
2015 &

2015
TR

HKD’000

20144
2014
FAETT
HKD’000

63,984 83,518
16,776 -
15,583 16,935
652 786
1,187 1,061
37,938 36,442
3,877 BWES
56,926 8,734
80,054 58,232
18,248 18,206
295,225 227,649
1,343 268
525,616 353,735
114,757 194,136
81,807 80,968
241,946 135,630
965,469 764,737
1,260,694 992,386
44,000 33,000
557,813 -
(9,516) (4,269)
55,727 95,343
648,024 124,074
52,645 84,697
700,669 208,771
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ABiHEEEBES  CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

R12A31H
As at 31 December
2015 20144
2015 2014
THERT THBT
HKD'000 HKD’000
=R Liabilities
FRBEE Non-current liabilities
RN Borrowings 21 6,863 8,557
H T RIBRIFERNEAEES  Non-current portion of
other payables 22 - 14,228
BEESHRasE Deferred income tax liabilities 15 160 75
7,023 22,860
REEE Current liabilities
FE AT BR 3R N EL At B A< 3R Trade and other payables 22 477,327 631,142
BIEAFT SR aE Current income tax liabilities 10,669 17,987
RN Borrowings 21 16,694 111,626
HEEIE KR Provision for compensation loss 4(e) 48,312 -
553,002 760,755
e F Total liabilities 560,025 783,615
wmEZREE Total equity and liabilities 1,260,694 992,386
FITE19 BT AZEAHUMBREN The notes on pages 77 to 193 are integral parts of these
— =R o consolidated financial statements.
FENEINENEHUBREREKLEETER The consolidated financial statements on pages 71 to 193 were
20163 B30 A#ETIZE  WHLTESK approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2016
REZo and were signed on its behalf.
M BEX
Lam Tak Hing, Vincent So Chi Man
FE HITEF
Chairman Executive Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

YA
L UNDEN

E7
HE LM S HEERX
TR

H A A
Hih (&58), e - FHE

gE(BRE) FE

BE WA
B R

BMEWA(LAK) - F8
DERBE RN RIMIE XS
BRPTSBLAT (B518),FIE
FrstiEs, (Fx)

FEBR)FE

Revenue
Cost of revenue

Gross profit
Selling and marketing expenses
Administrative expenses

Other income
Other (losses)/gains, net

Operating (loss)/profit

Finance income
Finance costs

Finance income/(costs), net
Share of results of investments
in associates

(Loss)/profit before income tax

Income tax credit/(expense)

(Loss)/profit for the year

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2015 % 2014

2015 2014

FHExT FETT

HKD’000 HKD'000

5 1,406,293 1,320,686
23 (1,115,897) (875,313)
290,396 445,373
24 (100,553) (82,231)
25 (166,744) (145,525)
27 12,758 10,013
28 (52,393) 1,934
(16,536) 229,564

29 5,576 6,844
29 (3,222) (15,746)
29 2,354 (8,902)
13 8,177 (819)
(6,005) 219,843

30 3,809 (27,531)
(2,196) 192,312

Asiaray Media Group Limited
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St SWeEs3<  CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December
2015 F 20144

2015 2014
FTER TAT
HKD’000 HKD’000

Hitfr s (BE) W

Other comprehensive (loss)/income

AHEEHFIEZIEFEMNEE  Items that may be reclassified
to profit or loss

— A HESRMEEAFE — Net losses from changes in

) EEFE (BENH) fair value of available-for-sale
financial assets, net of tax (1,545) (154)
— B EERE — Currency translation differences (25,330) 2,167
(26,875) 2,013

FEGA (FE) WEBE  Total comprehensive (loss)/income
for the year (29,071) 194,325

LUTF&FEL () FE:  (Loss)/profit attributable to:

KRaHER A Owners of the Company (39,616) 142,555
JEFE AR AE = Non-controlling interests 37,420 49,757
FE(BE) FE (Loss)/profit for the year (2,196) 192,312
LR HELGE Total comprehensive (loss)/income
(FR) WHEaH . attributable to:
ViN/NETE 2N Owners of the Company (61,802) 144,573
FEFENR R Non-controlling interests 32,731 49,752
FESS (F1B) WHEMEE  Total comprehensive (loss)/income
for the year (29,071) 194,325
EATBEBEAEMKREE (Loss)/earnings per share
BR(EE) BF attributable to owners of the
(ABRRBLF ) Company for the year
(expressed in HK cents per share)
— EAXR#EE — Basic and diluted 31 (9.09) 43.20

FITENNREMMERAZEA M BEHRED The notes on pages 77 to 193 are integral parts of these
—&#f5 e consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

R201451 51848

Gehs

FENE

A el

—HESREE
AFEEEEE(ENH)

—ERHERER
FRRBAR
REEALTHORN
FEERERITE
—F'ﬁMTE’NE’J%ﬁ*’éPém
""" L8 (THIELR

?Exiﬂ)(ﬂﬁﬂ()(a))

&8 (Wit 32)

ESNERRARRAAN
X8R

R2014 512 A31 B &R

R2015%1 B 1B &8

54 (FR)/ W&

EE(BR)/HE

Hitir4 (B8) /s

—EHESRHEE
ATEEYER (BHH)

—ERHEER

& (FR)/hasE
TR (Wit 19)
ERRERETE
—BERBEEMEM)
BRI (it 200)
RE(Hit32)

ESNMERRRRREAN
X588

R2015512 A 31 B&#

E W ES
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193EE’]W?7%E FAHHBIHRERN

Balance 1 January 2014

Comprehensive income

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income

— Losses from changes in fair value of
available-for-sale financial assets,
net of tax

— Currency translation differences

Total comprehensive income

Shares issued pursuant to
the Reorganisation

Capital injection by non-controlling
interests

Changes in ownership interest in
a subsidiary without change of
control (Note 20(a))

Dividends (Note 32)

Total transactions with owners,
recognised directly in equity

Balance at 31 December 2014

Balance 1 January 2015

Comprehensive (loss)/income

(Loss)/profit for the year

Other comprehensive (loss)/income

— Losses from changes in fair value of
available-for-sale financial assets,
net of tax

— Currency translation differences

Total comprehensive (loss)/income

Issuance of new shares (Note 19)
Employee share option scheme
— value of employee services (Note 34)

Capital injection by non-controlling

interests (Note 20(c))
Dividends (Note 32)

Total transactions with owners,
recognised directly in equity

Balance at 31 December 2015

ARREEAES
Attributable to owners of the Company
BEx  ROEE f#E REERA i FRRER  ARR
Non-

Share  Share Retained controlling Total
capital premium Reserves earnings Total interests  equity
TAL TEr TR TEr TEr Thn Tén

HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000  HKD'000
- - 19349 132968 152317 55047 207,364
- - - 142555 142555 49,757 192312
- - (154) - (154) - (154)
- - 2,172 - 2172 () 2,167
- - 2018 142555 144573 49,752 194,325
33,000 - (32,900) - 100 - 100
- - - - - 380 380
- - 7,264 - 7264 (6,726) 538
- - - (180,180) (180,180)  (13,756) (193,93¢)
33,000 - (25636) (180,180) (172,816)  (20,102) (192918)
33,000 - (4269) 95343 124074 84697 208,771
33,000 - (4269) 95343 124,074 84,697 208,771
- - - (39,616) (39,616) 37420  (2,196)
- - (1,545) - (1,545) - (1,545)
- - (20,641) - (20,641)  (4,689) (25,330)
- - (22,186) (39,616) (61,802) 32,731  (29,071)
11,000 610,613 - - 621,613 - 621,613
- - 14,854 - 14,854 - 14,854
- - 2,085 - 2,085  (1,369) 716
- (52,800) - - (52,800) (63,414) (116,214)
11,000 557,813 16,939 - 585752 (64,783) 520,969
44,000 557,813  (9,516) 55727 648,024 52,645 700,669

consolidated financial statements.

Asiaray Media Group Limited

The notes on pages 77 to 193 are integral parts of these
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SHRERE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BZE12A31BLFE

Year ended 31 December

2015 2014
2015 2014
FET FHET
HKD’000 HKD’000
SEEEME E’Jﬁ%}ﬁg Cash flows from operating activities
=& (FrF )/Ffr SRE Cash (used in)/generated from
operations 33 (138,579) 124,055
AT F B Interest paid (3,222) (9,383)
B8PS %R Income tax paid (29,402) (51,562)
SIEEE (FTA), e Net cash (used in)/generated from
HEFEE operating activities (171,203) 63,110
REZBRENRERE Cash flows from investing activities
BEYE - Jﬁ’ibﬁ;&;&ﬁ Purchases of property, plant and
equipment (14,098) (29,359)
BAFEY AE =R Payments for financial assets at
TREENK fair value through profit or loss (587) (586)
BEAHEEsMERE Purchases of available-for-sale
financial assets (50,000) -
BEBETEE Purchases of intangible assets (496) (285)
BEEZIENK Payments for construction in progress (10,086) -
LEWE - BB REE Proceeds from disposal of property,
T8 2kIE plant and equipment 33 749 388
B U F 2 Interest received 8,703 5,108
St E SR EERS  Dividends on available-for-sale
financial assets received 1,202 329
SHAITFEIOR A (B An) Decrease/(increase) in short-term
deposits 79,379 (74,663)
?ﬁﬁ?ﬁ iibﬁﬁ 5,/ (FiF) Net cash generated from/(used in)
B investing activities 14,766 (99,068)
METHAENRERE Cash flows from financing activities
B3 ﬁﬁ?%/iél Proceeds from borrowings 34,783 149,062
BEER Repayment of borrowings (129,362) (154,162)
BEITHIR D RS 2008 Proceeds from issuance of new shares 660,000 =
R ERITE Capital injection by non-controlling
interests 716 380
T ARRER S M Payment for listing-related expenses (27,403) (10,984)
WK AIHEA AT Dividend paid to owners of the
Company (200,980) (74)
F“JﬁH IR SR AR Dividends paid to non-controlling
interests (64,796) (12,374)
BMEEERE,(FrA) Net cash generated from/(used in)
BEREE financing activities 272,958 (28,152)
HERBREZEY Net increase/(decrease) in cash and
#Bin GRd) B8 cash equivalents 116,521 (64,110)
FYHReRBLEED Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year 135,630 200,548
R RIFCEEYRER Exchange losses on cash and
g cash equivalents (10,205) (808)
FRNRERBELSESEY Cash and cash equivalents at end
of the year 18 241,946 135,630
FITE 19355’]%?35 a0t BEmE The notes on pages 77 to 193 are integral parts of these
#)—& D consolidated financial statements.
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B AR M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1

—RER
HAREHEEBBER QA ARREF ]
2014520 B ER S FSIRIEH
S E R ALE (2013 FEFTA) Mk
SR EEREBRAR o AATFM
P F B b 1k & PO Box 309, Ugland
House Grand Cayman, KY1-1104,
Cayman lIslands ° & % & f% {3 72 2015
FIASEEEEBMARSMAERRA
AIEMRET -

ARRA—RARRAR - KRR
EHBAR(ARE]) EERGEA
RAFE (T E ) REBUEESNE
ERBERRCE - QERS bR
EREMEAEAERSE( TR
%) -

BREERBEIN L EFERIREAET
([Bx]) 2% ¥ER2016%3 A30
AlRARaEEg((E5g ) fET
g;eo

TESHBRME

TXHIREZ ST AU B RERAER
ZEBREFBR - BRABERIN - A
ERFEHEBEAZZTEREK

mBLERE

BHMBRRIIREMBERT S S
g ((HEEGFMAE ) RH2E
BUHBREER ([HEMBEREER])
Frimed - & Gt ISR TR E 2 AR
mE - WRBEAHHESREERZA
FEIABRSRNEREENEMET

1&%7 -

AT E BB BRE EANM B IHRE
AEBRETERNG R MEEAR
ERAKBN G BRE IRAEL
B o P RORBHERERER - IR
KRG HMBHRRAEAZENHRE
WERTXHES -

2.1

GENERAL INFORMATION

Asiaray Media Group Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 20 May 2014 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law (2013 Revision) of the Cayman Islands.
The address of the Company'’s registered office is PO Box
309, Ugland House Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman
Islands. The Company'’s shares have been listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
on 15 January 2015.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the development and operations of out-of-
home advertising media, including advertising in airports,
metro lines, billboards and building solutions (the “Listed
Business”) in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC")
and Hong Kong.

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars ("HKD"), unless otherwise stated, and have been
approved for issue by the Company’s board of directors
(the "Board”) on 30 March 2016.

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
set out below. These policies have been consistently
applied throughout all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS") issued by Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA"). The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared under the historical cost convention, as
modified by the revaluation of available-for-sale financial
assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgment in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the financial statements
are disclosed in Note 4.
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ESOtEAFRERZRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 FESHBERBE@ 2. SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
21 RBMEEE) 2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(a) AEEEFRNEFET RASIEFTE (@) New and amended standards adopted by the

Al Group
UTAKREEK2015F1 818 The following amendments to standards have been
2 B FRZ I REE B IR adopted by the Group for the first time for the
ZYERIEET - financial year beginning on or after 1 January 2015:

AUTHEHSE 2%
BN ER
Effective for

accounting periods
beginning on or after

2012 ERE 2010 E 2012 FEMF EBUER B A& 201541 H 1A
Annual improvements 2012 Changes from the 2010-2012 cycle of the 1 January 2015
annual improvements project
2013 ERE 2011 FE 2013 FEMF EBERE M 201541 H 1A
Annual improvements 2013 Changes from the 2011-2013 cycle of the 1 January 2015
annual improvements project
BFEGTERE 19 (BRIA)  EEEHN 20151 H1H
HKAS 19 (Amendment) Employee Benefits 1 January 2015
RAN2010F Z 2012 FF 5B B 2 2 The adoption of the improvements made in the
AR D MW EEL REIMNEEE - 2010-2012 Cycle has required additional disclosures
Brit 2 5h - HEMERTH R EE M in the segment note. Other than that, the remaining
SIWIEERX o amendments are not material to the Group.
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ESOtEAFEERZRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 FTESHEHEERE &) 2. SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
21 RBEHE(E) 2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(b) BB R A EE A SRR (b) New and amended standards have been issued but
B ir K 1B B IR AN B B 2T R AR (S AT are not effective for the financial year and have not
&R been early adopted.

RUT R 2%
BB E TR LR
Effective for

accounting periods
beginning on or after

BB ERIZE 15 (BE]A) RS 201641 A1 H
HKAS 1 (Amendment) Disclosure Initiative 1 January 2016
BRSFERZE 109 WEER  [ER&AMHRE 201641 A1 H

ARG EAFE 125 R
FREGETERIZE 2858 (BRI &)

HKAS 10, HKAS 12 and Investment Entities: Applying the 1 January 2016
HKAS 28 (Amendment) Consolidation Exception

EEGTERE 1098 K& REEREBENFINAEREZRN BEREE
ERGHERIE 28K (IBRIA) BELEIOEA

HKAS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets Between an To be determined
(Amendment) Investor and Its Associate or Joint Venture

EEGTERE 169 K BIRAER 2 & REIERE 20161 A1 R
BB GRS 38 5% (87T )

HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of 1 January 2016
(Amendment) Depreciation and Amortisation

R BHmMEERE 115 WIS & XSRS RIER A 201651 A18
CCHEN)

HKFRS 11 (Amendment) Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests 1 January 2016

In Joint Operation
BB R ERE 27 (ERTAR) BIUNBRRAOER L 2016518 1H
HKAS 27 (Amendment) Equity Method in Separate Financial 1 January 2016
Statements

FENEEA 2012 & 2014 F 1R HA FF E B 201651 A1 H

Annual Improvements Project Annual Improvements 2012-2014 Cycle 1 January 2016

B ERELERISE 95 SRIA 201841 A1 H

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 2018

BT HmEERE 1558 BEF &KW 201841 A1H

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018

AL A SR F RN E A U F IR The Group did not early adopt any of these new

TR EEET AR o EIRE IET amendments to existing standards. Management is

U EETHARENE G 75 currently assessing the financial impact of these

AR R EENITEZE revisions to the Group’s consolidated financial

position and performance.
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S OtEAFEHRFRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1

2.2
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2.1

2.2

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Basis of preparation (Continued)

(c)

New Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap.622)
In addition, the requirements of Part 9 “Accounts
and Audit” of the new Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622) come into operation during
the financial year, as a result, there are changes to
presentation and disclosures of certain information
in the consolidated financial statements.

Subsidiaries
2.2.1 Consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed
to, or has rights to, variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the
entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred to the Group.
They are deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.

(i) Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries
without change of control
Transactions with non-controlling interests that
do not result in loss of control are accounted
for as equity transactions — that is, as
transactions with the owners in their capacity
as owners. The difference between fair value
of any consideration paid and the relevant
share acquired of the carrying value of net
assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity.
Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling
interests are also recorded in equity.



S OtEAFEHRFRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. FESTHHE#ME S

22 WEAF

221 A

(i)

EEs
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RENEERRERAEE
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2. SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)
2.2.1 Consolidation (Continued)

(ii)

Asiaray Media Group Limited

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to
account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of
a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the
former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group. The
consideration transferred includes the fair
value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair
values at the acquisition date. The Group
recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis, either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interest’s proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of acquiree’s
identifiable net assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in
stages, the acquisition date carrying value of
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the
acquisition date; any gains or losses arising
from such re-measurement are recognised in
profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred
by the Group is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the
fair value of the contingent consideration that
is deemed to be an asset or liability is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 39 either
in profit or loss or as a change to other
comprehensive income. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
re-measured, and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.
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S OtEAFEHRFRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. FEESTHBEHEES) 2. SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)
2.2.1 Consolidation (Continued)
(i)  Business combinations (Continued)

22 MEAR(GE)

FrEERE  wETY The excess of the consideration transferred,
F o] FE 4% AR FE 25 B RE e the amount of any non-controlling interest in
W g 7 R R B R AR the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair
TEWEBEN A FEBBAN value of any previous equity interest in the
WEER F A FEEMN AT acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable
EHEZEY AHNE - RNE net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If
BWEIBFRLT @ MeTE the total of consideration transferred, non-
ERE B HmBHIFER controlling interest recognised and previously
Hm M ENEAIFEER held interest measured is less than the fair
e 75 B 48 K8 (K 7S BT W value of the net assets of the subsidiary
BRARFEEMNAFE " acquired in the case of a bargain purchase,
ZAEBMAENEERER © the difference is recognised directly in the
profit or loss.

EFEAFZENATBR Inter-company transactions, balances and
5 BRI ESR MK unrealised gains on transactions between
BRI T A o K group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
FINEE IS T A o MY losses are also eliminated. When necessary
BRABIMEMRN CREDIZ amounts reported by subsidiaries have been
EEELHAE UFEXR adjusted to conform with the Group’s
SEFEANSEBR - accounting policies.

(i) BB ARIEEEAEEZRE (i)  Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries
FEE) (IR REEE without change of control
)
BEERESETHTE Transactions with non-controlling interests that
BYREZHIENRZ S A do not result in loss of control are accounted
RIMERRR 5 A% for as equity transactions — that is, as
BARBEEAEGHETH transactions with the owners in their capacity
R X MHEMNRE as owners. The difference between fair value
A {E B2 AE A e A P Uk BE of any consideration paid and the relevant
WBARFEEMRMEE share acquired of the carrying value of net
ENEZBRAERIE- A assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity.
FERERLEELENR Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling
BTN BR o interests are also recorded in equity.
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S OtEAFEHRFRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. xE

22 WEAF

2.2.1
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2. SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)

2.2.1 Consolidation (Continued)

(iv) Disposals of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any
retained interest in the entity is remeasured to
its fair value, with the change in carrying
amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair
value is the initial carrying amount for the
purposes of subsequent accounting for the
retained interest as an associate or financial
asset. In addition, any amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in
respect of that entity are accounted for as if
the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. This may mean that
amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss.

2.2.2 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the
period the dividend is declared or if the carrying
amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s
net assets including goodwill.
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2.3

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has
significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50%
of the voting rights. Investments in associates are
accounted for using the equity method of accounting and
are initially recognised at cost and the carrying amount is
increased or decreased to recognise the investor’s share
of the profit or loss of the investee after the date of
acquisition. The Group's investment in associates includes
goodwill identified on acquisition, net of any accumulated
impairment loss.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but
significant influence is retained, only a proportionate
share of the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss
where appropriate.

The Group's share of its associates’ post-acquisition
profits or losses is recognised in profit or loss, and its
share of post-acquisition movements in other
comprehensive income is recognised in other
comprehensive income with a corresponding adjustment
to the carrying amount of the investment.

When the Group's share of loss in an associate equals or
exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other
unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether
there is any objective evidence that investments in
associates are impaired. If this is the case, the Group
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference
between the recoverable amount of the associate and its
carrying value and recognises the amount adjacent to
“share of results of investments in associates” in profit or
loss.
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2.3

2.4

2.5

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Associates (Continued)

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and
downstream transactions between the Group and its
associate are recognised in the Group's financial
statements only to the extent of unrelated investor’s
interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of associates have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker, who are responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments and making strategic decisions. The chief
operating decision-maker has been identified as the
executive directors of the Company.

Foreign currency translation

(a)  Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in HKD, which is the Company’s
functional currency and the Group's presentation
currency. The Company’s Hong Kong and PRC
subsidiaries regard HKD and Renminbi (“RMB”) as
their respective functional currencies.

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in profit or loss.
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2.5

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Transactions and balances (Continued)

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are
presented in profit or loss within ‘finance income or
cost’. All other foreign exchange gains and losses
are presented in profit or loss within ‘other (losses)/
gains, net'.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial
assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss
as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation
differences on non-monetary financial assets, such
as equities classified as available for sale, are
included in other comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(i)  Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement
of financial position;

(i) Income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the
rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are
translated at the dates of the transactions);
and

(i)  All resulting exchange differences are
recognised as a separate component of other
comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of the net investment in foreign
operations are taken to other comprehensive
income.
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2.5

2.6

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(d) Disposal of foreign operation and partial disposal
On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group's entire interest in a foreign
operation), all of the currency translation differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result
in the Group losing control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, the proportionate
share of accumulated currency translation
differences are re-attributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised in profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
costs less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment charge. Historical cost includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss
during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to
allocate their cost to their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:

Shorter of remaining
lease term or useful lives

Leasehold improvements

Motor vehicles 5 years

Furniture and office 3-5 years
equipment

Advertising fixtures 3-10 years

Buildings 20 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.
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2.6

2.7

2.8

2.9

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is

greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note
2.11).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are
recognised within ‘other (losses)/gains, net’ in profit or
loss.

Construction-in-progress

Construction-in-progress represents advertising fixtures
under construction and is stated at cost. This includes the
costs of construction, and interest charges arising from
borrowings used to finance these assets during the period
of construction or installation and testing. When the
assets concerned are available for use, the costs are
transferred to property, plant and equipment and
depreciated in accordance with the policies as stated
above.

Land use rights

Land use rights represents payment of land use rights to
the PRC’s land bureau. Land use rights is carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation and impaired losses.
Amortisation is provided to write off the cost of land use
rights on a straight-line basis over the periods of right
which is 40 years.

Investment properties

Properties that are held for long-term rental yields, and
that are not occupied by the Group, are classified as
investment properties.

Investment properties are stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment charge, if any.
They are depreciated using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful life of 20 years. Subsequent
expenditure is charged to the carrying amount of the
asset only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the asset will flow to the Group
and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. All
other repairs and maintenance costs are expensed in
profit or loss during the financial period in which they are
incurred.
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2.

2.10

2.1

2.12

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on
the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use
the specific software, and are amortised over their
estimated useful lives of five years.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life or are not yet
available for use are not subject to amortisation and are
tested annually for impairment. Assets are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at
the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-
financial assets other than goodwill that suffered
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.

Financial assets

(a) Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following categories: at fair value through profit or
loss, loans and receivables, and available-for-sale
financial assets. The classification depends on the
purpose for which the financial assets were acquired,
management'’s intentions and whether the assets
are quoted in an active market. Management
determines the classification of its financial assets at
initial recognition.

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are those designated at fair value through
profit or loss at inception. A financial asset is
classified in this category if so designated by
the directors of the Company. Assets in this
category are classified as current assets if
expected to be settled within 12 months;
otherwise, they are classified as non-current.
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2. SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.12 Financial assets (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Classification (continued)

(i)  Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They are included in current assets,
except for the amounts that are settled or
expected to be settled more than 12 months
after the end of the reporting period. The
Group's loans and receivables comprise ‘trade
and other receivables excluding prepayments’,
‘short-term deposits’ and ‘cash and cash
equivalents’ in the consolidated balance sheet.

(i)  Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-
derivatives that are either designated in this
category or not classified in any other
category. They are included in non-current
assets unless investment matures or
management intends to dispose of the
investment within 12 months after the end of
the reporting period.

Dividend income on available-for-sale financial
assets is recorded in other income.

Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of investments are
recognised on trade-date — the date on which the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus
transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at
fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets
carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially
recognised at fair value, and transaction costs are
expensed in the statement of comprehensive
income. Financial assets are derecognised when the
rights to receive cash flows from the investments
have expired or have been transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all risks and
rewards of ownership. Available-for-sale financial
assets and financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair value.
Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.
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2. SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.12 Financial assets (Continued)

(b)

Recognition and measurement (Continued)

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value
of the ‘financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss’ category are presented in the statement of
comprehensive income within ‘other (losses)/gains,
net’ in the period in which they arise. Dividend
income from financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income as part of other income
when the Group’s right to receive payments is
established.

Changes in the fair value of monetary and non-
monetary securities classified as available-for-sale
are recognised in other comprehensive income.

When securities classified as available-for-sale
financial assets are sold or impaired, the
accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in
other comprehensive income are included in profit
or loss as net losses from available-for-sale financial
assets.

2.13 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be
contingent on future events and must be enforceable in
the normal course of business and in the event of default,
insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or the
counterparty.
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2. SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.14 Impairment of financial assets

(a)

Assets carried at amortised cost

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is objective evidence that a
financial asset or a group of financial assets is
impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial
assets is impaired and impairment losses are
incurred only if there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a
"loss event”) and that loss event (or events) has an
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset or group of financial assets that can
be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that
the debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments, the probability
that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation, and where observable data indicate
that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

For loans and receivables category, the amount of
the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future credit losses that have not been
incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the
asset is reduced and the amount of the impairment
loss is recognised in profit or loss. If a loan has a
variable interest rate, the discount rate for
measuring any impairment loss is the current
effective interest rate determined under the
contract. As a practical expedient, the Group may
measure impairment on the basis of an instrument’s
fair value using an observable market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be
related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised (such as an
improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the
reversal of the previously recognised impairment
loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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2. SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.14 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(b)

Assets classified as available-for-sale financial assets
The Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is objective evidence that a
financial asset or a group of financial assets is
impaired.

For debt securities, if any such evidence exists the
cumulative loss — measured as the difference
between the acquisition cost and the current fair
value, less any impairment loss on that financial
asset previously recognised in profit or loss — is
removed from equity and recognised in profit or
loss. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a
debt instrument classified as available-for-sale
financial assets increases and the increase can be
objectively related to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, the
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.

For equity investments, a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of the security below its cost
is also evidence that the assets are impaired. If any
such evidence exists the cumulative loss —
measured as the difference between the acquisition
cost and the current fair value, less any impairment
loss on that financial asset previously recognised in
profit or loss — is removed from equity and
recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses
recognised in profit or loss on equity instruments
are not reversed through profit or loss.

2.15 Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers or
agents for merchandise sold or services performed in the
ordinary course of business. If collection of trade and
other receivables is expected in one year or less, they are
classified as current assets. Otherwise, they are presented
as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less provision for
impairment.
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2.

2.16

2.17

2.18

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at
call with banks and other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or
less. Bank deposits with original maturities over three
months but less than one year are classified as short-term
deposits.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or share
options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax,
from the proceeds.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of
business from suppliers. Trade and other payables are
classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one
year or less. If not, they are presented as non-current
liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

2.19 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost. Any difference between
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in profit or loss over their period using
the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for
liquidity services and amortised over the period of the
facility to which it relates.



S OtEAFEHRFRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.19

2.20

B BERBE @)

B (&)
BROEASK B A BRI R - AEEE

EREEREHEREREDI12(A
BRIEREI S REBDEE -

AR

WhE EREEREREE (IFMA
ERBRASAUFERERAEIHENE
E)ERELN —RNERERKAE
AARFEENRAN  EEZFEEKN
BAFRERERMERL -

BB EEREEZHERARERM
T BEREREMERK AN SES
AZFEEREENEBREERANEMN
EREITRRR IR A MEB M {%
EWam e

mE S S g

BEMARA AR AR LR EEY
BRMES - &BHREMEMEERAS
B L B BB AR 3 3 0
EERRBHE S A BREEREN
EHBIEE « BT BZEERNM
TR -

FraHEMEERANREEPEEERZRP
TR o

2.

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.19 Borrowings (Continued)

2.20

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.

Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale.

For a borrowing that is specifically for the purpose of
obtaining a qualifying asset, the amounts of borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation are the actual borrowing
costs incurred on that borrowing during the year less any
investment income on the temporary investment of these
borrowings.

For the other borrowings related to acquisition,
construction and production of a qualifying asset, the
amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation shall
be the lower of the actual borrowing costs incurred and
the amount of qualifying asset not financed by specific
borrowings multiplying capitalisation rate. The
capitalisation rate is the weighted average interest rate of
these borrowings.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.
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2.21

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to
the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case,
the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income
or in equity, respectively.

(a)

(b)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the
countries where the Company'’s subsidiaries operate
and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns
with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of
amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, the deferred income tax is
not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition
of goodwill or the initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss is
affected. Deferred income tax is determined using
tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred
income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.
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2. SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.21 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on
taxable temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries and associates, except
for deferred income tax liability where the timing of
the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled
by the Group and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Generally the Group is unable to control the reversal
of the temporary difference for associates. Only
when there is an agreement in place that gives the
group the ability to control the reversal of the
temporary difference in the foreseeable future,
deferred tax liability in relation to taxable temporary
differences arising from the associate’s undistributed
profits is not recognised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries and associates only to
the extent that it is probable the temporary
difference will reverse in the future and there is
sufficient taxable profit available against which the
temporary difference can be utilised.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle
the balances on a net basis.
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2. SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.22 Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

Pension obligations

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under
which the Group pays fixed contributions into a
separate entity. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligations to pay further contributions
if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all
employees the benefits relating to employee service
in the current and prior periods.

The Group's PRC subsidiaries and Hong Kong
subsidiaries contribute on a monthly basis to various
defined contribution plans and the mandatory
provident fund plan in Hong Kong, respectively.
The Group has no further payment obligations once
the contributions have been paid. The contributions
are recognised as employee benefit expense when
they are due. Assets of the plans of the PRC
subsidiaries are held and managed by the relevant
PRC government authorities; while assets of the
plans of the Hong Kong subsidiaries are held in
separate trustee-administrated funds in Hong Kong.
The assets of the plans are separated from those of
the Group.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.
Employee entitlements to sick and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.
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2. SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.23 Share-based payments

(a)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group operates a number of equity-settled,
share-based compensation plans, under which the
entity receives services from employees as
consideration for equity instruments of the Group.
The fair value of the employee services received in
exchange for the grant of the options is recognised
as an expense. The total amount to be expensed is
determined by reference to the fair value of the
options granted:

J including any market performance conditions
(for example, an entity's share price);

J excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability, sales growth targets
and remaining an employee of the entity over
a specified time period); and

J including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement for
employees to save or holding shares for a
specified period of time).

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest based on the non-marketing
performance and service conditions. It recognises
the impact of the revision to original estimates, if
any, in the income statement, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.

In addition, in some circumstances employees may
provide services in advance of the grant date and
therefore the grant date fair value is estimated for
the purposes of recognising the expense during the
period between service commencement period and
grant date.

When the options are exercised, the Company
issues new shares. The proceeds received net of any
directly attributable transaction costs are credited to
share capital and share premium .
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2.

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.23 Share-based payments (Continued)

(a)  Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

(Continued)

If an equity award is cancelled by forfeiture, when
the vesting conditions (other than market
conditions) have not been met, any expense not yet
recognized for that award, as at the date of
forfeiture, is treated as if it had never been
recognized. At the same time, any expense
previously recognized on such cancelled equity
awards are reversed from the accounts effective as
at the date of forfeiture.

(b)  Share-based payment transactions among group

entities

The grant by the company of options over its equity
instruments to the employees of subsidiary
undertakings in the group is treated as a capital
contribution. The fair value of employee services
received, measured by reference to the grant date
fair value, is recognised over the vesting period as
an increase to investment in subsidiary
undertakings, with a corresponding credit to equity
in the parent entity accounts.

2.24 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow of resources will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class of
obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if
the likelihood of an outflow of resources with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations
may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision
due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.
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2.

2.25

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition

The Group's revenue is primarily derived from rendering
advertising display and production, installation and
dismantling services on the Group’s media networks,
primarily in airports, metro lines and billboards and
buildings solutions. Revenue is measured at the fair value
of the consideration received or receivable, and
represents amounts receivable for services rendered,
stated net of discounts and value-added taxes.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can
be reliably measured, it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and specific criteria have
been met for each of the Group’s activities as described
below. The Group bases its estimates on historical results,
taking into consideration the type of customer, the type
of transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

(a) Advertising display services
Revenue from advertising display services is
recognised on a straight-line basis over the
performance period for which the advertisements
are displayed.

(b)  Advertising production, installation and dismantling
services
Revenue from advertising production, installation
and dismantling services is recognised when the
related services are rendered.

(c)  Multiple element arrangements

The Group offers certain arrangements whereby a
customer can purchase advertising display services
together with the related advertising production,
installation and dismantling services. Where such
multiple element arrangements exist, the total
arrangement consideration is allocated to each
element based on their relative fair values, as
determined based on the current market price of
each of the elements when sold separately.

When the Group is unable to determine the fair
value of each of the elements in an arrangement, it
uses the residual value method. Under this method,
the Group determines the fair value of the delivered
element by deducting the fair value of the
undelivered element from the contract
consideration.
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2.

2.25

2.26

2.27

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(c)  Multiple element arrangements (Continued)
To the extent that there is a discount on the
arrangement, such discount is allocated between
the elements of the contract in such a manner as to
reflect the fair value of the elements.

(d)  Rental income
Rental income from operating lease of properties is
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the term of the lease.

(e)  Principal versus agent consideration

The Group derives certain revenue from advertising
display and production, installation and dismantling
services through agents, and pays fixed percentages
of revenue as commissions to these agents. The
Group has evaluated the roles and responsibilities
of the Group and the agents in rendering the
relevant services and concluded that the Group
takes the primary responsibilities in rendering
services and has the sole latitude in establishing
prices. Accordingly, the Group records the revenue
derived through the agents on a gross basis, and
the commissions paid to the agents are recorded as
sales commissions included in selling and marketing
expenses.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method. When a loan and receivable is impaired, the
Group reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable
amount, being the estimated future cash flow discounted
at the original effective interest rate of the instrument,
and continues unwinding the discount as interest income.
Interest income on impaired loans and receivables is
recognised using the original effective interest rate.

Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive
payment is established.
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2.

2.28

2.29

2.30

2.31

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Government grants

Grants from government are recognised at their fair value
where there is a reasonable assurance that the grants will
be received and the Group will comply with all attached
conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the profit or loss over the period necessary
to match them with the costs that they are intended to
compensate.

Advertising consulting service
Revenue from rendering consulting service is recognised
when the services are rendered.

Concession fee charges for advertising spaces

The Group enters into concession right agreements with
media resources owners such as metro lines and airports,
under which the Group obtains the right to use the media
resources owners’ spaces for the display of the
advertisements. The concession rights agreements under
which significant portion of the risks and rewards of
ownership are retained by media resources owners are
treated as operating lease arrangements.

The concession fees payable to media resources owners
were typically comprised of a minimum guaranteed
amount with yearly escalation and/or a percentage share
of the revenue earned from the operations (the
commission fees). The minimum guaranteed concession
fees with yearly escalation are charged to profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the agreement periods and the
commission fees were recognised in the period in which
they are actually incurred.

Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by lessors are classified
as operating leases. Payments made under operating
leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
period of the lease.
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2.

2.32

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Dividends distribution

Dividends distribution to the shareholders is recognised
as a liability in the consolidated financial statement in the
period in which the dividend is approved by the

shareholders or the Board, where appropriate.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risk factors: market risk (including foreign exchange risk,
cash flow and fair value interest rate risk and price risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group's financial performance. Risk
management is carried out by the senior management of
the Group and approved by the Board.

(a) Market risk
()  Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates in the PRC and Hong
Kong. The foreign exchange risk of the
Group's Hong Kong subsidiaries occur mainly
due to the fact that the Group’s Hong Kong
subsidiaries have business activities
denominated in foreign currencies, primarily
with respect to United States dollars (“USD").
Foreign exchange risk arises from future
commercial transactions and recognised assets
and liabilities. As HKD has been pegged to
USD, the directors of the Company are of the
opinion that the foreign exchange exposure
between USD and HKD is insignificant.

The Group's PRC subsidiaries carried out their
operations activities in the PRC with all of the
transactions denominated in RMB. As the
conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is
subject to the rules and regulations of foreign
exchange control promulgated by the PRC
government, the directors of the Company
consider no significant exposure on the
foreign exchange risk. The exchange
differences arising upon translation of net
assets of subsidiaries with functional currencies
in RMB to HKD are recognised as currency
translation differences and recorded as part of
other comprehensive income.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) Market risk (Continued)
(i) Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

As less than 10% of the Group's foreign
currency transactions are denominated in
other foreign currencies, the directors are of
the view that foreign exchange risk in relation
to transactions denominated in other foreign
currencies is low. Therefore, no sensitivity
analysis for these currencies is presented.

(i)  Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises from
interest-bearing short-term deposits and bank
borrowings. Short-term deposits and bank
borrowings issued at variable rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Bank
borrowings at fixed rates expose the Group to
fair value interest rate risk.

Other than interest-bearing short-term
deposits, the Group has no other significant
interest-bearing assets. The directors of the
Company do not anticipate there is any
significant impact to interest-bearing assets
resulted from the changes in interest rates,
because the interest rates of short-term
deposits are not expected to change
significantly.

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, the
Group's interest-bearing borrowings at
variable rates and fixed rates were as follows:

R12A31H

As at 31 December
20154 20144
2015 2014
FHERT TET
HKD'000 HKD’000
Borrowings at fixed rate - 76,058
Borrowings at floating rate 23,557 44,125
23,557 120,183
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) Market risk (Continued)
(i)  Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

(Continued)
For the years ended 31 December 2015 and
2014, if the floating interest rate on
borrowings had been higher/lower by 50 basis
points with all other variables held constant,
the post-tax profit would have changed mainly
as a result of higher/lower interest expenses
on floating rate borrowings. Details of changes
are as follows:

M®12H831H
As at 31 December
2015 F 2014 4

2015 2014
TR TAT
HKD’000 HKD’000

ORi) /1 m
— EFS0EES
— TF& 50 fEIZEE

HZE2015F % 20145124
BMALEFE  MEXRNE
T _EF /T B 50 8 £
B MATBEMESHER
T ERONATESS
BH FEHRTEBMER
WA BB EF S RBRET
B BLFIBWT ¢

(Decrease)/increase
— 50 basis points higher (95) (165)
— 50 basis points lower 95 165

For the years ended 31 December 2015 and
2014, if the fixed interest rate on borrowings
had been higher/lower by 50 basis points with
all other variables held constant, the fair value
of the borrowings would have changed mainly
as a result of higher/lower interest expenses
on fixed rate borrowings. Details of changes
are as follows:

M®12H31H
As at 31 December
2015 F 2014 4

2015 2014
TR TAT

G /$Ehn
— FFS0EES
— TB& 50 B2

HAHEEREBERARF 20155#H 106

HKD’000 HKD’000

(Decrease)/increase
— 50 basis points higher - (50)
— 50 basis points lower - 50




S OtEAFEHRFRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

by o =gd

Bt 765 R Bk R 3% (4

(a)

(b)

WO FWHF
mﬁ$%lkﬁ“@ﬁﬁ
R EIAEZE RN SR
BERAHHESRMEE
MR E - AL B HERER
[\ B o 7K & [ 3 4 [ e 7S
mn BARE R o

BEE AT AR & 3R
LEHRSBEAZAFET
AEBSENES/mEERA
HHEESHEENERLR
B B TE o W ANEE @ AT
BEATENABZENS
BMEENAFELFA T
[%£5% @ Bl 8 £2015F &
201412 A31H Ikt F E
R R & FEE DR £

Tt/ B #9162,0008 7T &
156,000 7T © fii A 5 B B
BAHHEEMEEN
NFEELEFH TR
BIEZ= 2015 F & 20145 12
A3MBLEFEMNEMES
W5 » Bl EF IR
2,377,000 Jt K 365,000
AT

w/\
1= Bz B

CHEREBELAEIER

ZREIBE - WITAERR %W%
R HAh R YSKOR (T B R
HFR)  BAHEIABERNE
RMEERAEHESREE - &
REERBRIAHEERBRMA
FIM R BEERNREE -

REIER  XRHIRE RBITE
BONEERRER  BAHFH
REARBEBRIFHERTT -
BERETBEREREERSEER
RN RMEE -

3.
3.1

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) Market risk (Continued)

(i) Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk because of
investments held by the Group, which are
classified as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss and available-for-sale
financial assets. The Group is not exposed to

commodity price risk.

The sensitivity analysis is determined based on
the exposure to price risk of the financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss and
available-for-sale financial assets at the end of
each reporting period. If the fair values of the
financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss held by the Group had been 5% higher/
lower, post-tax profit would be approximately,
HKD162,000 and HKD 156,000 higher/lower,
for the years ended 31 December 2015 and
2014, respectively. If the fair values of the
available-for-sale financial assets held by the
Group had been 5% higher/lower, the other
comprehensive income would be

approximately HKD2,377,000,

and

HKD365,000 higher/lower, for the years ended

31 December 2015 and 2014, respectively.

(b)  Credit risk

Credit risk mainly arises from short-term deposits,
restricted cash, bank balances, trade and other
receivables excluding prepayments, financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss and available-for-
sale financial assets. The maximum exposure to
credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of
each financial asset in the consolidated balance

sheets.

The credit risk of short-term deposits, restricted
cash and bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are state-owned or reputable
commercial banks which are high-credit-quality

financial institutions in the PRC and Hong Kong.
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=k
3.1

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Credit risk (Continued)

In respect of trade receivables, individual credit
evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These
evaluations focus on the customers’ past history of
making payment when due and current ability to
pay, and take into account information specific to
the customer. The Group does not obtain collateral
from customers. In the opinion of the directors of
the Company, the default risk is considered to be
low.

For other receivables excluding prepayments,
management makes periodic collective assessments
as well as individual assessment on the
recoverability of other receivables based on
historical settlement records and past experience.
The directors of the Company believe that there is
no material credit risk inherent in the Group’s
outstanding balance of other receivables.

The credit risk on financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss and available-for-sale financial
assets is limited because the counterparties are
reputable and creditworthy banks.

Liquidity risk

The Group aims to maintain sufficient cash and cash
equivalents. Due to the dynamic nature of the
underlying businesses, the Group’s finance
department maintains flexibility in funding by
maintaining adequate cash and cash equivalents.
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3. UHEREBREE@) 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 HHEBREZEE) 3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(c) BN (&) (c)  Liquidity risk (Continued)
TRODASEESHE BRRHEE The table below analyses the Group's financial
HEZGH2H B O SHE S liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on
PRAE A 9 2 BB AR RIAEAT D AT © & the remaining period at the balance sheet date to

AR BESR/ANARMARS

— the contractual maturity date. The amounts
ILE °

disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows.

SME 1228 225F 5ENE st

Less than Between Between Over

1year 1and2years 2andS5 years 5 years Total
TET TR TET TET TET
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000

R2015512831H At 31 December 2015

fEsk (REMAL) Borrowings (principal
plus interest) 17,666 1,564 4,164 2,111 25,505
FE(TER T R AL A AT Trade and other payables
R (TR (excluding advances
RPEMNFEREM received from customers
e HE) and other taxes payable) 366,507 - - - 366,507
act Total 384,173 1,564 4,164 2,111 392,012

R2014%512831H At 31 December 2014

fEF (A2 M E) Borrowings (principal
plus interest) 113,778 1,756 6,083 2,242 123,859
FE(TER SR E A R T Trade and other payables
R (T REENR (excluding advances
RPRATEREM received from customers
e HE) and other taxes payable) 480,565 14,228 - = 494,793
@t Total 594,343 15,984 6,083 2,242 618,652
3.2 &EFXRERE 3.2 Capital management
AEBEEREAN B IZRREANEERE The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
FHBRE  URBERBRE R REM safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
NS E R E AR Az - WA RIEEN concern in order to provide returns to the shareholders
BAREEARIEERKAK o and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.
B R A NRNE - ANEE T AL In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
BN TFERAOBEEE  MARRER Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to the
BAR BITHRODSEHEEENRDE shareholders, return capital to the shareholders, issue new
7& o shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
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3.3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Capital management (Continued)

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is
calculated as net debt divided by total equity. Net debt is
calculated as total borrowings (including ‘current and
non-current borrowings’ as shown in the consolidated
balance sheet) less cash and cash equivalents.

As the Group's cash and cash equivalents balances
exceeded its borrowings balances at the end of each
reporting period, the directors of the Company consider
the Group's capital risk is low.

Fair value estimation

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at
fair value, by valuation method. The different levels have
been defined as follows:

. Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

o Inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is,
derived from prices) (level 2).

o Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs) (level 3).
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

The following table presents the Group's assets that are

measured at fair value at 31 December 2015:

F1R

Level 1

E28R
Level 2
THET
HKD'000

TER
HKD'000

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
— Non-quoted investment
in key-man life

E3IR @gt
Level 3 Total
TR FTHER
HKD'000 HKD’000

insurance policies - - 3,877 3,877
Available-for-sale financial

assets
— Quoted investments in

certain bond funds 49,027 - - 49,027
— Non-quoted investments

in certain bond funds - - 7,899 7,899

49,027 - 11,776 60,803

The following table presents the Group's assets that are

measured at fair value at 31 December 2014:

N
Level 1

E2%
Level 2
THEL
HKD'000

TAT
HKD'000

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
— Non-quoted investment
in key-man life
insurance policies -
Available-for-sale financial
assets
— Non-quoted investments
in certain bond funds - -

F35 FeE
Level 3 Total
TET TAT
HKD'000 HKD’000

- 3,735 3,735
8,734 8,734
- - 12,469 12,469

Asiaray Media Group Limited

2015 Annual Report 111



ESOtEAFRERZRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. MBEREE@ 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.3 AFEREE#E) 3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)
ik —IE S % TH & A e A Siis 0 JEEL A AT If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
BRMGEE - BIZTEBASEIH - observable market data, the instrument is included in
level 3.
FIRREIRANTFEERD F 2HEIL There were no significant transfers of financial assets
BERNCREESER o between level 1 and level 3 fair value hierarchy
classifications.
TXRE5EHZE2015F K20145F 12 8 The following table presents the changes in level 3
B IFFEMNEIRTEMNEL - instruments for the year ended 31 December 2015 and
2014:

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December
2015 F 2014 4

2015 2014
TR TAT
HKD’000 HKD’000

FAEAEASRENKRE : Investment in key-man life insurance policies:

®1B1H At 1 January 3,735 2,697
NE Additions 587 586
ATE(E8), Fair value (losses)/gains (445) 452
M12A31H At 31 December 3,877 3,735
RIREFR [EM Total (losses)/gains included in profit or loss

(BB), s F5) for assets held at the end of the reporting

BN EET ABEAN year, under ‘other (losses)/gains, net’

(B18), e @ (445) 452

BZ12A31HILEE
Year ended 31 December

2015 F 2014 4F
2015 2014
THExT TFETT
HKD’000 HKD’'000

ETEHESHNRE Investment in certain bond funds:
®1B18 At 1 January 8,734 8,919
INE Additions 50,000 =
NFEEE Fair value losses (1,808) (185)
MN12831H At 31 December 56,926 8,734

NIREFERAFHEEZT A Total losses included in the other
Hisr A WEERIETIE42%  comprehensive income for assets held at
the end of the reporting year (1,808) (185)
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(a)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Fair value estimation (Continued)

The carrying values less impairment provision of the
current portion of receivables and payables are a
reasonable approximation of their fair values. The fair
value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is
estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows
at the current market interest rate that is available to the
Company for similar financial instruments, unless the
effect of discounting is immaterial. Details of the valuation
technique and significant assumptions utilised in
determining the fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss and available-for-sale financial
assets are set out in Note 11.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Provision for impairment of trade and other
receivables

Impairment of trade and other receivables is made based
on an assessment of the recoverability of trade and other
receivables. The identification of doubtful debts requires
management’s judgment and estimates. Provision is
made when there is objective evidence that the Group
will not be able to collect the debts. Where the actual
outcome or further expectation is different from the
original estimate, such differences will impact the carrying
value of the receivables and the amount of doubtful debt
expenses or write-back of provision for impairment of
receivables in the period in which such estimate has been
changed. Based on the Group’s assessment on the
collectability of trade and other receivables, impairment
provision of approximately HKD24,939,000 and
HKD®9,312,000 was provided against them as at 31
December 2015 and 2014, respectively.
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(b)

(c)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)

Current and deferred income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. There are many transactions and events for
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. Significant judgment is
required from the Group in determining the provision for
income taxes in each of these jurisdictions. Where the
final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.

The Group recognises deferred tax assets based on
estimates that it is probable to generate sufficient taxable
profits in the foreseeable future against which the
deductible losses will be utilised. The recognition of
deferred tax assets mainly involved management’s
judgments and estimations about the timing and the
amount of taxable profits of the companies which had tax
losses.

As at 31 December 2015, the retained earnings of the
Group's PRC subsidiaries not yet remitted to the holding
companies incorporated outside PRC, for which no
deferred tax liability had been provided, were
approximately HKD36,250,000 (2014: HKD169,994,000).
Such earnings are expected to be retained by the PRC
subsidiaries for reinvestment purposes and would not be
remitted to their holding companies incorporated outside
PRC in the foreseeable future based on management’s
estimation of overseas funding requirements.

Consolidation of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries

The directors of the Company have assessed the level of
control on the subsidiaries with non-controlling interests
and considered that the Group has control over these
subsidiaries based on the substantive power to direct the
activities that significantly affect returns over these
subsidiaries.
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(d)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)

Recognition of share-based compensation expenses
The fair values of share options granted are measured on
the grant dates based on the fair value of the underlying
shares. The valuation of the fair values of share options
granted mainly involves management judgments and
estimates about significant inputs subject to volatility,
dividend yield, expected option life and annual risk-free
interest rate etc. In addition, the Group is required to
estimate the expected percentage of grantees that will
remain in employment with the Group or, where
applicable, if the performance conditions for vesting will
be met at the end of the vesting period. The Group only
recognises an expense for those share options expected
to vest over the vesting period during which the grantees
become unconditionally entitled to these share-based
awards. Changes in these estimates and assumptions
could have a material effect on the determination of the
fair value of the share options and the amount of such
share-based awards expected to become vested, which
may in turn significantly impact the determination of the
share-based compensation expenses.

The fair value of share options at the time of grant is to
be expensed over the vesting period of these share-
based awards based on an accelerated graded attribution
approach. Under the accelerated graded attribution
approach, each vesting installment of a graded vesting
award is treated as a separate share-based award, which
means that each vesting installment will be separately
measured and attributed to expense, resulting in
accelerated recognition of share-based compensation
expense.

Based on the fair value of the share-based awards, the
expected attrition rate of grantees and the conditions for
vesting have been met, the corresponding share-based
compensation expense recognised by the Group in
respect of their services rendered for 31 December 2015
was HKD14,854,000 (2014: nil).
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(e)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)

Provision for compensation loss

In October 2015, the Group decided to early terminate
the 10-year concession contract for operation of the
media resources at Ningbo Metro Line. No 1. The owner
of the media resources has informed the Group to
compensate for the loss occurred due to the early
termination of the contract. As at the reporting date, the
management of the Company are still negotiating with
the media resources owner in the arbitration procedure to
agree the amount of the compensation of the early
termination contract. Based on the legal advice from the
Group's PRC legal advisor, the directors of the Company
are of the view that the maximum amount of the
compensation will be one year rental payment of
HKD48,312,000 as at 31 December 2015. The final
amount of the compensation depend on the final
outcome of the arbitration may different with the initially
estimate, such difference will impact the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as
the executive directors of the Company (the “Executive
Directors”). The Executive Directors review the Group's
internal reporting in order to assess performance and
allocate resources. Management has determined the
operating segments based on these reports.

The Executive Directors considered the business from
product perspective, and determined that the Group has
the following operating segments:

— Airports business — operation of advertising
services in airports;

— Metro lines business — operation of advertising
services in metro lines; and

— Billboards and building solutions — operation of
advertising services on billboards and building
solutions.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The chief operating decision-maker assesses the
performance of the operating segments mainly based on
revenue and gross profit of each operating segment. All
of the businesses of the Group were carried out in the
Mainland China and Hong Kong during the year. Selling
and marketing expenses and administrative expenses are
common costs incurred for the operating segments as a
whole and therefore they are not included in the measure
of the segments’ performance which is used by the chief
operating decision-maker as a basis for the purpose of
resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance. Other income, other (losses)/gains, net,
finance income/(costs), net and income tax credit/
(expense) are also not allocated to individual operating
segment.

There were no segment assets and liabilities information
provided to the chief operating decision maker.
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5. Z#ERE 5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
EBREES TN HERET ¢ The segment information for the operating segments is as
follows:

EEER

EE KERIE

HIZ 3T E 3 BE
Billboards

Metro and

Airports lines building

business business  solutions Others Total
THERT TET TET FTHET TET

HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD’000 HKD'000 HKD’000

HZE2015F Year ended

12A831ALEE 31 December 2015
N Revenue 628,957 424,829 160,888 191,619 1,406,293
NI TN Cost of revenue (438,332) (359,883) (146,199) (171,483) (1,115,897)
E7 Gross profit 190,625 64,946 14,689 20,136 290,396

HE RTIHHE Selling and marketing

53 expenses (100,553)
THAX Administrative expenses (166,744)
HaagA Other income 12,758
HipEsig - F8 Other losses, net (52,393)
R EE Operating loss (16,536)
FE WA Finance income 5,576
A& AR Finance costs (3,222)
BEUWA - FEE Finance income, net 2,354
DIERBEAFIR  Share of results of

WEEE investments in

associates 8,177 - - - 8,177
BrFr SR A E 1B Loss before income tax (6,005)
FTiS R & Income tax credit 3,809
FEEE Loss for the year (2,196)
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5.

DEBER (&) 5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

BEEE R

g  AERE

HEI5 3 75 ) BE
Billboards

Metro and

Airports lines building
business business solutions Others Total
T FHET FHET FHEIT FHET
HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000

HZE2014F Year ended

12A3MBLEEE 31 December 2014
WA Revenue 693,527 344,119 174,117 108,923 1,320,686
' NDEN Cost of revenue (390,546) (268,791) (123,276) (92,700) (875,313)
EF Gross profit 302,981 75,328 50,841 16,223 445,373

HE RS E Selling and marketing

Bz expenses (82,231)
TR X Administrative expenses (145,525)
HA Other income 10,013
Hzs - F58 Other gains, net 1,934
R FH Operating profit 229,564
AERA Finance income 6,844
BERA Finance costs (15,746)
REERKA - FEE Finance costs, net (8,902)
DIEREE N EIH)  Share of results of

BEEE investments in

associates (819) - - (819)
B P 5 %4 Al R Profit before income tax 219,843
FRERIFEY Income tax expense (27,531)
EEFE Profit for the year 192,312
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Revenue consisted of the following:

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

20154 20145

2015 2014

FET THET

HKD'000 HKD'000

Advertising display revenue 1,277,497 1,216,834
Advertising production, installation and

dismantling revenue 128,796 103,852

1,406,293 1,320,686

The geographical distribution of the Group's revenue was
as follows:

BZ12831HLEE

Year ended 31 December

2015 F 2014 4F

2015 2014

FHET T

HKD’000 HKD’000

Mainland China 1,098,405 1,017,727
Hong Kong 307,888 302,959
1,406,293 1,320,686

The Group has a large number of customers, none of
whom contributed 10% or more of the Group’s revenue
during the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014.

The Group’s non-current assets other than financial
instruments and deferred income tax assets were located
in the Mainland China and Hong Kong at 31 December
2015 and 2014 as follows:

M12H31H

As at 31 December
2015 F 2014 %
2015 2014
F#&x T
HKD’000 HKD’000
Mainland China 151,633 153,274
Hong Kong 2,735 3,674
154,368 156,948
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6.

M - BEKRE

HZ2014%128318
JI:355

HREFE

ERAMERDEE

EftAE
e

hif5
ERREZE

HRREHE

R2014%512A31R
AR
2FTE

REHE

HZ2015512831R
JI:355
HEEEE

NE

&

e

ERBE R

HAREFE
R2015512A 317
AR

2ETE

REFE

At 1 January 2014
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

Year ended
31 December 2014
Opening net book amount
Transfer from other
non-current assets
Other additions
Depreciation
Disposals
Currency translation differences

Closing net book amount

At 31 December 2014
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

Year ended

31 December 2015
Opening net book amount
Additions
Depreciation
Disposals
Currency translation differences

Closing net book amount

At 31 December 2015
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BEN

Buildings
TEL
HKD'000

RERE

Advertising
fixtures
THL
HKD'000

iV
ES

Leasehold
improvements
TEL
HKD'000

-

Motor
vehicles
T
HKD'000

BRR
WARE
Furniture
and office
equipment
T
HKD'000

@t

Total
THT
HKD'000

- 130,682 3,581 10,128 16,108 160,499

- (75,945) (2,590) (7,229) (10,727) (96,491)

- 54,731 991 2,899 5,381 64,008

- 54,731 991 2,899 5,381 64,008
14,524 - - - - 14,524
4,521 15,155 1,352 972 11,870 33,870
(462) (24,049) (619) (1,187) (2,536) (28,853)

- - - @ (%9) (103)

82 (38) 1 (6) 33 72
18,665 45,805 1,125 2,674 14,649 83,518
19,129 145,648 4,925 10,930 26,702 207,334
(464) (99,843) (3,200) (8,256) (12,053) (123,816)
18,665 45,805 1,725 2,674 14,649 83,518
18,665 45,805 1,725 2,674 14,649 83,518
2 11,796 2,452 921 1,675 16,886
(894) (23,346) (1,077) (1,352) (4,896) (31,565)
- (115) (22) (189) (426) (752)
(1,057) (2,217) (100) (97) (632) (4,103)
16,756 31,923 2,978 1,957 10,370 63,984
18,052 148,369 7,083 11,008 25,997 210,509
(1,296) (116,446 (4,105) (9,051) (15,627)  (146,525)
16,756 31,923 2,978 1,957 10,370 63,984
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6. WX MERRE #®) 6.
FEXHRAHERERERPETIIE
BIFERX :

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
Depreciation charges were expensed in the following
categories in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income:

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2015 20144

2015 2014

FET TAET

HKD’000 HKD'000

I @NB#N Cost of revenue 24,702 23,827
TR Administrative expenses 6,833 4,772
SHE KT i5 HE R 2 Selling and marketing expenses 30 254
31,565 28,853

M 2015412 A 31 B - 212,802,000
7 70 (2014 £ : 14,234,000 7T ) B 12
£ ) £ 58,057,000/ JT(2014 4 :
9,825,0007% 7T ) K $R 1T f& SR A9 48 (B
$21) 0

7. EEIRE 7.

As at 31 December 2015, buildings of net book value of
HKD12,802,000 (2014: HKD14,234,000) was pledged as
security for bank borrowings of HKD8,057,000 (2014:
HKD9,825,000) (Note 21).

CONSTRUCTION-IN-PROGRESS

BZ12A31MBLLEE
Year ended 31 December
2015 F

20144
2014
F&T
HKD'000

2015
FTERT
HKD’000

RED At beginning of the year = _
NE Additions 17,460 -
BEEmE = Currency translation differences (684) -
REK At end of the year 16,776 -

AEBER2015FEMRENERTZ
AHE TR 2 BB R M35 — SR VAIE Y

& 45 R o

HEHEREBERAR 20155H 122

The additions of construction-in-progress in 2015
represented the costs incurred for the construction of
advertising facilities in Zhengzhou Xinzheng International
Airport Terminal 2 of the Group.



ESOtEAFEERZRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

8.

1 i fsF FA#E 8. LAND USE RIGHTS

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2015 2014 4F
2015 2014
FET TR
HKD’'000 HKD'000
BRYIRREDFE Opening net book amount 16,935 _
EaHMIEREEE Transfer from other non-current assets - 17,039
By Amortisation (421) (178)
EBBREEE Currency translation differences (931) 74
HARBR M F(E Closing net book amount 15,583 16,935
R12A31R

As at 31 December
2015 20144
2015 2014
TFE T FAT
HKD’000 HKD’000
DN Cost 16,155 17,114
e i Accumulated amortisation (572) (179)
BRTEFE Net book amount 15,583 16,935

H E2015F M 2014512318 IEF
B BHEBTRITERASRIIERS -

+ b AR A R B K BE - WIEE A ©
2015412 A31 B - 215,583,000
7 70 (2014 4F : 16,935,000/ 7T ) B9 £ 3
# F 4 1& /58,057,000 JT(20144F :
9,825,000/ 7T ) FYERFT & SR A9 AR (I 5%
21) °

Amortisation charges were expensed in administrative
expenses during the years ended 31 December 2015 and
2014.

Land use rights are located in the Mainland China and for
self-use. As at 31 December 2015, land use rights of
HKD15,583,000 (2014: HKD16,935,000) was pledged as
security for bank borrowings of HKD8,057,000 (2014:
HKD?,825,000) (Note 21).
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9. REWHE

MR2014F1818
R AN
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FREHE

HZE2014512A31BLEE
BIIBREFE

e

B EER

HREREH{E

MA2014%12H31H8
R AN
2 E

FREDHE

HE2015F12A31HLFE
BN R E B

e

Bl E

HRARTE B
MA2015%12H31H
AR

2FHE

BREFE

B ZE 20154 R2014% 12 A31 8 1L 4
B EXHRITRAX R IIIERY -

R2015412 A31 8 WEKBHNRE
)2 (2014 4F : #K 1 786,0007% 7T K 1%
B W) ¥ {E 526,620,000 7T B SR 1T 5
FREQHEAR) (HfzE21) ©
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9. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

WAOEN

Office units

T

HKD’'000

At 1 January 2014

Cost 1,979
Accumulated depreciation (1,097)
Net book amount 882

Year ended 31 December 2014

Opening net book amount 882
Depreciation (93)
Currency translation differences (3)
Closing net book amount 786

At 31 December 2014

Cost 1,973
Accumulated depreciation (1,187)
Net book amount 786

Year ended 31 December 2015

Opening net book amount 786
Depreciation (92)
Currency translation differences (42)
Closing net book amount 652

At 31 December 2015

Cost 1,857
Accumulated depreciation (1,205)
Net book amount 652

Depreciation charges were expensed in administrative
expenses during the year ended 31 December 2015 and
2014.

As at 31 December 2015, no investment properties was
pledged. (2014: investment properties of HKD786,000
were pledged as security for bank borrowings of
HKD26,620,000) (Note 21).
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9.
(a)

BEWE &) 9. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
REZPERNREYESE (a) Amounts recognised in profit or loss for investment
properties

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December
2015 F 20144

2015 2014
TR TAT
HKD’000 HKD’000

KEMENES WA (K7327) Rental income from investment

properties (Note 27) 169 171
EERSWANEEYEESER  Direct operating expenses arising from
HEELERY investment properties that generate
rental income (92) (93)
77 78
M 20154 K 2014412 B31H - K& As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, the Group had no un-
B 1R k1 46 (5 T 4 S T 1 S B provided contractual obligations for future repairs and
AUETL o maintenance.
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9. REWHEW

(b) MHEE=ZH
BREMFRUNTBEARE - 2 RIRERH
ANESFRLEENEETES - B
EERBAXN - REMETABHEKE
HEBRTHERSERSIOT

(b)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Leasing arrangements

The investment properties are located in the Mainland
China and leased to tenants under operating leases of
approximately 1 to 5 years with rental payable monthly.
Minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases of investment properties are receivable
as follows:

R12A31R
As at 31 December
20154 20144
2015 2014
THERT TR
HKD’'000 HKD'000
15K Within one year 100 183
FRiR 1 FEERERIA S Later than one year but not later than
= 106
100 289

() BREVENATE

R2015F K2014F 128310 A&
EHNREDERNTFEI NN B
6,557,0007% JT(A K ¥5,493,0007T )
16,381,000 t( A R #5,346,000
JL)  THRARREELBBIAER
BEGHEMIE AR REEETHERE
TARBETHGHERT - GERBERE
LEBURETT - WBRR AW EAIRIERE
HAOFUEMFRERRTREEE -
R 2B ERMMS Rl AT HER
5 WEMENAFEFEHEFEAR
FEEHRFHEIR -
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(c)

Fair value of investment properties

The fair value of the Group's investment properties was
approximately HKD6,557,000 (RMB5,493,000) and
HKD6,381,000 (RMB5,346,000) as at 31 December 2015
and 2014, respectively, as determined by the directors of
the Company with reference to the valuation performed
by Beijing Zhong Tian Hua Asset Appraisal Company
Limited St R P XREBEEFBHBHREE 2 A, an
independent qualified professional valuer. Valuation was
performed using the direct comparison method on the
assumption that the property can be sold in its existing
state subjected to existing tenancies or otherwise with the
benefit of vacant possession and making references to
comparable sales transactions as available in the relevant
market. The fair value measurement of the investment
properties is categorised within level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy.
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10. B EE
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10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

At 1 January 2014
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Net book amount

Year ended 31 December 2014
Opening net book amount
Additions

Amortisation

Currency translation differences

Closing net book amount

At 31 December 2014
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Net book amount

Year ended 31 December 2015
Opening net book amount
Additions

Amortisation

Currency translation differences

Closing net book amount

At 31 December 2015
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Net book amount

BB
Computer
software

TAET
HKD’000

1,946
(894)

1,052

1,052
285
(276)

1,061

2,231
(1,170)

1,061

1,061

496
(312)
(58)

1,187

2,587
(1,400)

1,187

Amortisation charges were expensed in administrative
expenses during the year ended 31 December 2015 and

2014.
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1. BATFEIAEZENS®E 11. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
ERAHEHESRERE PROFIT OR LOSS AND AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE

(a) BRLOFEIANEZRNERMEE

REL]
NE
RIBmERNAFE

(&), Was (Kt 28)

REL  HRFERBRFELS

BATEIAERRNSREER/MD
BMRABABRE - AREARENT
‘A - BRABASRENRELYIE
ERBAFEIABRENESREE °
BATEINABRRNEREERFE
ME B AGZEKERT A [ Eb (&

18),Wa o FHE] -

EEREMRAEASRENREND
FERRKAUBRASRE ([MRALR
BDEA - WRBREREEAEANE

REBRRBABENT

A mp:s
B3
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FINANCIAL ASSETS

(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December
2015 &

2014 4F
2015 2014
FE&xT T 7T
HKD’'000 HKD'000

At beginning of the year 3,735 2,697
Additions 587 586
Fair value (losses)/gains recognised in

profit or loss (Note 28) (445) 452
At end of the year, all non-current
and unlisted 3,877 3,735

The financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
represented two key-man life insurance policies. The
Group is the beneficiary of the insurance policies. The
investments in key-man life insurance policies were
designated as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss at inception. Changes in fair values of financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss are recorded in
‘other (losses)/gains, net’ in the statement of
comprehensive income.

Discounted cash flow (“DCF"”) model was applied to
determine the fair value of the investments in key-man life
insurance policies. The significant assumptions and inputs
used in the DCF model were as follows:

M®12A31H
As at 31 December
2014 5

2015 £
2015 2014

Mortality adjustment 90% 66%
Discount rate 3.50% 3.50%
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1. BAFEIANEZRENERE 11. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
ERAHHESRERE (&) PROFIT OR LOSS AND AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE
FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)
(b)y THHESHREE (b) Available-for-sale financial assets

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2015 F 20144

2015 2014

TET FET

HKD’'000 HKD'000

REHD At beginning of the year 8,734 8,919

NE Additions 50,000 -
REAARE W R Fair value losses recognised in other

NEEE comprehensive income (1,808) (185)

REL HRFERBRFELS

At end of the year, all non-current
and unlisted 56,926 8,734

AhESREERS TREKIFRE
BEFEE - REXHUERENAFET
ERNRITAMRENEE - BEFE2CK
RTPRITERSAARERLE TREN
B ARBEERR - ERRITREH
ZHRENEFATHEBARE  AR&EE
BARRAENAGE

BAHENARRRO SR EE R A
HESRMEESHNETIIE -

RS AR EN R EERR AR
DNFHEFIABSRNSREE KA HH
EEREENRAE -

The available-for-sale financial assets represented certain
quoted and unquoted bond funds. The fair values of
these traded investments are based on the statements
provided by the bank. The bond funds were pledged to
the bank as securities for certain facilities granted to the
Group. The directors of the Company believe that the
estimated fair values based on the statements provided
by the bank are reasonable, and that they are the most
appropriate values at the balance sheet date.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and
available-for-sale financial assets are denominated in
HKD.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting
date is the carrying value of the financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss and available-for-sale financial
assets.
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12. REHESHNERMIA

R2015%F12831H

JE MR BR e L R MR IE
(MeERATREN
HbFB30E)

BN TENABRER
SREE
AHHESREE

RRERE
EEEER N
BekBeEEY

R2014%12831H
JEM BR S e At PR U IR
(T BREEMFEM
Hin a1 08)
BATEY A BEIER

TREE
AN ESRHEE

RRERE

R
RehREEEY

A HEEREBERAF

2015F 3%

At 31 December 2015

Trade and other receivables
excluding prepaid taxes and
other prepayments

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Available-for-sale financial
assets

Restricted cash

Short-term deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

At 31 December 2014

Trade and other receivables
excluding prepaid taxes and
other prepayments

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Available-for-sale financial
assets

Restricted cash

Short-term deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

L £/953
WK

Loans and
receivables
TET
HKD'000

BRATLEFIA
BEIRN
CRMEE
Financial

assets

at fair value
through
profit or loss
FET
HKD'000

L&
SREE

Available-
for-sale
financial
assets
TAT
HKD'000

12. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

Total
THT
HKD'000

477,902 - - 477,902

- 3,877 - 3,877

- - 56,926 56,926
81,807 - - 81,807
114,757 - - 114,757
241,946 - - 241,946
916,412 3,877 56,926 977,215
323,463 - - 323,463

- 3,735 - 3,735

_ - 8,734 8,734
80,968 - - 80,968
194,136 - - 194,136
135,630 - - 135,630
734,197 3,735 8,734 746,666
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12. BERHETHES/MITEE)

A 201512 A31H

EE

JE A< BR R e LA B A< IR
(TEEEREFEMNFTER
Ef e RIR)

R2014512H31H

&K

JRE A5 AR R % LAt A 50R
(TBREERFFPEMNKEAR
H At BB IR)

12. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(Continued)

At 31 December 2015

Borrowings

Trade and other payables excluding advance
received from customers and other
taxes payable

At 31 December 2014

Borrowings

Trade and other payables excluding advance
received from customers and other
taxes payable

Asiaray Media Group Limited

BEERAE
ARRHEE

Liabilities at

amortised cost
FET
HKD'000

23,557

366,507

390,064

120,183

494,793

614,976
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13. REEE QTN E 13.

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

BZ12H8318LEE/

R12H31H
Year ended/As at 31 December
2015 2014 5
2015 2014
FET FAET
HKD’000 HKD’000
F4] At beginning of the year 36,442 66,444
AE Capital injections - 514
JEIR 4 Share of results 8,177 (819)
oy & — M E AR Partial disposal of an associate - (12,013)
R 8 Dividend (4,068) (19,248)
BEmE =R Currency translation differences (2,613) 1,564
FR At end of the year 37,938 36,442

MR2014F 108 - EEHRTHERERR
AR BBt BEFMAEEE
BRAR(TEMAEDET —HER
IRrEE R R R — D EERR RS ([Z
Wl c BEZSHE - LTS
AR 812,959,000 T( A B #
10,857,000 7T) & H @ @Ik A HEf+
HEABRESARAE ([REKAHEL
BDM19%BAE=TEMAE £
YE R AIAMEE B8 R SERK E il
EEHA WEREZEKARTHER
2014 6 A30 A AR B & FI 89 49% 1
RIRE - Ll BEFEHE R 2014512
A 3187 - WE AWz 491,743,000
L (MIE28) o FERK Ll HE B TEE -
EERAHISAREINIELEI0%
MR A HEzs o

BEzZSEHE BEKIELTE
R2014F 6 A30B49%H & B & 7
(#4718,204,0007 70 (AR # 15,251,000
7)) (FIEE16() EERREBEIR T LS
M - WRERNB B EIRITH R
BERZHERTREKMIELLE - EA
HEEEKNES - ZBEEEARER
EIE - BEIAE - REZSHE @
BRI G AREIIESS
AT ([EEKAES]) o

HOEEEEERRAT  2015F®H 132

In October 2014, Shanghai Asiaray Advertising Company
Limited (“Shanghai Asiaray”) entered into a formal equity
transfer agreement and a related supplemental
agreement with Xiamen Iport Group Co., Ltd. (EFI1%
£ B B R 2 A ("Xiamen Iport”) (the “Agreements”).
Pursuant to the Agreements, Shanghai Asiaray disposed
of 19% of equity interest in Fujian Zhaoxiang Asiaray
Advertising Company Limited (@ JEFEC RS E S
AR A]) (“Fujian Zhaoxiang Asiaray”) to Xiamen Iport at
a consideration of HKD 12,959,000 (RMB10,857,000) and
Shanghai Asiaray was to receive 49% of the retained
earnings of Fujian Zhaoxiang Asiaray as at 30 June 2014
as dividends upon declaration and before the completion
of the above disposal. The above disposal had been
completed as at 31 December 2014 and resulted in a
gain of approximately HKD1,743,000 (Note 28). After the
completion of the above disposal, Shanghai Asiaray holds
30% equity interest in Fujian Zhaoxiang Asiaray.

Pursuant to the Agreements, approximately
HKD18,204,000 (RMB15,251,000) (Note 16(f))
representing 49% of the retained earnings of Fujian
Zhaoxiang Asiaray as at 30 June 2014 was declared as
dividends to Shanghai Asiaray, which was immediately
loaned to Fujian Zhaoxiang Asiaray through entrusted
loan arrangement with commercial banks for funding its
business expansion. This loan is interest-free, unsecured
and has a term of six years. Pursuant to the Agreements,
Fujian Zhaoxiang Asiaray was also renamed as Fujian
Zhaoxiang Advertising Company Limited (& & K H & &
BBR A 7A]) (“Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising”).
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13. REEERRAINKRE W)

LA AR EE7)20154F 12 A 31 B 895
BNE e NIBERARMAEEHEER
A HaMKZBRIABEEZEEH
2 o

BEELR

Name of entity

REKARS
Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising

ERRREFEAERAR
(TRATER))

Guangxi Top Source Media
Company Limited
(RAERRESREARAR)
(“Guangxi Top Source”)

RIS BB HEBR AT
(TRYm et )

Shenzhen Airport Asiaray Media
Company Limited
(RIIBE R RERERAR)
(“Shenzhen Airport Asiaray”)

=LA L B

20064 A 29 H
29 April 2006

201256201

20 June 2012

201359 H29H

29 September 2013

13.

Date of incorporation

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Set out below were the associates of the Group as at 31
December 2015. The associates as listed below were held
directly by the Group, their country of incorporation is
also their principal place of business.

g/

MR LB R FAERERLS RBME

Place of business/ Percentage of

country of ownership  Nature of
incorporation interest  business

i 0% MERLLFIHNREHRE
The PRC 30%  Development and

operations of out-of-home
advertising media

thE 40% FEREEFPINESRE
The PRC 40%  Development and

operations of out-of-home
advertising media

i 49% RERBLFINRERE

The PRC 49%  Development and
operations of out-of-home
advertising media

ZEBERRRAEENREA(ER
o REEEPBETARBmHES T
BHIEE

BERNB2HAB/LART » BRI EA
BhiE - EABEAKEREZ QAN
BENEANSREE  BBEQAEE
BEXBNEAKETTEEXRG

E xR R EE S N B I E R
o HEXEWIBAAARERERN
R XX A BRI Em K

ARBEERR  REIRARES R
WEHTREAKEMEBEKN  ME
AIRRHAKERIAL REK -

These associates are strategic partners of the Group,
providing access to new customers and markets in
different cities in PRC.

All of the associates are private companies and there are
no market values available for the associates. There are
no significant contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s
interests in the associates and there are no significant
restrictions on the transfer of assets or earnings from the
associates to the Group.

The English names of the above associates referred to
above represented the best efforts by management of
the Company in translating their Chinese names, as they
do not have official English names.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, Fujian
Zhaoxiang Advertising and Shenzhen Airport Asiaray are
material to the Group, while Guangxi Top Source is
immaterial to the Group.
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13. REEERTNRE (&) 13. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
(a) FEEEAREGHUBENHE: (@) Summarised financial information for Fujian Zhaoxiang
Advertising:
(i) BEBEXETE (i) Summarised balance sheet
M®12H31H
As at 31 December
2015 £ 2014 4F
2015 2014
THET TFET
HKD'000 HKD’'000
B Current
BE Assets 88,496 107,106
=L Liabilities (98,488) (107,919)
REEEFEA Total net current liabilities (9,992) (813)
EFE Non-current
BE Assets 51,771 61,069
=L Liabilities (8,415) (9,930)
FREBEEFELS Total net non-current assets 43,356 51,139
EEFE Net assets 33,364 50,326
(i) AE (EE) W& HE (i) Summarised statement of comprehensive (loss)/

income

BZ12A3MBLLEE
Year ended 31 December

2015 2014 4F

2015 2014

T FAT

HKD'000 HKD'000

WA Revenue 163,250 207,955
FZ (E8),/ FEREE (Loss)/profit and total

(BR), W sE comprehensive (loss)/income
for the year (14,595) 1,289

HEHEEREBERAR 20155#H 134
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13. REEERRINKRE W) 13. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
(a) BEEIBEENHBERME: (&) (a) Summarised financial information for Fujian Zhaoxiang
Advertising: (Continued)
(i) BB ERBEE R (i) Reconciliation of summarised financial information
B 2 51| 01 76 & L B K £ B A Reconciliation of the summarised financial
BEKIIESNESEmEYE information presented to the carrying amount of the
NN Group's interest in Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising is
as follows:

BZE12H8318LEE

M12H31H
Year ended/As at 31 December
2015 2014 %
2015 2014
FE T AT
HKD’000 HKD’000
FHNEEFRE Net assets at beginning of the year 50,326 88,719
F[Z (E8), /B (Loss)/profit for the year (14,595) 1,289
=N Dividend - (39,281)
EinE = Currency translation differences (2,367) (401)
FREEFE Closing net assets 33,364 50,326
B A Al R (30%) Interest in the associate (30%) 10,009 15,098
R Goodwill 4,259 4,523
BREIE Carrying value 14,268 19,621
(b) SEYIBEIBTEH 4 M IS SRR E (b) Summarised financial information for Shenzhen Airport
Asiaray:
() RBEBEXEHE ()  Summarised balance sheet
R12H31H
As at 31 December
2015 2014
2015 2014
FE T FATT
HKD’000 HKD’000
RE Current
BE Assets 134,187 131,981
BfE Liabilities (93,242) (110,879)
REBEEFEA Total net current assets 40,945 21,102
IERED Non-current
BiE Assets 15,970 13,227
kB EEFEAR Total net non-current assets 15,970 13,227
EEFE Net assets 56,915 34,329
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13. REBEERFANRE#) 13. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
(b) FYHSHALENNBERME : (&) (b) Summarised financial information for Shenzhen Airport
Asiaray: (Continued)
(i)  ARENEREE (i)  Summarised statement of comprehensive income

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2015 2014

2015 2014

FET FH&TT

HKD’'000 HKD'000

WA Revenue 408,344 307,377

FEME R Profit and total comprehensive

e income for the year 34,232 423

(i) BB EFBES R (i)  Reconciliation of summarised financial information
27 E R BEEAERR Reconciliation of the summarised financial
FIHIS R EY information presented to the carrying amount of the
BRAAT ¢ Group’s interest in Shenzhen Airport Asiaray is as

follows:

BZE12H8318LEE

R12A31R
Year ended/As at 31 December
20154 20145
2015 2014
THERT THBT
HKD'000 HKD’000
FYEEFRE Net assets at beginning of the year 34,329 32,853
F R Profit for the year 34,232 423
B & Dividend (8,640) 1,046
B E =R Currency translation differences (3,006) 7
FREEFE Closing net assets 56,915 34,329
B2 N B O RE RS (49%) Interest in the associate (49%) 27,888 16,821
H b TR (%) Other adjustments (¥) (4,218) -
BREE Carrying value 23,670 16,821
L B 22015128318 Lt * Other adjustments mainly represented
FE HMFAE S elimination of upstream transaction between
S B 7R 31 4 15 T 1 4 MR Shenzhen Airport Asiaray and Shenzhen Yashi
IFEAIE AR 2 7 ([ FE Metro Company Limited (“Yashi Metro”) (73]l
L3 | - H 55% M % i HEAIW B AR A F]), whose 55% equity interest
RY ST EIERTE) was directly held by Shenzhen Airport Asiaray
B R SFRIE o for the year ended 31 December 2015.
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13. REEERRAINKRE W) 13.

(c)

EAERNSBEEMBENT : (c)

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
Summarised financial information for Guangxi Top
Source:

BZ128318LEE/

MW12A31H
Year ended/As at 31 December
2015F 2014 %
2015 2014
F#&T T
HKD'000 HKD’'000
SR BHREF 2BEEE Carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements - =
WA Revenue 55,463 36,878
FE(h BB K& B R A RR Share of loss and total comprehensive
loss - =

MR2015%F K2014F 128318 R E
AERNEERAERLES BAR
SEEMEBBEBLERERTBRAE
75 o JE{HET18 7,654,000 7 7T I A& FA &
Z 201512 A31 B It FE#R (2014
£F 5,391,000/ 7T) °

The carrying amount of the investment in Guangxi Top
Source was reduced to nil as at 31 December 2015 and
2014 as the Group's share of loss had exceeded its
interest in Guangxi Top Source. Share of loss
HKD7,654,000 was not recognised for the year ended 31
December 2015 (2014: HKD5,391,000).
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14. B2 F

14. SUBSIDIARIES

T3 AR2015F12 A31 B2 X BB

AR ¢

Company name

FLAREREE:

Directly held by the Company:

Tt G ERERARAR

Asiaray Media Holdings Limited

ALAERNE

Indirectly held by the Company:

Asiaray Metro Media Limited
Asiaray Metro Media Limited

Tt RERRARAR

Asiaray Advertising Media Limited

Asiaray Outdoor Media Limited
Asiaray Outdoor Media Limited

Asiaray Megamedia Limited
(1% Genesis Signmaker
And Construction Limited)

Asiaray Megamedia Limited

(formerly known as Genesis Signmaker

And Construction Limited)

Genesis Printing And Production Limited

Genesis Printing And Production Limited

& ESERAT
Asiaray Advertising Limited

BERMAREARAT

Hong Kong Asiaray Advertising Limited

G REERAR
Asiaray Media Limited

A HEEREBERAF

e 5
RiEERERY

Place of incorporation
and kind of
legal entity

&% BRAMLR
Hong Kong, limited
liability company

&% BREMLH
Hong Kong, limited liability
company

&% ARALAT
Hong Kong, limited liability
company

% BRELAR
Hong Kong, limited liability
company

-

&% BRERLH

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

&% BRAMAR

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

& BRRLAR
Hong Kong, limited liability
company

&% BRAMLR
Hong Kong, limited liability
company

EE ARELAR
Hong Kong, limited liability
company

20154 % 138

TEEHA
LESE

Principal activities and
place of operation

RERR ZBRXHES
Investment holding, BVI

PHEERRRE B
Out-of-home advertising
media services, Hong Kong

PHESRRRE
Out-of-home advertising
media services, Hong Kong

PAREHERY 24
Out-of-home advertising
media services, Hong Kong

&t B BT
R#ERY 2

Design, consultancy,
construction and
maintenance services,
Hong Kong

REEE REA
e 25

Advertising, production,
installation and dismantling
services, Hong Kong

TR BR

Inactive, Hong Kong

REBR BE
Investment holding,
Hong Kong

PESRERY &4
Out-of-home advertising
media services, Hong Kong

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries as at 31

December 2015.

BRTRE
REBESHE

817
EREAN

EBRILAI)

Proportion of

Particulars of issued
share capital and
debt securities by

50,0007 70
HKDS0,000

187

HKD1

2,500,007
HKD2,500,000

10,0007
HKD10,000

10,0007

HKD10,000

10,0007

HKD10,000

10,0007
HKD10,000

9.900%7
HKD9,900

1027
HKD10

ordinary shares
directly held

parent (%)

100%
100%

ARERAN
EERILHI)

Proportion of
ordinary shares
held by

the Group (%)

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%
100%

FiR
REREN
BRI %)
Proportion of
ordinary shares
held by
non-controlling
interests (%)

AEEREN
BARILHI)
Proportion of
preference shares
held by

the

Group (%)
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14. B AR (&)

Company name

LigkitE
Shanghai Asiaray Limited

LERREREERERAA

Shanghai Meidlisi Advertising Media
Company Limited
(LEXUSREERERAR)

HIRLEEEARAA
Zhejiang Asiaray Advertising Company
Limited (T REERAA)

MIEREEERAT
Shenzhen Yatie Advertising Company
Limited (RHIEEEEERAT)

LERERRERERAT
Shanghai Advertising Media Company
Limited (LR RS BRARAR)

EMELEEEARAA
Guangzhou Asiaray Advertising Company
Limited (RN EEESARAR)

SREAEMREEARERAA

Yunnan Airport Asiaray Information Media
Company Limited (*Yunnan Airport
Asiaray’) (EREBRAEEEER
BRAA)

R RRERAA
Shenzhen Asiaray Advertising Company
Limited (RYEARBEBRAT)

BRRTEREARAA
Hainan Asiaray Advertising Company
Limited (SERLBESERAR)

FAE
Yashi Metro

RBELEREERAA

Chengdu Asiaray Advertising Company
Limited (“Chengdu Asiaray”)
(TR EEZERAR)

IREAEEEARAA
Beijing Asiaray Advertising Company Ltd.
(ERELRREERAA)

R AR
RiEERERY

Place of incorporation
and kind of
legal entity

HE - BREFAR
The PRC, limited liability
company

e AREAAA
The PRC, limited liability
company

nE - BREFAR
The PRC, limited liability
company

e ARERAR
The PRC, limited liability
company

hE - BRAELR
The PRC, limited liability
company

nE - BREFAR
The PRC, limited liability
company

e ARERAR
The PRC, limited liability
company

hE - ERELAR
The PRC, limited liability
company

mE - BREELR
The PRC, limited liability
company

hE - BRERRA
The PRC, limited liability
company

hE - ERELAR
The PRC, limited liability
company

nE - BREFAR
The PRC, limited liability
company

14.

BRTEE
REBESHE

Particulars of issued
share capital and
debt securities

Principal activities and
place of operation

FAMEERERE P& ABRH50,000,0007

Out-of-home advertising RMB50,000,000
media services, the PRC

PAMEERERRS w8 AR 2,365,530

QOut-of-home advertising RMB2,365,530
media services, the PRC

FAMEERERE P& ABRH5,000,0007

Out-of-home advertising RMB5,000,000
media services, the PRC

FAEERRRE w8 AR 1,000,000

QOut-of-home advertising RMB1,000,000
media services, the PRC

PABEEERE AR 400000007

Out-of-home advertising RMB40,000,000
media services, the PRC

FAMEERERE P& ARH1,030,0007

Out-of-home advertising RMB1,030,000
media services, the PRC

FAEERRRE w8 ARH50,0000007

QOut-of-home advertising RMB50,000,000
media services, the PRC

PAEERRRS w8 ARE1,000,000 7

Out-of-home advertising RMB1,000,000
media services, the PRC

PAVEERERE  mE ABH2,000,0007

Out-of-home advertising RMB2,000,000
media services, the PRC

FAVEERERE T8 AR 1,000,000

Out-of-home advertising RMB1,000,000
media services, the PRC

PAEEHRRS =8 ARE1,2000007

Out-of-home advertising RMB1,200,000
media services, the PRC

FAMEERERE P& ABH10500,0007

Out-of-home advertising RMB10,500,000

media services, the PRC

817
ERIEAN
EBRILAI%)

Proportion of
ordinary shares
directly held
by parent (%)

SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

AREREN
EERILH%)

Proportion of
ordinary shares
held by

the Group (%)

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%
100%

51%

51%

100%

100%

100%
100%

12%
12%

100%
100%

100%
100%

Asiaray Media Group Limited

FER
RESEN
BRI %)
Proportion of
ordinary shares
held by
non-controlling
interests (%)

49%
49%

28%
2%
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AEEREN
BARILAI)
Proportion of
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held by
the

Group (%)
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14. BT &) 14. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
807 FER
AR ERRA EEEEN FEEREN REGEN FEEREN
REERRER REBESHE  EEREA(R)  EERUAC  EEREAC)  EERLA %)
Proportion of Proportion of
Proportion of Proportionof  ordinary shares preference shares
Place of incorporation Particulars of issued ordinary shares  ordinary shares held by held by
and kind of Principal activities and share capital and directly held held by non-controlling the
Company name legal entity place of operation debt securities by parent (%) the Group (%) interests (%) Group (%)
BERERRERAA HE BRALAT PHREHERE 8 ARE1,0000007T - 100% - -
Xi'an Asiaray Advertising Company Limited The PRC, limited liabiity Out-of-home advertising RMB1,000,000 - 100% - -
(ARELEREERAA) company media services, the PRC
BERERRERAA HE ARAMLT POEERERS =8 AR10,000,0007 = 100% - -
Qingdao Asiaray Advertising Company  The PRC, limited liability QOut-of-home advertising RMB10,000,000 - 100% - -
Limited (SR EREERAA) company media services, the PRC
AR R ERARAA hE ARRELT PHESRERS =8 ARH5,0000007C - 51% 49% -
([AEzARL L)
Henan Airport Asiaray Media Company  The PRC, limited liability QOut-of-home advertising RMB5,000,000 = 51% 49% -
Limited ("Henan Airport Asiaray) company media services, the PRC

(TEERESERARAR)

LERtERSERARAT hE BRATAT PHRERERS 78 AEH1,0000007 - 100% - -
Shanghai Asiaray Media Communication  The PRC, limited liability Out-of-home advertising RMB1,000,000 - 100% - -
Company Limited (-EHELHESER  company media services, the PRC
BRAT)
AIRBLERERAA HE ARAMELT RERH 8 ARH1,0000007 - 100% - -
Shenzhen Baimoshi Advertising Company  The PRC, limited liability Advertising services, the PRC RMB1,000,000 - 100% - -
Limited (FHIBEAEEERAT) company
ERRRERARAA HE - BRREAA PARERERS 78 ARH3,6000007C - 75% 2% -
([EHkETE])
Waxi Asiaray Metro Media Company The PRC, limited liability QOut-of-home advertising RMB3,600,000 - 5% 25% -
Limited (“"Wuxi Asiaray") company media services, the PRC
(BSREIEERARAR)
IREERRBRERAA HE BRALAT PHRERERS 8 ARE1,0000007T - 100% - -
Beijing Yatie Media Communication The PRC, limited liability Out-of-home advertising RMB1,000,000 - 100% - -
Company Limited (3t RIS E & company media services, the PRC
BRAT)
EEREEAREERAT HE ARAMELT POEERERS =8 ARH14,424,40070 - 69% 3% -
Qingdao Chengtou Asiaray Advertising  The PRC, limited liability Out-of-home advertising RMB14,424,400 - 69% 31% -
Company Limited (SEHRELERS  company media senvices, the PRC
BRAR)
BN B AR AMAGG - NEERH All subsidiaries are included in the consolidation. The
JB X R A B IR SR M HL DI BR P A B AR AR proportion of the voting rights in the subsidiaries held by
REEREL I — B o the Group does not differ from the proportion of equity

interests held.

MR2015F12 8318 & FF 1% A% # = The non-controlling interest of HKD52,177,000 as at 31
52,177,000/ 7T (2014 4F : 89,683,000 December 2015 (2014: HKD89,683,000) was relating to
PBIT) BN E R 2 M A ) FE I AR the non-controlling interest in Yunnan Airport Asiaray.
HRAM - N2015512 A 31 BRI IEHERR The non-controlling interest of HKD8,564,000 as at 31
T 258,564,000 7T (20144 : 42,000 December 2015 (2014: HKD42,000) was relating to the
PBIT) BRI = M A IR AR b e non-controlling interest in Henan Airport Asiaray.

B -
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14. B AR (&)

B RN R [ A ) _E it A ] B 8 2 )
MR EERR - MZEHBARE
ERAEEZHMBARALK -

REBEMIERENEB R BHIEERHE
SHAKESFER -

BARRH

R 20154 K2014F 128318 + £
BEAEFAENRS REBEFERS A
274,319,000 7T 1. 234,312,000 7T
WAZEHINEE HIERFTRR - 2%
E HINEE HIE IR R ) B I F AR E A
ST ABECELPE -

BEEERFEREZNKE DTN H
(a) ZTHEBRAESNTTENE
4

() BEARERBE

14. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
As the Group had the power to control the financial and
operating policies of the above two subsidiaries, they had
been accounted for as subsidiaries of the Group.

The non-controlling interests of the Group’s other non-
wholly owned subsidiaries are not material to the Group.

Significant restrictions

Cash and short-term deposits of HKD274,319,000 and
HKD234,312,000 were held in Mainland China as at 31
December 2015 and 2014, respectively, and are subject
to local exchange control regulations. These local
exchange control regulations provide for restrictions on
exporting capital from the country, other than through
normal dividends.

Summarised financial information for subsidiaries with
material non-controlling interests
(@)  Summarised financial information of Yunnan Airport
Asiaray:
(i) Summarised balance sheet

B
A
B
RBEEFEEH

FRE
BE

FRBEEFEAG

BEFRE

MW12A31H
As at 31 December
2015 £ 2014 4F
2015 2014
FET FHET
HKD’'000 HKD'000
Current
Assets 233,848 262,872
Liabilities (160,257) (120,579)
Total net current assets 73,591 142,293

Non-current

Assets 32,893 40,733
Total net non-current assets 32,893 40,733
Net assets 106,484 183,026
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14. BT &) 14. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
BEEERFERESNKE QTN Summarised financial information for subsidiaries with
ERBEGE) material non-controlling interests (Continued)

(@) %:f@f*/;%ﬁ 1t 19 81 7% & H B (@)  Summarised financial information of Yunnan Airport
= - (8

B Asiaray: (Continued)
(iy EREBERBE (i)

Summarised statement of comprehensive
income

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2015 F 2014 4
2015 2014
FHBxT FHETT
HKD'000 HKD'000
WA Revenue 256,644 267,929
B TS FR AT A Profit before income tax 69,553 96,529
Frefipx Income tax expense (10,848) (14,476)
FEREEKTIE Profit from continuing
operations 58,705 82,053
Hihir A EsE Other comprehensive loss (8,002) (1,070)
HmAEWGEEEE Total comprehensive income 50,703 80,983
B DGR IEERIERR Total comprehensive income
e BRE i
allocated to non-controlling
interest 24,844 39,682
M e B i e R ST RO IR B Dividend paid to
non-controlling interest 62,350 12,374
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14. ERE #) 14. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
EEERGIEREZMNME QTN Summarised financial information for subsidiaries with
ERBE(E) material non-controlling interests (Continued)

(a) EZFHZEEBJEAHE Y FEHE (a)  Summarised financial information of Yunnan Airport
Z: (&) Asiaray: (Continued)
(iy BEeRERME (i)  Summarised statement of cash flows

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

20154 20144
2015 2014
THERT T
HKD’'000 HKD'000
BEEHEHN Cash flows from operating
REnE activities
REmBRE Cash generated from operations 77,747 106,637
PSR Income tax paid (13,788) (24,757)
LERYEREFH Net cash generated from
operating activities 63,959 81,880
REERBME(FTA) Net cash generated from/
REFeE (used in) investing activities 110,082 (195,616)
BMERMAER S FE Net cash used in financing
activities (127,245) (25,873)
HeRREEEY Net increase/(decrease)
®Bm (D) FE in cash and cash equivalents 46,796 (139,609)
FUNBEE MRS EEDY Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year 20,595 161,376
Ba KRS EEYH Exchange losses on cash and
I 1R cash equivalents (2,143) (1,172)

FERNEERELEEY Cash and cash equivalents
at the end of the year 65,248 20,595
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14. BT &) 14. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
EREARFERERNHE D TN Summarised financial information for subsidiaries with
ERBE () material non-controlling interests (Continued)

(b) R EZEE AR B B (b)  Summarised financial information of Henan Airport
= Asiaray:
iy BEAGRHME (i)  Summarised balance sheet
M®12H31H
As at 31 December
2015 F 2014 4
2015 2014
THET FET
HKD'000 HKD'000
B Current
BE Assets 56,189 57,209
afE Liabilities (81,921) (90,893)
BB EFEALT Total net current liabilities (25,732) (33,684)
FEFRE Non-current
BE Assets 50,072 42,326
afE Liabilities (6,863) (8,557)
FREEEFELST Total net non-current assets 43,209 33,769
EEZEE Net assets 17,477 85
(i) FEWRERME (i) ~ Summarised statement of comprehensive

income

BZ12A31MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2015 20145
2015 2014
FET FHET
HKD'000 HKD’000

WA Revenue 104,124 116,024
e NI NES Profit before income tax 24,373 18,800
FERipx Income tax expense (6,267) (4,773)
FEKE XK RS Profit from continuing

operations 18,106 14,027
Hip#iR A &8 Other comprehensive loss (714) (109)
FEWnBE Total comprehensive income 17,392 13,918
EE D AR R Total comprehensive income

fre e e allocated to non-controlling
interest 8,522 6,820
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14. ERE #) 14. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
EEERGIEREZMNME QTN Summarised financial information for subsidiaries with
ERBE(E) material non-controlling interests (Continued)

(b) A 5 22 JE AT 4 B BT 75 A R (b)  Summarised financial information of Henan Airport
Z: (&) Asiaray: (Continued)
(iy BEeRERME (i)  Summarised statement of cash flows

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December
2015 F 20144

2015 2014
FTEx TAT
HKD’000 HKD’000

EETBHRENRERE Cash flows from operating

activities
REPT1SIR 4 Cash generated from operations 25,322 10,063
oA & Interest paid (672) (1,038)
SRS T Income tax paid (3,312) (1,087)
eIiE R EER e FEE Net cash generated from

operating activities 21,338 7,938
KEEEFAR SR Net cash used in investing

activities (12,184) (922)
BB R RIR R Net cash used in financing

activities (1,246) (1,268)

RERBREZEFEYILIMELE  Netincrease in cash and

cash equivalents 7,908 5,748
FUNBRE MRS EEY Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year 17,000 11,195
BeMReEEMMER Exchange (losses)/gains on
(B1R), W cash and cash equivalents (1,744) 57

FROESRECEEY Cash and cash equivalents
at the end of the year 23,164 17,000
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15. IEIEFRIER 15. DEFERRED INCOME TAX
EIFEREERBBHONTT : The analysis of deferred income tax assets and liabilities is
as follows:
M®12H31H
As at 31 December
2015 £ 2014 4F
2015 2014
THET TFET
HKD'000 HKD'000
IEEFTEREE ¢ Deferred income tax assets:
— R 128 A A E — to be recovered within 12 months 58,588 49,895
— R 12{E A &Y= — to be recovered after 12 months 21,466 8,337
80,054 58,232
BEEFSREE Deferred income tax liabilities:
—R12@ A R&EE — to be settled within 12 months (160) (75)
79,894 58,157
EEFTISTRER B R F e T - The net movement on the deferred income tax account is
as follows:

BZ12A31MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

20155 20145

2015 2014

THERT FAT

HKD’000 HKD’000

=] Beginning of the year 58,157 43,379
RIEEP R (M7 30) Recognised in profit or loss (Note 30) 25,893 14,612
REMES WEPETA Credited to other comprehensive income 263 31
B E R Currency translation differences (4,419) 135
FR End of the year 79,894 58,157
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IEIEFTBH (&) 15. DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)
BEFSHEEMBENED (Rt Movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities
ER—ME R EEREENER) T without taking into consideration the offsetting of

balances within the same tax jurisdiction is as follows:
BEFTSTHEE ¢ Deferred income tax assets:

AfthE  RAFESIA

SHEE BEENER

WATE  BEAYE

28 28

Fair value

Fairvalue  change on

change on financial

Provision available- assets at

for for- fairvalue  Discounting Provision

impairment sale through effect of for

of Depreciation financial profitor  loanstoan compensation
Accruals  receivables  Tax losses allowance assets loss associate loss Total
TEn TEn TER TER TER TER TER TR TER
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000

HZ015F Year ended 31 December 2015
VLANALEE
£ Atbeginning of the year 46,058 2,159 8,337 - 129 - 1,549 - 58,232
REEH (HR)/3TA (Charged)/credited to profit or loss (3,006) 3,101 14,032 - - 49 (276) 12,078 25,978
AR bEANE Credited to other comprehensive
income - - - - 263 - - - 263
REREER Currency translation differences (2,705) (248) (903) - - - (90) (473) (4419)
& Atend of the year 40,347 5012 21,466 - 392 49 1,183 11,605 80,054
HZ0UEF Year ended 31 December 2014
LANALEE
£ At beginning of the year 39,886 1633 1756 6 9% = = = 43379
PERDHA/ (HB) Credited/(charged) to profit or loss 6271 529 6,350 (6) - - 1,543 - 14,687
AR ANE Credited to other comprehensive
income = = = - 3 - - - 3
KHHEER Currency translation differences %) 0 21 = = = 6 = 135
& Atend of the year 46,058 2159 8,337 - 129 - 1,549 - 58,232
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15. EEFRBH (&) 15. DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)
BIEFTEREE Deferred income tax liabilities:

BRAFETIA
BEERNESHE

TEERE EEAFENKE
Fair

value gains

on financial
assets at fair
Depreciation value through

allowance  profit or loss Total
THBT T T
HKD'000 HKD’000 HKD’000
BZ2015% Year ended
12831HLEE 31 December 2015
F1 At beginning of the year - (75) (75)
RiBzEF (#0B), 5t A (Charged)/credited to
profit or loss (160) 75 (85)
FR At end of the year (160) - (160)
BZE2014%F Year ended
12A31HLEE 31 December 2014
F4 At beginning of the year = = =
RiBaAF kR Charged to profit or loss = (75) (75)
F4R At end of the year = (75) (75)
20154 K2014F12 4318 A& The Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets
(B30 4 75 B FL A A5 5 DA H0 oA 2R 8 2R AR of HKD7,255,000 and HKD4,715,000 in respect of tax
g A #929,601,0007% 7T K& 21,978,000 losses amounting to HKD29,601,000 and HKD21,978,000
BITREAEREERECHREMREE that can be carried forward against future taxable income
7,255,000 78 7T, 2. 4,715,000 7 I © as at 31 December 2015 and 2014, respectively.
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15. EEFRBH (&) 15.
REREERIHEENRIEEEERE

HmT

1 F AR fE T Expire within 1 year

M1 E2FREMR Expire in 1 to 2 years
R2E3IFREM Expire in 2 to 3 years
RIEAFREM Expire in 3 to 4 years
RA4ZESFREM Expire in 4 to 5 years

S5FENERTEERTE

expiration

20154 K2014F 128318 A&
&3 £ 5 Bl 5 AT AR e LA HN AR Ak e ER R
I A #9410,000 7% 7t f2 377,000 7% 7T H
] 0 R R R SRR TS T B B
103,000 7T 1 94,000 % 7T ©

DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)
The expiry date of the tax losses for which deferred tax
assets were not recognised is as follows:

Over 5 years and not subject to

M®12H831H

As at 31 December
2015 F 20144
2015 2014
THET FET
HKD’'000 HKD'000
664 1,863
4,164 664
3,735 2,609
2,104 2,260
6,218 1,215
12,716 13,367
29,601 21,978

The Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets
of HKD103,000 and HKD94,000 in respect of other
deductible temporary differences amounting to
HKD410,000 and HKD377,000 that can be carried forward
against future taxable income as at 31 December 2015
and 2014, respectively.
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16. EWERA K H b e W zkI1E 16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

M®12H31H
As at 31 December

FARBEE
JE U BR 7K (a)
— FEUNRRE 5 F08
(K% 35(b))
— W E =08
B TEURER FOR(E B (b)

FEUERR - JFRE
H th FEURFRIB (c)
— FEURRRE H FUE
(K1 35(b))
— W E=HF0E
B oAb UGB BB B (d)

Hib e kI - F5

FEYFI &

SRR

HiFEFRIEB (e)

— YN TFRAER
(K13 35(b))

— XN FE=H

FFAERBEE
) — FE] e i R BB R ()

At
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Included in current assets
Trade receivables (a)

— Due from related parties
(Note 35(b))
— Due from third parties
Less: allowance for impairment
of trade receivables (b)

Trade receivables, net
Other receivables (c)

— Due from related parties
(Note 35(b))
— Due from third parties
Less: allowance for impairment
of other receivables (d)

Other receivables, net
Interest receivable
Prepaid taxes

Other prepayments (e)

— Paid to related parties
(Note 35(b))
— Paid to third parties

Included in non-current assets
Loans to an associate (f)

Total

2015 &£

2015
TR

HKD’000

20144
2014
FAET
HKD'000

376,429 229,626
11,450 12,733
364,979 216,893
(23,911) (8,027)
352,518 221,599
106,623 81,251
572 737
106,051 80,514
(1,028) (1,285)
105,595 79,966
1,541 3,692
10,831 3,507
55,131 44,971
14,225 1,051
40,906 43,920
525,616 353,735
18,248 18,206
543,864 371,941
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16. FEUR AR R ELfth FE W R (4%)

(a) ARBYERTEFPEEFEH -NE
BERABRAHRBEATER A HMNE
WERK BBV BRER DTN T

&% 618 A
6EAZ=121EA
1FE2F
2FFE3IF
3EP F

20154 K 2014128310 2 @&
HEXRBRENRERKERD QA
352,518,000/ 7T & 221,599,000 T °
IS FRIB E B I M A B E
MBLEFHE  BIRBALR B
SEAI AR o X EREUKBR AR ER B D
W

=% 618A
6EA=121EA
1FE2F
2FE3F

16.
(a)

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
The Group has no specified credit terms for its customers.
Ageing analysis of the gross trade receivables based on
revenue recognition date at the respective balance sheet
dates is as follows:

R12A31R
As at 31 December

20154 20144
2015 2014
FET TET
HKD’'000 HKD’000
Up to 6 months 287,297 184,483
6 months to 12 months 56,380 28,143
1 year to 2 years 19,527 8,025
2 years to 3 years 4,984 4,990
Over 3 years 8,241 3,985
376,429 229,626

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, trade receivables past
due but not impaired were approximately
HKD352,518,000 and HKD221,599,000, respectively.
These mainly relate to a number of independent
customers for whom there were no significant financial
difficulties and based on the past experience, the overdue
amount can be recovered. The ageing analysis of these
trade receivables is as follows:

R12A31H
As at 31 December

2015 2014 4F
2015 2014
TFE T FATT
HKD’000 HKD'000
Up to 6 months 284,815 183,875
6 months to 12 months 55,240 27,985
1 year to 2 years 11,530 6,879
2 years to 3 years 933 2,860
352,518 221,599
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16. FEWARF R H A FEUWFRIE () 16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
(@) (%) (a) (Continued)
R20154F & 2014912 A31H @ E W As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, trade receivables of
BE 723,911,000 7t %2 8,027,000 7 7T HKD23,911,000 and HKD8,027,000 were impaired. The
EAERERIE - 120154 % 2014412 amount of the provision were HKD23,911,000 and
A318  B#E£%3ED5523,911,000 HKD8,027,000 as of 31 December 2015 and 2014. The
75T 2.8,027,0008 7T © % E R IE ageing of these receivables is as follows:
ERREC AT
MW12A31H
As at 31 December
2015F 20144
2015 2014
FH&T T
HKD'000 HKD’'000
&% 618 H Up to 6 months 2,482 608
6EAZ=121EA 6 months to 12 months 1,140 158
1FE2F 1 year to 2 years 7,997 1,146
2FF3IF 2 years to 3 years 4,051 2,130
3FLE Over 3 years 8,241 3,985
23,911 8,027
(b) AEEFBEEUBRFRERENEE (b)  Movements on the Group's provision for impairment of
T & trade receivables are as follows:

BZ12831HLEE

Year ended 31 December

2015 F 20144

2015 2014

FET TET

HKD’000 HKD'000

== At beginning of the year 8,027 6,172

BB Provision for impairment 17,019 2,942
2 s B Provision written off - (1,075)
BEHmE R Currency translation differences (1,135) (12)

FR At end of the year 23,911 8,027
ERERKFENBEED AR HEE The provision for impaired receivables had been included
WERAWMTHRFEN] EBHTE in ‘administrative expenses’ in the consolidated
WEEZREH  NMeEREHRNES statements of comprehensive income. Amounts charged
B — MR T AN - to the allowance account are generally written off, when

there is no expectation of recovering additional cash.
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16. FEWERR R H bW FRIH ()

(c)

(d)

H Ao fRUGRIE E B8 M T RIR S &R
EAXNOERRES REYE T#EE
75 3R IB o PR20154F 2014412 A 31
B - B@HE R ENE b EWREIED
A1 49 A 572,0007% 7T & 737,000/ T °
I EFIEE B HE T EE A E#
REE A RIERE - IRIBBALS - mH
SREA AU o %S5 H fh B UGRIB RO AR
BT

180 HE LA
180 HLA

R 20154F % 2014412 A31H » 180 H
LA b 9 E At & Y 5138 1,028,000 7 7T &
1,285,000 TEERERIE - HiEd
% 7 Bl 41,028,000 7T 1,285,0008
T o

ANEE B E bR E R E B ERNE
R -

9
HE (B, B
B E

Fi8

BB EE A AR R B e B
Bt AGHEA SRR [1THEH
X]  BEEHMTEREELRERK B
BRI SR — R T AN -

16.
(c)

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
Other receivables mainly represent guaranteed deposits
paid to various media resources owners and amounts due
from certain related parties. As at 31 December 2015 and
2014, other receivables past due but not impaired were
approximately HKD572,000 and HKD737,000,
respectively. These mainly relate to certain related
companies for whom there were no significant financial
difficulties and based on the past experience, the overdue
amount can be recovered. The ageing analysis of these
other receivables is as follows:

M®12H31H

As at 31 December
2015 £ 2014 4F
2015 2014
F#&T T
HKD’'000 HKD'000
180 days or less 137 402
Over 180 days 435 885
572 737

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, other receivables of
HKD1,028,000 and HKD1,285,000 over 180 days were
impaired. The amount of the provision were
HKD1,028,000 and HKD1,285,000, respectively.

(d)

Movements on the Group's provision for impairment of
other receivables are as follows:

R12A31H

As at 31 December
2015 2014 4F
2015 2014
F#ET T
HKD'000 HKD'000
At beginning of the year 1,285 1,030
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment (189) 257
Currency translation differences (68) (2)
At end of the year 1,028 1,285

The provision and reversal of provision for impaired other
receivables have been included in ‘administrative
expenses’ in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income. Amounts charged to the
allowance account are generally written off, when there is
no expectation of recovering additional cash.
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16. FEUSRRTR I H A B U SR IR ()
(e) EfBMFESFTMT :

REERBSFEEE T
BNHRIR

B EHARRER S (4)

Hit

* MAEELETRE TEEERI T 2K
B BRDRRBITHRNEREERE
- WEMR2015F 1 A 158 EHERK
DRERBETER

() B EEHCHERAREKDESRENR
He BE R - 8215 —71818,204,000 %
T (AR #15,251,0007T) A H /N FEH
BER(ME13) X—84,775,0007% 7T (A
R #4,000,0007T) B FHIE K - /M
HERWILZAFEDBIERAFEA
RIBITEBGREITEEF E6.55% K&
6 I5%TERM EETBENRSREETE ©

(9) NS WARR N B At FE UG R TR By AR T
ERAATEREE

AR
BT
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16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(e)

()

(9)

Analysis of other prepayments is as follows:

M®12H831H
As at 31 December
2015 &

2014 4F
2015 2014
FE&xT T 7T
HKD’'000 HKD'000

Prepayments for concession

fee charges for advertising spaces 52,690 31,179
Prepaid listing-related expenses(*) - 10,984
2,441 2,808
55,131 44,971

*) It represented the payments made to certain professional

parties for the preparation of the Listing, which were
incremental and directly attributable to the issue of new shares
of the Company and were capitalised into the share premium
account upon the Listing which occurred on 15 January 2015.

It represented two interest-free loans from Shanghai
Asiaray to Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising, including a loan
of HKD18,204,000 (RMB15,251,000) (Note 13) which had
a term of 6 years and a loan of HKD4,775,000
(RMB4,000,000) which had a term of 2 years. The initial
fair values of the two loans were based on cash flows
discounted using interest rates based on the prevailing
borrowing rates of 6.55% and 6.15%, respectively,
promulgated by the People’s Bank of China.

The carrying amount of the Group’s trade and other
receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

M®12H831H

As at 31 December
2015 F 2014 4
2015 2014
TFHET FET
HKD’'000 HKD'000
425,966 283,850
117,898 88,091
543,864 371,941
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17. BEHER
B ZE 20154 R2014%E 12 A31 8 1L 4
B AEEVNTSFHENT6EAZ1F
WEBAEFNEEFNESRA1.88% &
3.15% °

REBEIFRTIAA T EEHE -

17. SHORT-TERM DEPOSITS
The effective interest rate for the short-term deposits of
the Group with initial terms ranging from 6 months to 1
year for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014
was 1.88% and 3.15%, respectively.

The Group's short-term deposits were denominated in
the following currencies:

M12A31H

As at 31 December
2015 % 2014 €
2015 2014
FHExT FETT
HKD’000 HKD’000
AR RMB 87,557 194,136
BT HKD 27,200 -
114,757 194,136

RAFRESR - MERE - NAF]
BEERA R2015%F K2014F12 A
3N BT RNEAEREATE
HE

18. IRHRERRERREEE

Short-term deposits were neither past due nor impaired.
The directors of the Company considered that the
carrying amount of the short-term deposits approximated
their fair value as at 31 December 2015 and 2014.

18. RESTRICTED CASH AND CASH AND CASH

L) EQUIVALENTS
MW12H31H
As at 31 December
2015 20144
2015 2014
THET T
HKD'000 HKD'000
SRITHERNFEIRS Cash at bank and on hand 323,753 216,598
B 2R &I S (b) Less: Restricted cash (b) (81,807) (80,968)
He RIRESZEEY () Cash and cash equivalents (a) 241,946 135,630
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18. TRHBERBEEREELEE 18. RESTRICTED CASH AND CASH AND CASH
Yl (%) EQUIVALENTS (Continued)
(a) AHRESRBRSZFEWUATIEES (a) Cash and cash equivalents were denominated in the
& following currencies:
R12A31H
As at 31 December
2015 F 2014
2015 2014
TR TAET
HKD’000 HKD'000
AR RMB 187,466 128,350
BT HKD 54,480 7,280
241,946 135,630
(b) REBEHIBRESUARKEE - XRGHIFE (b)  Restricted cash was denominated in RMB. An analysis of
BT restricted cash is as follows:

M®12A31H
As at 31 December

2015 £

2015
FTERT
HKD’000

BT IRITPRE ER A HEAR Guaranteed deposits for
RE letter of guarantee issued

by certain banks 81,807

20144
2014
FET
HKD'000

80,968

AN RS EHE RO 45 85 5 IR SN Rt
B K FE B 3% SN RTHE R IR1T 48R
KB & - BB EAERFEMAEIN
BEE 422 1 R 49 RO o
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The conversion of RMB denominated balances into
foreign currencies and the remittance of such foreign
currencies denominated bank balances and cash out of
the Mainland China are subject to relevant rules and
regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by
the PRC government.
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19. B

R B R&820.1073 T
RS
0 (a)

A2014%12H318
20151818 K%
20155128318

BT

BAREMA S 9B A%0.1078 7T
B % AR
R EAATT

N2014E12 A31 B R
20151 A18
BEITHIRAD (o)

M2015F12831H

19. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised:

Ordinary shares of HKDO0.10 each
upon incorporation
Increase (a)

At 31 December 2014,
1 January 2015
and 31 December 2015

Issued:

Ordinary shares of HKDO0.10 each
upon incorporation
Issued pursuant to the Reorganisation

At 31 December 2014 and
1 January 2015
Issuance of new share (b)

At 31 December 2015

HEERBE
Number
of ordinary

shares
(FRR)
(thousand)

EZEREE
Nominal value
of ordinary
shares
(F7%7T)
(HKD’000)

500 50
999,500 99,950
1,000,000 100,000
500 50
329,500 32,950
330,000 33,000
110,000 11,000
440,000 44,000

(@) FM2014F8H25H AR A B
BRI 3B 51 999,500,00 A% i %
F B% AN #50,000%8 T( D A
500,000 % ) #& Z 100,000,000 /&
7t (% /4 1,000,000,000 f% ) °

(b) ARAERK2015F1H158 =%
BREMe RQAB N ETEET
110,000,000 f% & % 1 {£0.1078
TR E R SIRENRE6.0
B BEMBSRELA
660,000,000 7T,

MR EITRAEZE B IERGL B 8
e 28 ARIETMER
HhE FiAREAERERAR - %
THR G BB EREINK A A
38,387,000 L B R A R BT AT
EERRD R BRI o

(a)

On 25 August 2014, the authorised share capital of
the Company was increased from HKD50,000
divided into 500,000 shares to HKD100,000,000
divided into 1,000,000,000 shares by the creation of
an additional 999,500,000 shares.

The Company completed the Listing on 15 January
2015. Upon the Listing, the Company issued
110,000,000 new ordinary shares at par value of
HKDO.10 per share for cash consideration of
HKD6.0 each, and raised gross proceeds of
HKD660,000,000.

Share issuance costs mainly include share
underwriting commissions, lawyers’ fees, reporting
accountant’s fee and other related costs associated
with the Listing. Incremental costs that are directly
attributable to the issue of the new shares
amounting HKD38,387,000 was treated as a
deduction against the share premium arising from
the issuance.
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20. #fE 20. RESERVES
URHBH
g AfLE 2
BEEE SREE ZBMEE Hitiw e
Available- Share-
Currency for-sale based
translation financial compensation Other
differences assets reserve reserves
FHT FHT FHT THT
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
N2014518181 Balance at 1 January 2014 6,857 (238) - 12,730 19,349
—HHBARAMEGEEREE  Change in ownership interest of a
SE)(EHEUREEZE) (@  subsidiary without change of control (a) - = = 7,264 7,264
BEELETRN b) Shares issued pursuant to the
Reorganisation (b) - - - (32,900) (32,900
RN ESHEE Losses from changes in fair value of
AHEEEER(BHH) available-for-sale financial assets,
net of tax = (154) = = (154)
EHmEES Currency translation differences 2,172 - - - 2,172
R2014F128 318 Balance at 31 December 2014 9,029 (392) - (12,906) (4,269)
R2015F181H Balance at 1 January 2015 9,029 (392) (12,906) (4,269)
—ERBARNEGEER Change in ownership interest of a
FEZH (LR subsidiary without change of control (c)

EEEY)( - - - 2,085 2,085

EEBMEEIES Employee share option scheme
— RBEEHF34) — value of employee services (Note 34) - - 14,854 = 14,854
S emEE Losses from changes in fair value of
ATEEFEE(ENH) available-for-sale financial assets,
net of tax - (1,545) - - (1,545)
ERHEEE Currency translation differences (20,641) - - - (20,641)
R2015F128 318 Balance at 31 December 2015 (11,612) (1,937) 14,854 (10,821) (9,516)

(@) M2014F3A148  LBHLETK (@ On 14 March 2014, Shanghai Asiaray completed the

KA HEEREBERAF

g A 4R 85 9 55% AR AR R 25 (R
MmESHLTHEEZERE) TASERH
BRRRYIKS T4 - ERERRYI
BAS TR DT E - AR EBHEA
MR BB TR I B 7S AR B R
EIE S - MBS R EE R A EE KT
BRARAR  MUASENERLEHE
A A AN R 25 A A (B R BR T (E 2 T
57,264,000 7T Jhst A H A R o

EHRCHEEERER QMK AE
50,000 7% 7T 8 [ A A B R R E 4R i K
MM EBRMBETHRD@E
32,950,000;8 JTTHY =48 -
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transfer of its 55% equity interest in Yashi Metro, which
was previously wholly-owned by Shanghai Asiaray, to
Shenzhen Airport Asiaray, an associate of the Group, as
part of its capital injection into Shenzhen Airport Asiaray.
As Shanghai Asiaray retains the power to control the
financial and operating policies of Yashi Metro, Yashi
Metro continues to be accounted for as a subsidiary of
the Group and the difference of HKD7,264,000 between
the fair value and carrying amount of the equity interest in
Yashi Metro disposed of at the Group level was recorded
in other reserves.

It represented the difference between the HKD50,000
share capital of Asiaray Media Holdings Limited over the
HKD32,950,000 nominal value of the Company’s shares
issued as a result of the share swap pursuant to the
Reorganisation.
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20. f#t@ (&)

(c)

21.

R2015F 12 A+ EH IR EER
EmEB ISR E AR A RITERNED
W #EET16,0008THEE » WiEH
AE#E R 10% IR T+ = 25% ° & HH/E & &4
SEEARERETE 1% EE TN
Bk 2 MR =R E MR ET PR -

it p
B TA

20. RESERVES (Continued)

() In December 2015, Wuxi Metro Group Limited, non-
controlling interest of Wuxi Asiaray completed the capital
injection of HKD716,000 in Wuxi Asiaray and increase its
equity interests from 10% to 25%. The difference between
the capital injection consolidated and the carrying amount
of the 15% diluted equity interest in Wuxi Asiaray at the
Group level was recorded in other reserves.

21. BORROWINGS

M®12H831H
As at 31 December
2015 F 20144

2015 2014
FTEx TAT
HKD’000 HKD’000

FEENHER AT AR
— B (a)
B+ FERNERME KA BN A #E >

ENHASRITIE R
— B (a)
— JEBNEAfE 2k i B ER EF 55

RITERBE

Non-current bank borrowings

— secured (a) 8,057 10,125
Less: current portion of non-current

borrowings (1,194) (1,568)

6,863 8,557

Current bank borrowings

— secured (a) 15,500 110,058
— current portion of non-current

borrowings 1,194 1,568

16,694 111,626

Total bank borrowings 23,557 120,183
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21. BRR(E) 21. BORROWINGS (Continued)
() HBAEBMEREROFBEOT (@) The details of the secured borrowings are as follows:

®12H831H
As at 31 December
2015 20144

2015 2014
TER TABT
HKD'000 HKD’000

NERAHHESREER
—RIf BRI RITER

Secured by the pledge of available-
for-sale financial assets and bank
deposits of a subsidiary

Secured by the pledge of certain
properties of Henan Airport Asiaray
(Notes 6 and 8) 8,057 9,825

Secured by the pledge of certain
properties of Billion China
International Limited
("Billion China International”)

(BEBEREBER DA, arelated

company controlled by Mr. Lam

Tak Hing, Vincent (“Mr. Lam”) - 49,438
Secured by the pledge of certain

15,500 -
MR A mE S anE THE
1ERER (Hat6 R 8)

SRR IR ST 4 ([AR5EAE])
2B B R R B EE R
BRAR(MEEERDET
ATHRERER

N it itaa e o) chcyNS]

T EERERAR
(THELEPRER]D METHE
R EBHEHENREMRES
B (L 9)

properties of Asiaray China Media
Limited (“Asiaray China Media”),

a related company controlled by
Mr. Lam, and investment properties

of Shanghai Asiaray (Note 9) - 26,620
LUERM B A RIR A FESAEZE  Secured by the pledge of financial
MNERMEERAIHHESREE assets at fair value through profit or
—RERRAIMRITFR - MREE loss and available-for-sale financial
rTHOWEENRToERARA assets of subsidiaries, bank deposits
ARETEEEHEBRERRLR of a subsidiary, certain properties of
ETHETMEERER - WH Universal Glory Holdings Limited
RS AE Re RS AR 12 1 ) RS A R and Postar Advertising Media
T4 (£B) BRARIER Investment Limited, related
companies controlled by Mr. Lam
and guaranteed by Mr. Lam and
Asiaray (Holdings) Limited, a related
company controlled by Mr. Lam - 34,300
23,557 120,183
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EENG ), 21. BORROWINGS (Continued)
RELE R MELHERAENT (b) The weighted average effective interest rates at each
balance sheet date are as follows:

R12A31H
As at 31 December
2015 2014 4F
2015 2014
JERNERE TR Non-current borrowings 7.38% 7.86%
BREAfE R Current borrowings 2.74% 5.51%
20154 K20149F12A31H @ K& () At 31 December 2015 and 2014, the Group’s borrowings
BEEEERNT are repayable as follows:
R12A31H
As at 31 December
2015 2014 4
2015 2014
FTHERT T
HKD’'000 HKD’000
1 F AR Within 1 year 16,694 111,626
156525 Between 1 and 2 years 1,193 1,268
2FESF Between 2 and 5 years 3,581 5,071
S5FLAE Over 5 years 2,089 2,218
23,557 120,183
R12A318
As at 31 December
2015 20144
2015 2014
FE T FAT
HKD’000 HKD’000
AR5 FEREINER Wholly repayable within 5 years 16,694 111,626
AR R EER Wholly repayable after 5 years 6,863 8,557
23,557 120,183
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21. BRR(E) 21. BORROWINGS (Continued)
d) REKR RAEBEFEGHTESEEHR (d)  The exposure of the Group’s borrowings to interest rate
AHEFHEBHBWE ¢ changes and the contractual repricing dates at the end of
the year are as follows:
R12A31H
As at 31 December
2015 F 2014
2015 2014
FET THET
HKD’000 HKD'000
6B A AR 6 months or less 8,347 99,542
6EAZ=12{@A 6-12 months 8,347 12,084
15254 1-5 years 4,774 6,339
S5FMNE Over 5 years 2,089 2,218
23,557 120,183
e) HAHERMAFEEAREEAS B (e)  The fair value of current borrowings approximated their
RUBOTETK - carrying amount as the impact of discounting was not

FEENEAE R REE R A FERT

significant.

The carrying amount and fair value of the non-current
borrowings are as follows:

R12A31H
As at 31 December
2015F 20144
2015 2014
FHET T
HKD'000 HKD'000
REE Carrying amount 6,863 8,557
~NEE Fair value 7,085 8,481
FERNERE R A TFETDERIARITEE The fair values of non-current borrowings were based on
MEAENR SRR MTE - LR the cash flows discounted using a rate based on the

ARFEBRPHFEIR -

HEREREBERARF 20155H 162

prevailing borrowings rate and were categorised within
level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
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EENED) 21.
AEEEZINETSEUU TS

BORROWINGS (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings are

& : denominated in the following currencies:

22.

AR
BT

FEAS R R 2 EL A BB A 3K

FERTBRTK (a)

— T RRETT 5R (/3/7‘E35(b))
— BNF=T7%
fEsTE iﬁfﬁ%:ﬁ&%%sﬁﬁ (b)

— FEST R 5 kI (M2 35(b))
— ERE=F5IE

BB FIEMNFIE
AT
ENHeRETEF

FET R 5 AR B (M3 35(b))

H b & 3RIA ()

— BRI 51)
— ENE=®

W A RS RS EE T
K IERDHAER &>

RMB
HKD

M®12H831H

As at 31 December
2015 F 20144
2015 2014
THET FET
HKD’'000 HKD'000
8,057 85,883
15,500 34,300
23,557 120,183

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables (a)

— Due to related parties (Note 35(b))

— Due to third parties

Accrued concession fee charges for
advertising spaces (b)

— Due to related parties (Note 35(b))

— Due to third parties

Advances received from customers

Other taxes payable

Salary and staff welfare payables

Dividends payable to related parties
(Note 35(b))

Other payables (c)

— Due to related parties (Note 35(b))
— Due to third parties

Less: non-current portion of accrued
concession fee charges for
advertising spaces

Asiaray Media Group Limited

M12H831H
As at 31 December

2015 % 2014 €
2015 2014
FET T
HKD'000 HKD'000
69,077 46,236
23,080 21,275
45,997 24,961
238,684 254,489
150,771 108,863
87,913 145,626
104,757 144,896
6,063 5,681
18,053 24,291
- 149,562
40,693 20,215
145 633
40,548 19,582
477,327 645,370
= (14,228)
477,327 631,142
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22, ENERRRHEAEMSTRIEE) 22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)
(@) M 20154 K20146 128318 &R (@) Asat 31 December 2015 and 2014, the ageing analysis of
2T HHI RN RS ER B O IO ¢ the trade payables based on invoice date is as follows:
R12A31R
As at 31 December
2015 20144
2015 2014
THERT TR
HKD’'000 HKD'000
=% 61EA Up to 6 months 63,335 40,815
6B A= 121E A 6 months to 12 months 3,201 2,575
1FE2F 1 year to 2 years 1,421 2,060
26 F3F 2 years to 3 years 521 529
3FLE Over 3 years 599 257
69,077 46,236
(b) EEBHRERIFHEUAEREINIERER (b) This mainly represented the differences between the
B B R AR BT S & B X BARIRAFRT minimum guaranteed concession fee charges recognised
KEERERNRIERIFTEEES in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the beneficial
2 I ZERE o periods and the minimum guaranteed concession fee
charges paid payable according to the concession rights
agreements.
(© HiENFREZ2HECKREFPERRE (©)  Other payables mainly represented guarantee deposits
© NE T e RAE S FE © received from customers and certain amounts due to

related parties.
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23. RARA 23. COST OF REVENUE
R AWABKARBFEZ T Expenses included in cost of revenue are analysed as
follows:

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

20154 20144
2015 2014
FET THETT
HKD’000 HKD’000
BEERFFREEX Concession fee charges for
advertising spaces 967,533 746,087
18 B 228 R HIBA Project installation and dismantling
costs 73,295 50,565
M - BB RREITE (Ffits) Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment (Note 6) 24,702 23,827
TIE MK INE (a) Tax and surcharges (a) 17,576 23,721
ER-S-dun Utilities 11,966 12,728
Hih Others 20,825 18,385
1,115,897 875,313
(a) EARSEEMNFIERMMELT (@) Tax and surcharges that are applicable to the Group are
as follows:
Bl = HEBEE
Category Tax rate Basis of levies
XeERE 3% MBS RS AU ATRE SR X
Culture and construction fees 3% Revenue from rendering advertising services
deduct advertising expenditures
PRI R IR 7% ERRSMIEED
City construction tax 7% Actual Value Added Tax (“VAT") payment
BEWME 3% ERRSMIEED
Educational surcharges 3% Actual VAT payment
KB M I 2% ERRSMIRED
Local educational surcharges 2% Actual VAT payment
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24. HERTSHEERX
FAGHE RIS HER X B X AT
T

24. SELLING AND MARKETING EXPENSES
Expenses included in selling and marketing expenses are
analysed as follows:

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

EERAMAX
2 i S ARG X2

3% 38 i 5 X

WMRER

MAEHEEM

HEME (M7 35())

Yx - BB RERBITE (Wits)

HAth
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2015 20144

2015 2014

FET T

HKD'000 HKD’000

Employee benefit expenses 78,682 65,384

Travelling and entertainment

expenses 12,235 8,546

Marketing research expense 5,462 4,818

Office expenses 1,717 1,435

Office rental expense 930 883

Sales commissions (Note 35(a)) 507 475
Depreciation of property, plant and

equipment (Note 6) 30 254

Others 990 436

100,553 82,231
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25. THRX 25. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
BATERAIHNAI AT Expenses included in administrative expenses are
analysed as follows:

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

20154 20144
2015 2014
THERT T
HKD’'000 HKD'000
EERNFX Employee benefit expenses 77,441 55,483
FE U BR 7k & ELAth FEUN R BB (B BEE  Impairment provision for trade and
other receivables 16,830 3,199
EIRRIRGEF Travelling and entertainment expenses 15,762 14,278
WAEHESHE Office rental expenses 14,031 11,085
HibEERIEE Other professional service fees 11,092 6,477
i NE B Office expenses 10,548 8,809
M - BB RREITE (Ffits) Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment (Note 6) 6,833 4,772
Z SR B & Auditors’ remunerations 4,400 3,029
- FEE R — Audit services 2,876 2,903
- B R — Non-audit services 1,524 126
RITFEE Bank charges 2,841 3,146
FAERER X Listing-related expenses 1,859 31,139
FIE &M g Taxes and surcharges 1,763 1,611
Tt PR8N (fYaE 8) Amortisation of land use rights
(Note 8) 421 178
BB ERE (M 10) Amortisation of intangible assets
(Note 10) 312 276
REMEFE (K 9) Depreciation of investment properties
(Note 9) 92 93
Hib Others 2,519 1,950
166,744 145,525

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2015 Annual Report 167



ESOtEAFRERZRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING
DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS
(a) EEEAMAX (a) Employee benefit expenses

26. BERAFX  BREESHE

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2015F 20144
2015 2014
FH&T T
HKD'000 HKD’'000
TE& - $He M Wages, salaries and bonuses 117,773 101,653

RIRERA — EEEHERETE Pension costs — defined contribution
plans 19,325 15,648

MEFREER THERE Share options granted to directors

and employees 14,854 -
ER - BB R E At Welfare, medical and others 4,171 3,566
156,123 120,867

BERMAINAHEAKERTET
5 2R B AR -

Employee benefit expenses were charged in the following
categories in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income:

BZ12831HLEE

Year ended 31 December

2015 2014 F

2015 2014

FE T FATT

HKD’'000 HKD'000

HE RIS ERY Selling and marketing expenses 78,682 65,384
THAX Administrative expenses 77,441 55,483
156,123 120,867

AEETEMNBEARNEE RS HAM
AR ERNERNERETERARES
FTEl o AEBEIRR T T BT RE R E
EHPI (N FREHEH13%E21%
RAELTR) BT SEHEER M
REBERKENREES -
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Employees of the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are
required to participate in a defined contribution
retirement scheme administered and operated by the
local municipal governments. The Group contributes
funds which are calculated on fixed percentage ranging
from 13% to 21% of the employees’ salary (subject to a
floor and cap) as set by local municipal governments to
each scheme locally to fund the retirement benefits of the
employees.
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26. BRERAFX  BREESHE

(a)

(b)

(%)

EEERNX(A)
REBNEEEMAIZH KB A 7 E
—HEBRHENGE  REE-RNEX
FREAEENBLESARE - ZEMEB
R ERIRE B 3 & 5% B Bl E Ho B[ 7%
ERHRE BB EEES -

LEREFMAL
HZE2015F 12 A31HILEFE - AEE
hEEEHTMATEELR (20144 ¢
ZHRIPTES  BENWSEENF
39MIDATH DRI RM o B ZE 2015512
A31BHIEFE - H# — & (20145 -
&) ATHB S BREHTInT

26.

(a)

(b)

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Employee benefit expenses (Continued)

The Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong
operate a defined contribution plan, the assets of which
are generally held in a separate trustee-administered
fund. These subsidiaries pay fixed contribution into such
defined contribution plan on a fixed percentage of 5% of
the employee’s salary.

Five highest paid individuals

The 5 individuals whose emoluments were the highest in
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015
included 4 (2014: 3) executive directors whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in
Note 39. The aggregate amounts of emoluments for the
remaining 1 (2014: 2) individuals for the year ended 31
December 2015 are set out below:

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2015 2014 4F

2015 2014

FE T FHET

HKD’'000 HKD'000

IERF® Wages and salaries 1,618 2,929

M {E 8% T oA Share options granted to employees 327 =

TEAL Bonuses 66 136
BIRERA — EREHRRETE Pension costs — defined contribution

18 34

2,029 3,099

B ZE 20154 K2014%E 12 A31 8 1IE 4
ERERZEALIFOMSER 55
:

The emoluments payable to these individuals for the
years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 fell within the
following bands:

BZ12A31BILEE
Year ended 31 December
2014 5

2015 £
2015 2014

5 & [ Emoluments band

1,000,001 T2 1,500,000 HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 - 1
1,500,001 % T £ 2,000,000 HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000 - 1
2,000,001 T2 2,500,000/4 7 HKD2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000 1 =
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26. EERFFEX  BEESHE 26. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING
(&) DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b) HEEBBREHFMAL(E) (b) Five highest paid individuals (Continued)
RE Z=2015%F % 2014F 128318 1t During the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, no
FEAN AEEREREMEREHDE emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the
ReHMA T EMME - (ERINE directors or the five highest paid individuals as an
RNEE S IR B R REN S ERBH TR inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
B SEEHEFENESIRENREE compensation for loss of office, no directors waived or
A% o have agreed to waive any emoluments.

27. HWBA 27. OTHER INCOME

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2015F 20144
2015 2014
F#&T T4
HKD'000 HKD’'000
BT BRI (a) Government subsidy income (a) 4,164 4,521
& & s ARSI Advertising consulting service income 3,417 2,731
At ESREEMNR KA Dividend income on available-for-sale
(K17%33) financial assets (Note 33) 1,202 329
ERFT—HBE Q7R EWA  Interest income on loans to
(K17%33) an associate (Note 33) 1,151 491
At E SR EENF SWA Interest income on available-for-sale
financial assets 976 =
BRI TERIRE Compensation from counter parties
for breach of contracts 886 1,770
REH T M MR AN Reimbursement of installation
and maintenance costs 793 —
REMENHES A Rental income on investment
properties 169 171
12,758 10,013
@ BFHBERAEEEBRTEES (@) Government subsidy income represented various
FIERERREETRENSE tax refunds granted by the relevant government
R o authorities with no future obligations.
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Hit (B18), W - FHE

28. OTHER (LOSSES)/GAINS, NET

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

20154 20144
2015 2014
FET THETT
HKD’'000 HKD'000
EE(EIB K (a) Compensation loss (a) (48,312) -
BB R R Net exchange losses (2,918) (1,001)
BAFEIABZEMNESMEE Fair value (losses)/gains on financial
NE (E518), Wz (BfaF 11(a)  assets at fair value through
profit or loss (Note 11(a)) (445) 452
HEME - WEREED (Losses)/gains on disposal of property,
(E18), Wz (Hiz# 33) plant and equipment (Note 33) (3) 285
&Ry & — & R B H e Gains on partial disposal of
(B1a%13) an associate (Note 13) - 1,743
Hity Others (715) 455
(52,393) 1,934

(a) EEBREREZERME1RLE
HEBEREEABEMIERIR
EEBR AT ([EREDE]) AR
SEREMMPHEREED R
H-HERENENERETE LS
WA MR 2015F10 B 148 &
FEAKIEE2014E581BEE
202444 A 308 It A H10FE K
R e Bt R g 2= B /Y
HEEE R MR R B R T
HE’JW“?%H% BIEERER

BEARHAEERAERT MK
iﬂ*f@k%f‘“ﬁ’]%%ﬁﬁ#T\ BB
2015912 A 31 BB BRI FREE -
EH R 20164 3 BHFE SR #ET
WIRAF S ERE  WRMEE
TEEITIE T ©

Compensation loss represented a provision for an
arbitration claim brought against the Group by
Ningbo Metro Group Limited (“Ningbo Metro”),
owner of Ningbo Metro Line No.1 media resources.
The arbitration claim aims to determine the
compensation costs for Ningbo Metro’s media
resources vacancy and maintenance losses, as
Shanghai Asiaray unilaterally terminated the
concession agreement with a term of 10 years from
1 May 2014 to 30 April 2024 on 14 October 2015.
Legal advice indicates it is probable that a
significant liability will arise and the outcome of final
arbitration claim will not beyond the amounts
provided as at 31 December 2015. Evidence was
taken in the hearing from both parties in Ningbo in
early March 2016 and the negotiation after the court
of arbitration continues.
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29. BE(WA) A& BE 29. FINANCE (INCOME)/COSTS, NET

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2015 20144
2015 2014
THERT T
HKD’'000 HKD'000
RE WA Finance income
RITIF A2 WA Interest income on bank deposits (5,576) (6,844)
& A Finance costs
RITEARHF B Interest expense on bank borrowings 3,222 9,084
ERT ML ATINIREZE Discounting effects of loans to
(KBt 16(0) an associate (Note 16(f) - 6,662
3,222 15,746
BE(WA) A EEE Finance (income)/costs, net (2,354) 8,902
30. FRfEH(ER) BIX 30. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE
RE BB E£2015F K 20145612 8 31 The income tax (credit)/expense of the Group for the
BHILFERMREHR (ER) M oim years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 is analysed as
TS follows:

BZ12831HLEE

Year ended 31 December

2015 F 2014 4F

2015 2014

FHBxT T

HKD’'000 HKD’'000

BIHAFR 15 H4 Current income tax

— PR EMEH — PRC corporate income tax 18,406 35,459
— BEREH — Hong Kong profits tax 3,678 6,684
22,084 42,143
REFTIS T (MAL 15) Deferred income tax (Note 15) (25,893) (14,612)
(3,809) 27,531
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30.

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

FrEB (%) BX @)
FERBAEH
ARARASHSREMNSHB DA
MR AR ERAR - Eit e
FIS B B ATISHE -

EBANEH
HRAEERES ERNE AT EHNE
BEE  MERBBNEHFREE -
AEBEBREHZE 20155 K% 2014 F 12
A3 BIEFESFNEFTERTFE
12 16.5% BT R GTHEHHE ©

B S AT B

AEBCDRBRITAN 2B BRIE
BBt E AP BIRRE RN B F R A EHE
AR A T 4% 25% O T R 5t 1R P 1S A B
B BRIFBERNBENEANERR

AEEMBRREREBRECENHE
ERMEKY - FRERNHBEAETE
MEENEERWBRER  #EF
15% MBEMEHRBE

hERENB
RFEARBEFEEER - NP BARREER
SHAEIFE2008E1 A1 B 2 BELR
FEmINEIEEEDIRAIRE - —ARA
Z10% B R BINFAEH - WRBEBZE
A KSR E B AP EARERE
PERT SR o SRR L HER IR AR
FBBENBEREBEHI0%EES
5% °

30.

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (Continued)
Cayman Islands income tax

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of Cayman Islands and accordingly, is
exempted from Cayman Islands income tax.

Hong Kong profits tax

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for as there was
business operation that is subject to Hong Kong profits
tax. It had been provided for at the rate of 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profits for each of the years ended
31 December 2015 and 2014.

PRC Corporate Income Tax

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of
operations in the Mainland China has been calculated at
the tax rate of 25% on the estimated assessable profits
for each of the years ended, based on the existing
legislation, interpretations and practices in respect
thereof, unless preferential tax rates were applicable.

Yunnan Airport Asiaray, a subsidiary of the Group, was
established in Yunnan Province, PRC. It was eligible for
preferential tax policies applicable for the development
of western regions in the Mainland China, and was
entitled to a preferential income tax rate of 15%.

PRC withholding tax

According to the applicable PRC tax regulations,
dividends distributed by a company established in the
Mainland China to a foreign investor with respect to
profits derived after 1 January 2008 are generally subject
to a 10% withholding income tax. If a foreign investor
incorporated in Hong Kong meets the conditions and
requirements under the double taxation treaty
arrangement entered into between the Mainland China
and Hong Kong, the relevant withholding tax rate will be
reduced from 10% to 5%.
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30. FRI8F (ER) BX(#®)

30. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (Continued)

7N EE [ [ P 1S F A )8 M 5 18 B2 BE BB o The tax on the Group's profit before income tax differs
BRUTAHERESEREERTE from the theoretical amount that would arise using the
FEMIEFE R EELNIERSET weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of

[A] :

consolidated entities in the respective jurisdictions as
follows:

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

BRATEBLAT (B518), /FE
B DRI E R B

2B % 25% B M BUR
ERRAEETRKEL AN
TRRENYE

BARTAOWA
RRIHF X

EREHAEEN AR AR R

AEREEHAEENE R
EH

B ABEFEARERNHEABR

BEBEFEAERNERIE
EH

1B 2 IRAE A B TR0
IS

PrSH (E %), Bk

HOEEEEERRAG 201568 174

2015 F 20144

2015 2014

THET FET

HKD’000 HKD’'000

(Loss)/profit before income tax (6,005) 219,843
Less: share of results of investments

in associates (8,177) 819

(14,182) 220,662

Tax calculated at a tax rate of 25% (3,546) 55,166

Effect of different tax rates applicable
to different subsidiaries of

the Group (5,826) (10,183)
Incomes not subject to tax (209) (161)
Expenses not deductible for

tax purposes 3,342 6,304
Tax losses not recognised for deferred

tax assets 2,540 414
Temporary differences not recognised

for deferred tax assets 9 15
Utilisation of tax losses previously

not recognised in prior years (119) (12,309)
Reversal of temporary differences

not recognised in prior years - (13,164)
PRC withholding income tax

on distributed dividends - 1,449
Income tax (credit)/expense (3,809) 27,531
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(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basics

Basic (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by dividing
the (loss)/profit attributable to owners of the Company by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year.

31. BR(ER) B 31.
(a) E& (a)
SREAR (ER) /BRI TYIREA R AR
BB (1), FIE - B UAFERE %
TERBIE TR -

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December
2015 &

20144
2015 2014
FE&xT FAETT
HKD’000 HKD’000

ARAGEE AR (B1R), )8

(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of

the Company (39,616) 142,555
BEITE AR I Weighted average number of ordinary
(LATFREED) (%) shares in issue (thousands) (*) 435,781 330,000
% (E518) /& F| (Loss)/earnings per share (HK cents
(AERELFIR) per share) (9.09) 43.20
(*)  ARAER2014F5 20 BERS ST (*) The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 20
AL - YETE & B B ATAR AN /& 50,000 7 May 2014 with authorised and issued share capital of
JT * 5 A500,000 f% & B {E0.10/8 7T HKD50,000 divided into 500,000 shares of HKDO0.10 each. On
BRk1n o 7201448 A 25 H © AARA 25 August 2014, the Company allotted and issued a total of
% K %476 #£329,500,000 % A& 15 329,500,000 shares and accordingly, the issued share capital
It - AARIR 20146 8 A 25 HOE 1T of the Company as at 25 August 2014 was increased from
fi% 78 /50,0007 st ( 9 4 500,000 A% ) HKD50,000 divided into 500,000 shares to HKD33,000,000
# Z 33,000,000 % 7T (9 4 330,000,000 divided into 330,000,000 shares. The 330,000,000 shares were
BR) - A EERER(ER), &AM treated as outstanding shares and included in the weighted
= * 330,000,000 A& 418 R B BEATAS - average number of ordinary shares for the year ended 31
FFAEZE2014F 123N BIEFEEZE December 2014 for purpose of computing the basic (loss)/
BRI - earnings per share.
(b)y #8 (b) Diluted

FhiEE (BEB)  BRDHRRXEERAE
RAIMRBREMELNMEBEEHS
TRk (ERTESREE(BR) &
MEyD F) $ B BT EBBRNEFHE
1R E - BEE(ER) B2 (H
) fEHH A o

A B 8 (FIFE34) HIZ AT 8E
SHESRERN(BR) AF B
HEM25FEARREERE - HER
HEREE (BR) BN RAEE
A o

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by adjusting
the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding by the assumption of the conversion of all
potential dilutive ordinary shares arising from share
options granted by the Company (forming the
denominator for computing diluted (loss)/earnings per
share). No adjustment is made to (loss)/earnings
(numerator).

The Group's share option plan (Note 34) could potentially
dilute basic (loss)/earnings per share in the future, but
were not included in the calculation of diluted (loss)/
earnings per share because they are anti-dilutive for the
years presented.
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32. RE 32. DIVIDENDS

BZ12A31BLEE
Year ended 31 December

2015 &

20144
2014
T
HKD'000

2015
FET
HKD’000

EERRPREEM0.09/87T Proposed final dividend of HKDO0.09

(2014 : 0.06587T) (a) (2014: HKDO0.065) per share (a) 39,600 28,600
A HARR B &A% 0.055 87T Interim dividend of HKD0.055
(20144 : &) (2014 nil) per share 24,200 =
2013 % B ER%0.546 5 7T (b) 2013 dividend of HKD0.546
per share (b) - 180,180
63,800 208,780

(b)

MN2016FE3 30 BTz AE
F EFeERRNEZE2015F
NANBLEFEENKRERES
1% 0.09 %70 (2014 4F : ©7%0.065
HTT ) o 4858 539,600,000 7T
(2014 : 28,600,000 % 7T ) A%
BARERERFBFAG LER
RAER T AIEE - & HI ISR
KW KRR ERMRE °

RIEEE2N2014F12H6H
BB ZRER

iy ESSHASRMEZEEZE
2013912 A31 AL FE K
5.180,180,0007% st ( & &
0.54678 7T ) * B & Media
Cornerstone Limited
([Media Comerstone]) &
Space Management Limited
([Space Management)|) %
Al 7 132,130,000% 7T &
48,050,000/ 7T :

iy AQRREAERETHEB
UNGIHIVEER S 0] F
UL 0 MROE A R H AT Y
AETEEFHAAMNER
AIEEMERKREL X F
£ #931,926,0005% 7T ([ £
RERIB ) BEEEEADR]

At the meeting held on 30 March 2016, the Board
recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HKDO0.09 (2014: HKDO0.065) per share for the year
ended 31 December 2015, amounting to a total of
HKD39,600,000 (2014: HKD28,600,000). This
proposed dividend is to be approved by the
shareholders at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting. These financial statements do not reflect
this dividend payable.

Pursuant to the resolutions passed by the Board on
6 December 2014:

(i)  the Board approved to declare and distribute
a dividend in the amount of HKD180,180,000
(HKDO0.546 per share), including
HKD132,130,000 and HKD48,050,000 to
Media Cornerstone Limited (“"Media
Cornerstone”) and Space Management
Limited (“Space Management”), respectively,
for the year ended 31 December 2013;

(i)  the Company entered into an assignment of
current accounts with certain subsidiaries of
the Group, pursuant to which the outstanding
current accounts repayable by Mr. Lam and
certain related parties controlled by Mr. Lam
to those subsidiaries with the net balance of

approximately HKD31,926,000 (the “Current

& Accounts”) were assigned to the Company;
and

(i) FEXRERBEBEEMLEZE (iliy the Current Accounts were settled with the
KA B Eal g BEAE R A © same amount of the above dividend at the
RS - WK 201412 A request of Mr. Lam and HKD74,000 of
6 B AR & S 5% 5. 74,000 dividend was paid in cash on 6 December
BIT ° 2014.
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33. EE(FTH) FB8RE 33. CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED FROM

OPERATIONS

HBE12H831BLLEE

Year ended 31 December

2015 F 20144
2015 2014
FERT T
HKD’'000 HKD'000
BrETERLAT (E518),FIE (Loss)/profit before income tax (6,005) 219,843
TR Adjustments for:
JFE WK IR B 4 (77t 25) Impairment provision for receivables
(Note 25) 16,830 3,199
RITEENBF (AL 29) Interest expenses on bank
borrowings (Note 29) 3,222 9,084
RITIF AN BN (HaE 29) Interest income on bank deposits
(Note 29) (5,576) (6,844)
BRT—HEBE AR Discounting effect of loans to
ARIR 2 (M7 29) an associate (Note 29) - 6,662
R TR R e Interest income on loans to
FBUWA (HteE27) an associate (Note 27) (1,151) (491)
A ESREED Interest income on available-for-sale
MEMWA (Btat27) financial assets (Note 27) (976) -
AEHESREER Dividend income on available-for-sale
BN (B1:£27) financial assets (Note 27) (1,202) (329)
ME - BEMREBNITE Depreciation of property, plant and
(Htate) equipment (Note 6) 31,565 28,853
5 PR R B 8K (AT 8) Amortisation of land use rights
(Note 8) 421 178
WEMETE (MeE9) Depreciation of investment
properties (Note 9) 92 93
B EERE (M 10) Amortisation of intangible assets
(Note 10) 312 276
HEWE - HFE REH Losses/(gains) on disposal of
B8 (Was) (Kiat28) property, plant and equipment
(Note 28) 3 (285)
BATEYAEBZRERERD Fair value losses/(gains) on financial
eMEEATERBE(WKH) assets at fair value through
(H1:x28) profit or loss (Note 28) 445 (452)
DIEREE R RINIRE XS Share of results of investments
(KtaE13) in associates (Note 13) (8,177) 819
29,803 260,606
LEESEH (TR Changes in working capital (excluding
REaft ABRREER the effects of currency translation
BEEBEEZELEE differences on consolidation and
—ENBRRNTE) disposal of a subsidiary):
—FE — Inventories (1,075) 105
— U BR R % L i i W Rk IR — Trade and other receivables (143,363) (36,945)
— B ERFR R E AR FRIA — Trade and other payables (23,105) (29,786)
— XRHRE — Restricted cash (839) (69,925)
B (A FiEEs Cash (used in)/generated from
operations (138,579) 124,055
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33. BE(FA) FMERE#)

EAHRERERT  HEVE  BFE
KBRESFERRE

33. CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED FROM
OPERATIONS (Continued)
In the consolidated statements of cash flows, proceeds
from disposals of property, plant and equipment
comprise:

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2015F 20144

2015 2014

FE&T FAET

HKD'000 HKD'000

BRTEFE (Wt 6) Net book amount (Note 6) 752 103
e (E18), s (AL 28) (Losses)/gains on disposals (Note 28) (3) 285
& PTS 50E Proceeds from disposals 749 388

34. UG AEBRNNAR

(a) EERREEHE
ANEBE R E([Z:H 8 ) R
ER2014F 12 A6 BiBBH R SRR
B TEAMARABRATYHAEE
FRrYEH S AT AR V1 B0 B BRI IR S SR it
Bk B4R -

R2015F5A21H @ EFEREZXGT
St ER 111,534,875 R E T 8
IABRARBEERERATENREE
SNES ([EE R ERE BT S
KRB 5% w1 B #E & 5 H 4,400,000 19 FE
BEAE FARSEAE ([1TERA B AR RT3 1)
KA 20154 6 A 10 H 2217 0B R 45 Bl
ANERBYRAEER -

LN REERERAEETHE
0.6 FRAITE30% AN R B % T H L
1.6F R AIITE70% B ° AT AR
201651 H1H £2020F6 A9R( 2
RERMB)MEATE LiEshe R
R AR A B30 %MD - AR AR
201741 R 1H £2020F6 A9R( 2
REREMB)MEATESHERLE
EAER ELER 70 % AR 1D ©
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34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

(a) Share Option Scheme
The Company’s share option scheme was adopted
pursuant to a resolution passed on 6 December 2014 (the
"Scheme”) for the primary purpose of providing
incentives or rewards to eligible persons for their
contribution or potential contribution to the Group.

On 21 May 2015, the Board approved to grant
11,534,875 share options under the Scheme to its
employees and directors that excluding Mr. Lam, the
chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company
("Employee and Contributor Share Option Plan”) and
4,400,000 share options under the Scheme to Mr. Lam
("Executive Share Option Plan”) that was approved and
confirmed by the independent shareholders at the
extraordinary general meeting held on 10 June 2015.

The vesting schedule of above share options is 30% after
0.6 years from the grant date and 70% after 1.6 years
from the grant date. The first 30% of the above share
options granted shall be exercisable by the grantees
during the period from 1 January 2016 to 9 June 2020
(both days inclusive); and the remaining 70% of the share
options granted shall be exercisable by the grantees
during the period from 1 January 2017 to 9 June 2020
(both days inclusive).
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34. DIRODABERNIRE) 34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (Continued)

(a) BRESTE(E) (a) Share Option Scheme (Continued)
REBEWFERSIHERS - UELE The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to
M Sl A S 7 AR o repurchase or settle the options in cash.

(b) BRENESR (b) Movements in share options
BETHERESE KA IBREIE TS Movements in the number of share options outstanding
IEERESERET and their related weighted average exercise prices were

as follows:

EEREMERRES THABBRE S
Employee and Contributor Executive
Share Option Plan Share Option Plan
PR fBRE 76 BRE BERE
B BE Bt #E HE

€=3:8 3 (TkR) (EkEER) (k) (k)
Average Number of Average Number of Total
exercise price share exercise price share number of
(HKD per options (HKD per options  share options
share option) (thousands)  share option) (thousands) (thousands)

F2015%1A18  At1January 2015 - - - _
B Granted 6.95 11,535 6.95 4,400 15,935

KA Lapsed 6.95 (179) = = (179)

7R2015% 12 H31H At 31 December 2015 6.95 11,356 6.95 4,400 15,756
() EBRITHERE (c) Outstanding share options

RERBETERENKSB RITER Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the

R following expiry date and exercise price:

kM H —202056 A9H Expiry date — 9 June 2020

M 2015412H831H
As at 31 December 2015
1TEE BREEE

BREET (FR])
Exercise price Number of
in HKD per share options
share option (thousands)
BENERERITRAR Employee and Contributor and
RERSME=T 2 Executive Share Option Plans 6.95 15,756
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34.

(d)

35.

(a)

KA HEEREBERAF

DR EBEBRNARE)
BREQTLE
RABEEL T — MBI HEMITESE
FEARARM EMERENSRL A
B A FEE TG - BRENAFE
DERAXRIEET - BREREBERE
IR B E A AR EANERE AR
B A EMITEE - KIE30.493% - IR B
E1.0726 2 - THHAEREFHS1FER
4 3 [ F K| R 1.2258[E » {TIRA BB
IR B E A AR EANERB AR
BAREMITHEE  KIE31.29% - &KE
% 1.0726 [F - TEEARE AR 4 6F HA 5 F R A
[ B 4F F| %= 1.3088 [ » ATt 2 MK IR
THAZ BRI E LR A R A F R A
I LT - 201545 A 21 HiIRE(E
B RERMERBRET SR ERED
1B & 4919,402,0007 7T MR IR TT
B A B R T IR 1 PR AR A (B
£497,453,000 77T °

MEZE 2015412 A31 B ILFEEE KE
8 AR % P 7 52 H9 42 B3 % /& 14,854,000
BT (20144 - &) »

EDNCL PR
BABL RS

B ECH MM EE N AN EE A
HEAB A NEE 2015412 A31 BILE
ERETTIERRS - RAREER
B ZEEB AR 5T A EERBIR
Fp 2 R 7R &2 (B B R O T P IR R
1T e
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34.

(d)

35.

(a)

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (Continued)

Fair values of share options

The directors of the Company appointed an independent
valuer, Greater China Appraisal Limited, to estimate the
fair value of the above share options as at the respective
grant dates. The fair values of the share options were
determined using the Binomial method. The significant
inputs used in the Employee and Contributor Share
Option Plan valuation method were exercise price shown
above, volatility of 30.493%, dividend yield of 1.0726%,
an expected option life of 5.1 years, and an annual risk-
free interest rate of 1.2258%. The significant inputs used
in the Executive Share Option Plan valuation method
were exercise price shown above, volatility of 31.29%,
dividend yield of 1.0726%, an expected share option life
of 5 years, and an annual risk-free interest rate of
1.3088%. The volatility measured is estimated by the
average of 5-year weekly volatility of several comparable
companies. The fair value of share options granted on 21
May 2015 under Employee and Contributor Share Option
Plan was approximately HKD19,402,000 and the fair value
of options granted under Executive Share Option Plan
was approximately HKD7,453,000.

The total expenses recognised for employee services
received in respect of the year ended 31 December 2015
was HKD14,854,000 (2014: nil).

SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Transactions with related parties

Same as disclosed in other notes above, the following
significant transactions were carried out between the
Group and its related parties during the year ended 31
December 2015. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the related party transactions were carried out
in the normal course of business and at terms negotiated
between the Group and the respective related parties.
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SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

35. EXEBAXRS #) 35.

(a) PBEAREZ (&) (a) Transactions with related parties (Continued)
() BEEETRERA (i)  Advertising display service incomes

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

20154 20144
2015 2014
THERT THETT
HKD’000 HKD’000
BENT : Associates:
— RYI IS T 4 — Shenzhen Airport Asiaray 2,341 2,866
— BEIAES — Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising 4,597 5,264
R—EHE L= Non-controlling interest in
FEIER R a subsidiary:
—EHHHEBER AR R — Wuxi Metro Group Limited and
NG its subsidiaries (435 i 2 & =
(MEHE REFRA D) BRABREFRAR])
("Wuxi Metro and
its subsidiaries”) 1,101 =
8,039 8,130

(i) EERERFKRA

i F/NT
— YIS M 4

(i) Advertising production service income

BZ12A31MBLEE

Year ended 31 December
2015 F

2015
TERT
HKD’000

Associate:

— Shenzhen Airport Asiaray -

2014 4F
2014
FET
HKD'000

595
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35. EXRBEBARS (&) 35. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(a) BEARZ (&) (a) Transactions with related parties (Continued)
(i) BRI E S (i) ~ Concession fee charges for advertising spaces

BE12AMBLEE

Year ended 31 December

20154 20145
2015 2014
TET FET
HKD’000 HKD'000
BENT Associates:
— REIARS — Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising 12,631 2,731
— EAER — Guangxi Top Source 3,330 2,323
— YIS R4 — Shenzhen Airport Asiaray 89,647 46,691
PR DRI ERER Non-controlling interests in
subsidiaries:
—EEREEEEREER — Yunnan Airport Group Company
AIREFRR([Em# Limited and its subsidiaries
BREFRAR]) (ERRSEBERRETAT
REFRTE])
("Yunnan Airport and
its subsidiaries”) 111,539 110,637
— AEEREEEERAT — Henan Airport Group Company
(MArE#%5]) Limited (A F & # 15 5 B
B AR]) (“Henan Airport”) 36,643 47,367
— EGHE N E T AR — Wuxi Metro and its subsidiaries 47,163 -
—5BWEREREARRALE  — Qingdao Chengyang
([BE&W5]) Development and Investment
Company Limited
(EEWEHREIRERRRA)
("Qingdao Chengyang”) 10,179 -
311,132 209,749
iv) EfENHERE (iv) Sales commissions paid/payable

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2015F 20144
2015 2014
FH&xT T
HKD'000 HKD’'000

B AT - Associates:
— RIS — Shenzhen Airport Asiaray 504 -
— RE@EKIES — Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising 3 475

507 475
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ESOtEAFEERZRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. EXEBAXRS #) 35.

(@) BEBEXRE(F) (a)
V) WREHEHX

SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
Transactions with related parties (Continued)

(v)

Office rental expenses

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December
2015 &

20144
2014
FAET
HKD’000

2015
TR
HKD’000

R — R B 2 T FE IR IR HE 2 - Non-controlling interest in

a subsidiary:
— EEHSREFRAT — Yunnan Airport and
its subsidiaries 1,640 1,010
B EES Controlled by Mr. Lam:
— REBRAF — Peaky Limited - 588
1,640 1,598

EB AL R B E2015F &
20144612 A31 B L EE @Mk
APRHIRE A R T ST ERE
RAERARREHEMN QG -
T E W I N & RS IR R E
FREEONHASED -

W) ENIENEEX LKA

il NGB S e £
— EFREREFAR

— A5

(vi)

Shanghai Asiaray leased office premises from
Asiaray China Media Limited, a related company
controlled by Mr. Lam, free of charges during the
year ended 31 December 2015 and 2014. The
leasing agreements are renewable at the end of the
leasing period at the rate negotiated by both
parties.

Utilities cost paid/payable

BZ12A31BILEE
Year ended 31 December
2015 F

2014 4F
2014
F&T
HKD'000

2015
TERT
HKD’000

Non-controlling interests in
subsidiaries:
— Yunnan Airport and
its subsidiaries
— Henan Airport

4,573 3,251
739 617
5,312 3,868
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35. EXBABMAERS (&) 35. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(a) BEARZ (&) (a) Transactions with related parties (Continued)

(vii) FEEEA S (vii) Key management compensation
HEEBRBENREMNEEZEE The compensations paid or payable to key
AB(BRESE  THAHLEHE management personnel (including directors, chief
HERITHAR) KR T executive officer and other senior executives) for

employee services are shown below:

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2015 £ 2014 4F
2015 2014
THET TFET
HKD'000 HKD'000
ITERF® Wages and salaries 9,499 7,825
VARS A7 A3 258 2 A 7K Share-based payments 9,246 -
RIRET I K Retirement scheme contributions 290 245
TE4T Bonuses 66 940
HEt Total 19,101 9,010
(b) EEBIE SRR (b) Balances with related parties
() BREWEL : (i) Included in trade receivables:
M®12A31H
As at 31 December
2015 F 2014 4F
2015 2014
FHET T 7T
HKD’000 HKD’'000
i E BN Associates:
— R M3 e A — Shenzhen Airport Asiaray 9,156 12,733
— REIAES — Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising 1,652 =

R—EHE A AR IEIEREZE Non-controlling interest in
a subsidiary:
— EPME R EFRE] — Wuxi Metro and its subsidiaries 642 =

11,450 12,733
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ESOtEAFEERZRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. EXEBAEXRS &)

(b) EEBEFMER(E)
(i) ERENER

35. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(b) Balances with related parties (Continued)
(i) Included in trade payables:

M®12H831H
As at 31 December
2015 F 20144

2015 2014
TR TAET
HKD’000 HKD’000

KR A BRI SF R

— EEBSRAT AT

— A

(i)  BBREMTETHIE -

Non-controlling interests in
subsidiaries:
— Yunnan Airport and

its subsidiaries 760 1,518
— Henan Airport 22,320 19,757
23,080 21,275

(iii)  Included in other prepayments:

M12H831H
As at 31 December
2015 % 2014 €

2015 2014
TERT THAT

i E/NT
— BEIKIESE
— ERIBR

RHE D T AR

—EGHME N AT RE
—S5 505

HKD’000 HKD’000

Associates:
— Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising 1,301 840
— Guangxi Top Source 155 211
Non-controlling interests in
subsidiaries:

— Wuxi Metro and its subsidiaries 10,441 =
— Qingdao Chengyang 2,328 -
14,225 1,051
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ESOtEAFRERZRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. EREBMAERS (&) 35. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(b) EERRELWGEX () (b) Balances with related parties (Continued)
(iv) EREGEE RS ESs (iv)  Included in accrued concession fee charges for
firie advertising spaces:
MW12A31H
As at 31 December
2015F 20144
2015 2014
FET FH&TT
HKD'000 HKD’'000
B AT - Associates:
—BEKARS — Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising 105 1,201
— R T A A — Shenzhen Airport Asiaray 39,981 31,943
RHBATMIEERER ©  Non-controlling interests in
subsidiaries:
— EEBEREF AT — Yunnan Airport and
its subsidiaries 96,243 52,759
— SH IS — Henan Airport 6,154 22,960
— EiGH R EFAR] — Wuxi Metro and its subsidiaries 8,288 -
150,771 108,863
) EBRAEMBEWFIA - (v)  Included in other receivables:
R12A31H
As at 31 December
2015F 20144
2015 2014
FHET T
HKD'000 HKD'000
BiE AT Associates:
— BAETER — Guangxi Top Source 119 127
— R M35 e A — Shenzhen Airport Asiaray 379 259

A — BB A TR IEE IR EZ  Non-controlling interest in
a subsidiary:
— EEHISRETF LA — Yunnan Airport and
its subsidiaries 74 351

572 737
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ESOtEAFEERZRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. EXEBAEXRS &)

(b) EEEEFHNER (E)
G EMRE

(vi)

(vii)

35. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(b) Balances with related parties (Continued)

P& NE)
— RYIH 5 AL 4
M EEES
— Media Cornerstone
— Space Management

B E IR

(vi)  Included in dividends payable:
M®12H31H
As at 31 December
2015 £ 2014 4F
2015 2014
F#&T T
HKD’'000 HKD'000
Associate:

— Shenzhen Airport Asiaray - 1,382

Controlled by Mr. Lam:

BENT:
— RIS

— Media Cornerstone - 108,664
— Space Management - 39,516
- 149,562
(vii) Included in other payables:
M®12H31H

As at 31 December
2015 20144
2015 2014
F#&xT FHIT
HKD’000 HKD’000

Associate:

— Shenzhen Airport Asiaray - 319

R— BB 2 R FEER R  Non-controlling interest in

— A

Lt ERBET SR TR EE
A RBRRERER -

EXRREE TRES WEIER
KX &M ERXABIIEAANR
AEEBERANTXBHEBEN
ﬂz =]

a subsidiary:
— Henan Airport

145 314

145 633

The above balances with related parties were
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The English names of certain related parties referred
to above represented the best efforts by
management of the Company in translating their
Chinese names, as they do not have official English
names.
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36. REHERIE 36. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
AREBRBETNIRIEKCLHEE M The Group leases certain office buildings and certain
ETHAMERETERER - iR media resources under non-cancellable operating lease
MEEENHEBR 1 FE10F1 5 agreements. The lease terms for office buildings are
HEERAAB1EE10E1E - A negotiated for terms ranging from 1 to 10 years, and
D E R RN EERFRETISHES those for media resources are negotiated for terms
e ranging from 1 to 10 years, and majority of lease

agreements are renewable at the end of the lease period
at market rate.

AT ABREBEIRE B ELEER The Group's future aggregate minimum lease payments
R SRS N 4asE under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:
R12A31R
As at 31 December
2015 20144
2015 2014
FET THET
HKD’'000 HKD’000
NE2NE:S Not later than 1 year 805,066 513,823
ZR1FERZNE5F Later than 1 year and not later than
5 years 1,727,255 1,072,788
ZR5F Later than 5 years 817,451 416,881
3,349,772 2,003,492
37. RE=E 37. CONTINGENCIES
75 £ B 7 20154 K 201412 B31H The Group had no material contingent liabilities
BE A EEnEARREE - outstanding as at 31 December 2015 and 2014.
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ESOtEAFEERZRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. ANFEEEBRRBERD 38. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT
OF THE COMPANY

BE
FRBEE
R—EHBARZKE

MW12A31H
As at 31 December
2015 £ 2014 4F
2015 2014
FET FHET
HKD’'000 HKD'000
ASSETS
Non-current asset
Investment in a subsidiary 280,094 280,094

REBEE Current assets
Hh fE SR IE Other receivables 555,249 187,165
TR Short-term deposits 27,000 -
RekReEHFEY Cash and cash equivalents 35,828 -
618,077 187,165

HWEE Total assets 898,171 467,259
EEREE EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
AAREE AEMGER Equity attributable to owners

of the Company
& A Share capital (a) 44,000 33,000
1D mE Share premium (a) 557,813 -
& Reserves (a) 264,528 249,674
(R&HE1E) 1REBAF (Accumulated losses)/retained

earnings (a) (9,260) 539
wER Total equity 857,081 283,213
=N Liabilities
REBEE Current liability
E b e {3k IE Other payables 41,090 184,046
wmaE Total liability 41,090 184,046
HERREE Total equity and liability 898,171 467,259
ARAREEABRERLESTERN The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the
20164 3 A 30 H #L ) FI) 5 - I A LA Board of Directors on 30 March 2016 and was signed on
TEERERESZ - its behalf.

mEE BEX
Lam Tak Hing, Vincent So Chi Man
FE HITEF
Chairman Executive Director
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ESOtEAFRERZRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. ANAEERBRRMEERE

(a)

A HEEREBERAF

(%)
RAFREED

12014457200
(Gl =)
AR
BE2013EEERRE

REEAZTHRN

R2014512A 318

R201551818
FENE
FTHRb

(%)
B ET 3

—EERBEE

R2015512A31R

At 20 May 2014
(date of incorporation)
Profit for the period
Dividends paid relating to
2013
Shares issued pursuant to
the Reorganisation

At 31 December 2014

At 1 January 2015
Profit for the year
Issuance of new shares
Dividends
Employee share option
scheme
— value of employee
services

At 31 December 2015

2015 F % 190

38. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(a) Equity movement of the Company

(RHER)/

AT REEH
(Accumulated
losses)/

DRGAER
RiiaE WNRREE  HOEE
Share-based
Share retained Share compensation Other
capital earnings premium reserve reserves Total
TAL THL THL TEL TAL TEL
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000

33,000 - - - - 33,000
- 180719 - - - 180719
- (180,180) - - - (180,180)
- - - - 29674 249674
33,000 539 g - M9674 283213
33,000 539 = - 49674 283213
= (9,799) = = = (9,799)
11,000 - 610,613 = - 621,613
= - (52800 = - (52800
- - = 14,854 = 14,854
44,000 (9.260) 557,813 14854 249674 857,081




ESOtEAFEERZRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39. EEME 39. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS
B EEREE2015F 12 A31 AIEF The remuneration of each director for the year ended 31
EHMeEsInT December 2015 is set out as below:

HEZEE

LG

EWE

HEE AAXKEE

EZBH HNEfKRE

EfbER EIHEKE BHAE BAHEN

F&  BERA  EERR  HEMGE  SEHOMRX Le:) He

Emoluments

paid or

receivable

in respect of

director's

other services

in connection

with the

Remunerations management

Employer's paid or of the affairs

contribution  receivable of the

Estimated toa inrespectof  Company

money value  retirement  accepting orits

Discretionary Housing of other benefit officeas  subsidiary

Name of directors Fees Salary bonuses  allowance benefits scheme director undertaking
TR TATL TAT TR TAT TR TAT TAT
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000

WEE Mr. Lam - 1,200 - - 4,092 18 - - 5,310
BRNEE Mr. Yung Chung Man - 2,245 - - 1,934 18 - - 4,197
BEX AL Mr. So Chi Man - 1,920 - - 1,257 18 - - 3,195
HRERE Mr. Lam Ka Po - 1,920 - - 1,236 18 - - 3,174
BRELE Mr. Ma Andrew Chiu

Cheung 216 - = o 97 - - - 313
BEBLE Mr. Ma Ho Fai 216 - - - 97 . - - 313
REELE Mr. Chan Chi Fai

Andrew 216 - - - 97 = = = 313
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ESOtEAFRERZRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39. EEME(©) 39. DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
BUESREE2014F 12 A31 ALEF The remuneration of each director for the year ended 31
ERMEEZIMT December 2014 is set out as below:

Emoluments
paid or
receivable
in respect of
director's

other services

in connection

Remunerations with the

paid or - management

Employer's  receivable ~ of the affairs

Estimated contribution to in respect of of the
money value  aretirement  accepting  Company or
Discretionary Housing of other benefit office as  its subsidiary
Name of directors Salary bonuses allowance benefits scheme director  undertaking
AT TAT T TAL ‘ AL
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
WEE Mr. Lam - 120 48 - - 7 - - 175
BBXEE Mr. Yung Chung Man - 2,013 252 - = = = = 2,265
HEXE Mr. So Chi Man - 1,666 320 - - 17 - - 2,003
HERELE Mr. Lam Ka Po - 1,698 320 - - 17 - - 2,035
FRERE Mr. Ma Andrew Chiu
Cheung 134 - - - - - - - 134
FRERE Mr. Ma Ho Fai 134 - - - - - - - 134
REBLE Mr. Chan Chi Fai
Andrew 134 - - - - - - - 134
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ESOtEAFEERZRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39.

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

()

EEWS
HZE2015F12A31BILFE @ HEE
FEEREEWRE TS 1E A I A S EE
FASE R RS R KB FE B
EEENEREREABNESNREME
EAIENE (20144 « £E) o

EEERKER
HZE2015F 12 A31HILEE © HER
AARREMBARSMESEERR
AIKEMBAREREE ' MARAE
EXHEABEAERLENTEERR
K& 8/ E FRIKEF (20144 -
£ Y

EEEBEA
HZE2015F 12 A31HILEE © BER
AARERRAKRIEEAMAESEI
I {E (20144 « £E) o

AE=AXNRHEESHRH2KE

HE2015F 12 A31 BILFE * RAR]
YARBEMBLE=FEINEEREZ
KRB (20144 : &) o

BELES  EEcZEHEERREE
ERESAZBACER EERREMR
Z2EH

HZE2015F 12 A31BILFE © &
RNARES BERZZEHIEEREE
BERAXSAZER  EEFRRHEMR
5 (20144 « #&) -

EENRS  RERSHZEAER

RERFKF AT IRER - ARFIZEEHR
BRARRRIEVEASEERER
BERS  THREHNRHEFTMNER
B EEER (20145 « &) ©

39.

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

)

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Directors’ remuneration

During the year ended 31 December 2015, no director
received any emolument from the Group as an
inducement to join or leave the Group or compensation
for loss of office; no directors and senior management
waived or has agreed to waive any emoluments (2014:
nil).

Directors’ retirement benefit

During the year ended 31 December 2015, no retirement
benefits paid to the directors of the Company by a
defined benefit pension plan operated by the Group in
respect of the director’s services as a director of the
Company and its subsidiaries or other services in
connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company or its subsidiary undertaking (2014: nil).

Directors’ termination benefit

During the year ended 31 December 2015 no payments
to the directors of the Company as compensation for the
early termination of the appointment (2014: nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Company
did not provide to any third party for making available
director’s services (2014: nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors

During the year ended 31 December 2015, no loans,
quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of directors of the
Company, controlled bodies corporate by and connected
entities with such directors (2014: nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group's business to which the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the year
(2014: nil).
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D FH AR
FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

E RESULTS

BZ12A3MBLEEE
Year ended 31 December
2015 2014 20134 20124 20114

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
TER TR AT TAT TR
HKD'000  HKD'000  HKD'000  HKD'000  HKD'000

NATHEE AEIL (Loss)/profit attributable to
(E18),/F)E owners of the Company (39,616) 142,555 129,261 59,625 (18,051)

BEEREGRE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

R®12A31H
As at 31 December
2015 F 2014 20134 20124 20114

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
TER TR TAT AT TAT
HKD'000  HKD'000  HKD'000 ~ HKD'000  HKD'000

BEE Total assets 1,260,694 992386 856,413 627,069 497,872
BRIE Total liabilities (560,025) (783,615)  (649,049)  (586,998)  (488,114)
FEE Net assets 700,669 208,771 207,364 40,071 9,758
BEBEA AR HER2014F12 431 BHY The results and summary of assets and liabilities for the years
B EIZAEZE20114 - 20124 % 2013 ended 31 December 2011, 2012 and 2013 which were
FI2A3NBUEFECEEUNREERE extracted from the Company's Prospectus dated 31 December
BEMENRBEEHEERE - UBERAE 2014 have been prepared on a combined basis to indicate the
BIZE - MOARRRMAREERFTERE results of the Group as if the Group structure, at the time the
MR AEERERNZEFE —HFE ° Company'’s shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock

Exchange, had been in existence throughout those years.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

EEg
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

BITES

Executive Directors

MEEEE (EEREFNITE)
Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent
(Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)

HEXEE(EREER)
Mr. Yung Chung Man (Chief Operations Officer)

BEXEE(BEMBE)
Mr. So Chi Man (Chief Financial Officer)

MRBEE(BEREHEE)
Mr. Lam Ka Po (Chief Marketing Officer)

BYFHTES

Independent non-executive Directors

BRFELE
Mr. Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung

BB A SBS UP
Mr. Ma Ho Fai SBS JP

PR EIES X SBS UP

Professor Chan Chi Fai Andrew SBS JP
NEME

COMPANY SECRETARY

BRE AL
Mr. So Chi Man

RREAER
AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVE

MBS A
Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent

BRE AL
Mr. So Chi Man

e
AUDIT COMMITTEE

R AE (EFE)
Mr. Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung (Chairman)

BB A SBS UP
Mr. Ma Ho Fai SBS JP

EIEHH SBS UP
Professor Chan Chi Fai Andrew SBS JP

REZRESY
NOMINATION COMMITTEE

MBS (FF)
Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent (Chairman)

PR EIEH X SBS UP
Professor Chan Chi Fai Andrew SBS JP

BB %A SBS UP
Mr. Ma Ho Fai SBS JP

FHEES
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

B ERIE S sBS UP (£ %)
Mr. Ma Ho Fai SBS JP (Chairman)

MBS A
Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent

BRELE
Mr. Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung
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/NT)E$l  CORPORATE INFORMATION

B BREm
AUDITOR

R E G TR E AT
X GEHRD
PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

R
LEGAL ADVISER

FF T ERRADTT

BATIREITE105%
RFREN16-19%

Mayer Brown JSM

16th—-19th Floors, Prince’s Building,
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

BHRER
COMPLIANCE ADVISER

ABREBRAR
Messis Capital Limited

ERARRT
PRINCIPAL BANKERS

EELSEERITERAR
FERRERRT LEMHFL T
PEIERTT LB REKZIT
EQRTT (PEDERAT]

The Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation
Shanghai Pudong Development Bank, Shanghai Jing'an

Sub-branch

Bank of China, Shanghai Changning Road Sub-branch

HSBC Bank (China) Company Limited

AfREE
REGISTERED OFFICE

Maples Corporate Services Limited
P.O. Box 309 Ugland House
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104

Cayman Islands
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BRTEERMBH
PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN
HONG KONG

BB R

BRILE—5%
I5=): Rt /NN
171201203 %

Unit 01-03, 17/F.

Kornhill Plaza — Office Tower
1 Kornhill Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

BERESFELE
HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

BRERRBLSELBRAF

AT

ERRBER 1835

AL

1711712581716 %

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17/F.

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

Ak

WEBSITE
http://www.asiaray.com
IR AR R 5%

STOCK CODE

1993



)A\FASiaray Media Group

BUEEFEREH

FEMIRAELESR
RIS AKIZTIE01-03=

UNIT 01-03,17/F, KORNHILL PLAZA - OFFICE TOWER,
1 KORNHILL ROAD, QUARRY BAY, HONG KONG

BHETEL: (852) 2539 3939
{SEFAX: (852) 2127 4187
A3t WEB: WWW.ASIARAY.COM
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